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PART I  
   

      Viad Corp (“Viad” or the “Corporation”) is comprised of operating companies and a division which constitute a diversified services 
business. Most of Viad’s services are provided to businesses for use by their customers. Accordingly, the Corporation primarily markets its 
services through more than 120,000 retail and financial locations (payment services), and to numerous tradeshow organizers and exhibitors 
(convention and event services). Occupying the number one or number two position in many of the markets in which they compete, each of the 
Corporation’s businesses seek to provide quality, convenient and cost-effective services with a discernible difference to the ultimate users and 
thereby be considered a value-added provider by Viad’s business customers.  

      Viad’s services are classified into two reportable business segments, namely (1) Payment Services, and (2) Convention and Event Services. 
The Corporation also provides Travel and Recreation Services. A description of each of Viad’s reportable business segments, the travel and 
recreation businesses, and recent developments relating to each follows.  

Viad Business Units  

      Viad is built around two operating groups which are leading competitors in their businesses, including companies engaged in payment 
services (Travelers Express Company, Inc., MoneyGram Payment Systems, Inc., and Game Financial Corporation), and convention and event 
services (GES Exposition Services, Inc. and the Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur division). Viad business units also provide travel tour services 
(Brewster Transport Company Limited) and recreation services (Glacier Park, Inc.).  

Payment Services  

      Viad’s payment services business is conducted by the Travelers Express/ MoneyGram group of companies. These companies engage in a 
variety of payment service activities, including issuance and processing of money orders, processing of official checks and share drafts, and 
money transfer and cash access services. Travelers Express Company, Inc. (“Travelers Express”) sells money orders to the public through more 
than 62,000 agent locations and financial institutions in the United States and Puerto Rico, and is the nation’s leading issuer of money orders, 
issuing more than 314 million money orders in 2002. Travelers Express also provides processing services for approximately 15,000 branch 
locations of banks, credit unions and other financial institutions which offer official checks (used by financial institutions in place of their own 
bank check or cashier’s check) and share drafts (the credit union industry’s version of a personal check). In addition, MoneyGram Payment 
Systems, Inc. (“MoneyGram”), a subsidiary of Travelers Express, provides money transfer services through approximately 57,000 agent 
locations in more than 155 countries worldwide. Some of MoneyGram’s agent locations sell or provide both money orders and money transfer 
services. In January 2003, MoneyGram announced that one of its subsidiaries owning a 51 percent interest in MoneyGram International 
Limited (“MIL”) acquired the remaining 49 percent interest from Travelex Group (“Travelex”). MIL, a London-based joint venture begun in 
1997 by MoneyGram and the Thomas Cook Group Ltd. (which was ultimately acquired by Travelex), serves as MoneyGram’s international 
sales and marketing arm in Europe, Africa, Asia and Australia. Travelers Express also provides in-person electronic bill payment services for 
various companies, whose consumers pay their utility, car payment, and other bills at conveniently located retail stores. Additionally, Travelers 
Express provides high volume processing of refund and rebate checks, food vouchers, gift certificates, and other financial instruments. Another 
subsidiary, Game Financial Corporation (“Game Financial”), provides cash access services to the gaming industry. Game Financial provides 
three primary services: installing and maintaining automatic teller machines in casinos and check cashing locations; providing cash advances 
on consumers’ credit cards for customers who utilize the automatic teller machines; and cashing checks at casinos. Game Financial provides 
these services to approximately 60 casinos.  

Item 1.      Business 
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      Approximately 6% of payment services revenue is generated by a single customer, with no other customer accounting for more than 5% of 
payment services revenue.  

Convention and Event Services  

      Convention and event services are provided by the Corporation’s GES Exposition Services and Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur companies.  

      GES Exposition Services, Inc. (“GES”), one of North America’s leading suppliers of convention services to trade associations, show 
management companies and exhibitors, provides tradeshow design and planning, decorating, exhibit design and fabrication, installation and 
dismantling, display rental, custom graphics, furnishings, electrical, freight-handling, logistics, transportation, and management services for 
conventions, tradeshows, associations, and corporate and special events. These convention services include design capabilities where GES 
designers and graphic artists create visual elements to communicate the customer’s message; creation of floor plans and directional signage to 
ease traffic flow, to provide a precise and accurate production floor plan for the show, and to assist the viewer in understanding location and 
orientation both inside and outside the convention facility; electrical services where GES provides technical design and installation capabilities 
for electrical requirements as well as power supply systems and electrical rigging for lighting, audio visual, and special effects; decorating and 
carpet services where GES provides decorating services to events and exhibition booths and provides carpet in a variety of colors, styles and 
sizes; and installation and dismantling where GES sets up and dismantles events of every size, from large tradeshows to single exhibits.  

      GES is also a leader in bringing innovative ideas to the tradeshow industry, such as: InterKit, GES’ online ordering system, that enables 
exhibitors to order goods and services directly through the Internet; Wireless Ambassador, hand-held computers that support GES’ exhibitor 
services executives as they respond to client requests on the show floor; and automated freight and small package receiving, one of the most 
advanced receiving systems in the industry to help maximize the efficiency of the movement of exhibitors’ shipments.  

      GES provides convention services through a network of offices in North America’s most active and popular tradeshow service markets. 
GES has full service operations in 18 U.S. cities and four Canadian cities.  

      Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur, a division of the Corporation, operates one of the largest exhibit and display businesses in the United States. The 
division provides design, construction, installation and show services to clients attending conventions, tradeshows, and events, or requiring 
permanent exhibits and displays.  

      Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur’s primary line of business is custom exhibit design, construction and services. The division also provides portable 
exhibits, retail merchandising units for shopping malls, and permanent installations within museums, corporate lobbies, visitor center 
showrooms and retail interiors. The division serves clients in varied industries that engage in tradeshows, private events, road shows, or other 
forms of “face-to-face” marketing.  

      Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur’s strengths include the ability to design, fabricate, install and maintain exhibits as well as permanent installations 
and theme environments, and to enhance their effectiveness with new media/interactive services.  

      Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur has operations in 13 U.S. cities. The division will have 3 full service, sales, design and manufacturing locations, 
down from 5 such locations in early 2003, as a result of the restructuring of the division as described in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements of the Corporation. The remaining 10 locations will be sales and design offices. Additionally, the division has operations 
in one Canadian city, one city in the United Kingdom, and one city in Germany and operates through an international network of strategic 
partners that gives Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur the ability to service customers worldwide.  

2  
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Travel and Recreation Services  

      Travel and recreation services are provided by the Brewster Transport Company Limited (“Brewster Transport”) and Glacier Park, Inc.
(“Glacier Park”) business units.  

      Brewster Transport, an Alberta, Canada corporation, has a 110-year heritage of providing sightseeing packages and tours to travelers 
visiting Canada. In that regard, it provides regularly scheduled bus service, operates tour and charter buses within the Canadian Rockies, 
conducts travel agency, hotel, and snowcoach tour operations and operates the Banff Gondola on Sulphur Mountain. Brewster Transport owns 
and operates 92 motorcoaches and three transit buses, as well as 21 snowcoaches which transport sightseers on tours of the glaciers of the 
Columbia Icefield. The snowcoach glacier tours and the Banff Gondola are two of the largest tourist attractions in the Canadian Rockies.  

      Glacier Park operates historic lodges in and around Glacier National Park in Montana and Waterton Lakes National Park, Canada. These 
parks are located in a remote area of the United States and Canada and are well known for their rugged mountains and glaciers. Services 
provided include room management, food and beverage operations, retail operations and transportation services. The transportation services 
utilize a fleet of authentic 1930s touring buses with rollback canvas tops. The well-known red buses are used to conduct park tours through the 
parks, including the scenic Going-to-the-Sun Road.  

Competition  

      The Corporation’s businesses generally compete on the basis of discernible differences, value, quality, price, convenience and service, and 
encounter substantial competition from a large number of providers of similar services, including numerous well-known local, regional and 
national companies, private payment service companies and the U.S. Postal Service (money orders), many of which have greater resources than 
the Corporation. Travelers Express also competes on the basis of number and location of sales outlets, business automation and technology. 
First Data Corporation and its subsidiaries Western Union Financial Services, Inc., Orlandi Valuta and Global Cash Access, L.L.C.; the U.S. 
Postal Service; Federal Home Loan Banks and Imperial Bank are the principal competitors of Travelers Express. On a national basis, Freeman 
Decorating Company is the principal competitor of GES, and The George P. Johnson Company is the principal competitor of Exhibitgroup/ 
Giltspur.  

Patents and Trademarks  

      United States patents are currently granted for a term of 20 years from the date a patent application is filed. The Viad companies own a 
number of patents which give them competitive advantages in the marketplace, including a number of patents owned by Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur 
covering exhibit systems and by Travelers Express for automated money order dispensing systems. The Travelers Express patents cover 
security, automated reporting and control, and other features which are important in the issuance of money orders.  

      United States trademark registrations are for a term of 10 years, renewable every 10 years as long as the trademarks are used in the regular 
course of trade. The Viad companies maintain a portfolio of trademarks representing substantial value in the businesses using the marks.  

      Many trademarks used by Viad and its businesses, including the TRAVELERS EXPRESS, MONEYGRAM, EXHIBITGROUP/ 
GILTSPUR, and GES service marks, have substantial importance and value. Certain rights in processing equipment and software held by 
Travelers Express and its subsidiaries also provide competitive advantage.  

Government Regulation  

      Compliance with legal requirements and government regulations are a day-to-day integral part of the Corporation’s operations and 
represent a normal cost of doing business. Financial transaction reporting and state banking department regulations affect Travelers Express 
and MoneyGram, and state gaming department regulations, as well as various Native American tribal regulations, affect Game Financial. The 
payment  
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services industry also has been subject to increased scrutiny following the events of September 11, 2001. Environmental, labor and 
employment and other regulations affect virtually all operations.  

Employees  

      Viad operating units had approximately 5,520 employees at December 31, 2002 as follows:  

      Viad believes that relations with its employees are satisfactory and that collective bargaining agreements expiring in 2003 will be 
renegotiated in the ordinary course of business without adverse effect on Viad’s operations.  

      Viad had 72 employees at its corporate center at December 31, 2002 providing management, financial and accounting, internal auditing, 
tax, administrative, legal and other services to its operating units and handling residual matters pertaining to businesses previously discontinued 
or sold by the Corporation. Viad is managed by a Board of Directors comprised of eight non-employee directors and one employee director and 
has an executive management team consisting of five Viad officers (including the one employee director) and four principal executives of 
significant operating divisions or companies.  

Seasonality  

      Convention and event service activity may vary significantly depending on the frequency and timing of shows (some shows are not held 
each year and some shows may shift between quarters). Viad’s travel and recreation operations generally experience peak activity during the 
summer months. Viad’s 2002 quarterly diluted earnings per share (before restructuring charges and other items and change in accounting 
principle), as a percentage of the full year’s earnings per share, were approximately 26% (first quarter), 25% (second quarter), 28% (third 
quarter), and 21% (fourth quarter). See Notes 19 and 20 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the Corporation.  

Shelf Registration  

      Under a Shelf Registration filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Viad can issue up to an aggregate $500 million of debt and 
equity securities. In 2002, Viad filed an amended Shelf Registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission to update disclosures in the 
registration statement and to maintain Viad’s financial flexibility. No securities have been issued under the program.  

Financial Information about Restructuring Charges and Other Items  

      Information regarding restructuring charges and other items is provided in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the 
Corporation.  

Financial Information about Segments  

      Business segment financial information is provided in Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the Corporation.  

Financial Information about Geographic Areas  

      Geographic area financial information is provided in Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the Corporation.  

4  

                  
Regular Full- 

Time Employees 
Covered by 

Approximate Number Collective Bargaining 
of Employees Agreements 

Payment Services      1,720       0   
Convention and Event Services      3,560       1,805   
Travel and Recreation Services      240       45   
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Available Information  

      Viad files annual, quarterly and current reports, proxy statements and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
“SEC”). These filings are available to the public over the Internet at the SEC’s website at http://www.sec.gov . You may also read and copy any 
document Viad files at the SEC’s public reference room located at 450 Fifth Street, NW, Washington, DC 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-
SEC-0330 for further information on the public reference room.  

      Viad’s principal Internet address is www.viad.com . Viad makes available free of charge on www.viad.com its annual, quarterly and current 
reports, and amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after it electronically files such material with, or furnishes it to, the 
SEC.  

Item 2.      Properties  

      Viad and its subsidiaries operate service or production facilities and maintain sales and service offices in the United States, Canada, the 
United Kingdom, and Germany. The Corporation also conducts business in certain other foreign countries. The following information 
summarizes Viad and its subsidiaries’ principal properties as of December 31, 2002, unless otherwise noted.  

      Viad’s headquarters are located at 1850 N. Central Avenue in Phoenix, Arizona. Excluding space which Viad subleases to third parties, 
Viad leases approximately 61,000 square feet.  

      Payment Services operates 28 leased facilities for processing, sales and administrative purposes located in the United States, United 
Kingdom, and Puerto Rico. The principal operations for money order and official check processing and Travelers Express corporate 
headquarters are located in Minnesota. The principal money transfer service center is located in Colorado. Payment Services has 17 retail 
stores, with 15 in New York, one in Florida, and one in New Jersey. All Payment Services properties are leased.  

      Convention and Event Services operates 21 offices and 43 multi-use facilities (exhibit construction, sales and design, office and/or 
warehouse). The multi-use facilities vary in size up to approximately 890,000 square feet. Three of the multi-use facilities are owned; all other 
properties are leased. All of the properties are in the United States, except for one office and seven multi-use facilities that are located in 
Canada, one office located in the United Kingdom and three multi-use facilities located in Germany. As a result of the Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur 
restructuring, discussed in Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements of the Corporation, four multi-purpose locations will be 
converted to sales and design offices in 2003. GES and Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur corporate headquarters are located in Las Vegas, Nevada, and 
Roselle, Illinois, respectively.  

      Travel and Recreation Services operates three offices, nine retail stores, two bus terminals, four garages, an icefield tour facility, a 
gondola lift operation, and nine hotels/ lodges (with approximately 900 rooms, and ancillary foodservice and recreational facilities). Three 
offices, seven retail stores and six hotels/ lodges are in the United States. Two retail stores, the bus terminals, garages, icefield tour facility, 
gondola lift operation, and three hotels/ lodges are located in Canada. Travel and Recreation Services owns four hotels/ lodges and five other 
hotels/ lodges that are operated pursuant to concessionaire agreements. One bus terminal and three garages are owned. The icefield tour facility 
and gondola lift operation are owned and operated through lease agreements with Parks Canada and all other properties are leased.  

      Management believes that the Corporation’s facilities in the aggregate are adequate and suitable for their purposes and that capacity is 
sufficient for current needs.  

Item 3.      Legal Proceedings  

      Viad and certain subsidiaries are plaintiffs or defendants to various actions, proceedings and pending claims. Certain of these pending legal 
actions are or purport to be class actions. Some of the foregoing involve, or may involve, compensatory, punitive or other damages. Litigation 
is subject to many uncertainties and it is possible that some of the legal actions, proceedings or claims could be decided against Viad. Although 
the amount of liability at December 31, 2002, with respect to certain of these matters is not ascertainable, Viad  

5  
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believes that any resulting liability, after taking into consideration amounts already provided for, will not have a material effect on Viad’s 
financial statements.  

      Viad is subject to various environmental laws and regulations of the United States as well as of the states and other countries in whose 
jurisdictions Viad has or had operations and is subject to certain international agreements. As is the case with many companies, Viad faces 
exposure to actual or potential claims and lawsuits involving environmental matters. Although Viad is a party to certain environmental 
disputes, Viad believes that any liabilities resulting therefrom, after taking into consideration amounts already provided for, exclusive of any 
potential insurance recoveries, will not have a material effect on Viad’s financial statements.  

Item 4.      Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders  

      No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2002.  

Optional Item.      Executive Officers of Registrant  

Executive Officers of Viad Corp  

      The names, ages and positions of the Executive Officers of the Corporation as of February 28, 2003, are listed below:  

6  

              
Name Age Business Experience During the Past Five Years and Other Information 

Robert H. Bohannon      58     Chairman of the Board, President and Chief Executive Officer since January 1997.  
Ellen M. Ingersoll  

    

38 

    

Chief Financial Officer since June 2002; prior thereto, Vice President-Controller or 
similar position since January 2002; prior thereto, Controller of CashX, Inc. from 
June 2001 through October 2001; prior thereto Operations Finance Director of 
LeapSource, Inc. since January 2000; prior thereto Vice President and Controller of 
Franchise Finance Corporation of America since May 1992.  

G. Michael Latta  
    

40 
    

Vice President-Controller since November 2002; prior thereto, Corporate Controller or 
similar position for SpeedFam-IPEC, Inc. since October 1999; prior thereto 
Controller for Cardiac Pathways Corporation since September 1994.  

Suzanne Pearl      40     Vice President-Human Resources since September 2000; prior thereto, Executive 
Director, Compensation or similar position since 1993.  

Scott E. Sayre      56     Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary since September 2000; prior thereto, 
Secretary and Associate General Counsel since January 1997.  
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Executive Officers of Viad Corp’s Subsidiaries or Divisions Not Listed Above  

      The term of office of the Executive Officers is until the next annual organization meetings of the Boards of Directors of Viad or appropriate 
subsidiaries, all of which are scheduled for May or June of this year.  

      The Directors of Viad are divided into three classes, with the terms of one class of Directors to expire at each Annual Meeting of 
Stockholders. The current term of office of Robert H. Bohannon is scheduled to expire at the 2003 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.  

7  

              
Name Age Business Experience During the Past Five Years and Other Information 

Paul B. Dykstra  

    

41 

    

President and Chief Executive Officer of GES Exposition Services, Inc., a subsidiary of 
Viad, since January 2000; prior thereto, Executive Vice President-International and 
Corporate Development of GES Exposition Services, Inc. since 1999; and prior 
thereto, Vice President-General Manager or similar executive positions with 
Travelers Express Company, Inc., a subsidiary of Viad, since 1994.  

Kimbra A. Fracalossi  
    

43 

    

President and Chief Executive Officer of Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur, a division of Viad, 
since June 2002; prior thereto, Chief Financial Officer of Viad since September 2000; 
prior thereto, Vice President-Strategic Planning and Investor Relations since May 
1999 and Executive Director of Corporate Development since January 1998.  

Philip W. Milne      43     President and Chief Executive Officer of Travelers Express Company, Inc., a 
subsidiary of Viad, since August 1996.  

David G. Morrison  
    

54 
    

President and Chief Executive Officer of Brewster Transport Company Limited, a 
subsidiary of Viad, since 1980.  
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PART II  
   

      The principal market on which the common stock of Viad is traded is the New York Stock Exchange. The common stock is also admitted 
for trading on the American, Chicago, Cincinnati, Pacific, and Philadelphia Exchanges. The following tables summarize the high and low 
market prices as reported on the New York Stock Exchange Composite Tape and the cash dividends declared for the two years ended 
December 31:  

SALES PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK  

DIVIDENDS DECLARED ON COMMON STOCK  

      Regular quarterly dividends were paid on Viad common stock on the first business day of January, April, July and October.  

      As of January 31, 2003, there were 24,546 stockholders of record of Viad’s common stock.  

8  

Item 5.      Market for Registrant’s Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters 

                                  
2002 2001 

High Low High Low 

First Quarter    $ 28.55     $ 22.80     $ 25.99     $ 21.63   
Second Quarter    $ 31.00     $ 24.50     $ 27.10     $ 21.30   
Third Quarter    $ 25.95     $ 18.55     $ 27.30     $ 18.10   
Fourth Quarter    $ 23.55     $ 16.75     $ 24.06     $ 18.00   

                    
2002 2001 

February    $ .09     $ .09   
May      .09       .09   
August      .09       .09   
November      .09       .09   
              
  Total    $ .36     $ .36   
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VIAD CORP  

SELECTED FINANCIAL AND OTHER DATA  
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Item 6.      Selected Financial Data 

                                          
Year ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
Operations                                          
Revenues:                                          
Convention show services    $ 568,301     $ 604,148     $ 692,843     $ 642,817     $ 626,050   
Payment services transaction fees      431,564       393,093       367,733       340,312       243,429   
Payment services investment income(1)      370,934       320,800       235,429       183,465       141,675   
Exhibit design and construction      217,932       279,896       339,272       289,951       223,115   
Hospitality and recreation services      58,253       61,453       91,531       124,624       378,490   
                                
Total revenues    $ 1,646,984     $ 1,659,390     $ 1,726,808     $ 1,581,169     $ 1,612,759   
                                
Income from continuing operations(2),(3)    $ 113,833     $ 51,134     $ 140,819     $ 122,455     $ 94,695   
Income from discontinued operations      —      —      —      218,954       53,296   
Change in accounting principle(4)      (37,739 )     —      —      —      —  
                                
Net income    $ 76,094     $ 51,134     $ 140,819     $ 341,409     $ 147,991   
                                
Diluted income per common share                                          
Continuing operations(2),(3)    $ 1.30     $ 0.58     $ 1.54     $ 1.26     $ 0.95   
Discontinued operations      —      —      —      2.27       0.54   
Change in accounting principle(4)      (0.44 )     —      —      —      —  
                                
Diluted net income per common share    $ 0.86     $ 0.58     $ 1.54     $ 3.53     $ 1.49   
                                
Average outstanding and potentially dilutive common 

shares      86,716       86,322       90,925       96,396       98,367   

                                
Basic income per common share                                          
Continuing operations(2),(3)    $ 1.31     $ 0.58     $ 1.57     $ 1.31     $ 0.99   
Discontinued operations      —      —      —      2.35       0.56   
Change in accounting principle(4)      (0.44 )     —      —      —      —  
                                
Basic net income per common share    $ 0.87     $ 0.58     $ 1.57     $ 3.66     $ 1.55   
                                
Average outstanding common shares      86,178       85,503       88,802       93,007       94,382   
                                
Dividends declared per common share    $ 0.36     $ 0.36     $ 0.36     $ 0.35     $ 0.32   
                                
Financial position at year-end                                          
Total assets    $ 9,690,528     $ 8,380,491     $ 6,551,492     $ 5,202,169     $ 4,661,720   
Total debt      361,657       396,828       447,106       389,272       534,453   
$4.75 Redeemable preferred stock      6,704       6,679       6,658       6,640       6,625   
Common stock and other equity      701,112       719,673       750,730       699,892       643,232   
Other data                                          
EBITDA(5)    $ 261,089     $ 188,625     $ 327,164     $ 514,274     $ 300,910   
Debt-to-capital ratio(6)      33 %     35 %     37 %     35 %     45 % 

(1)  Viad’s Payment Services subsidiaries invest substantial amounts in tax-exempt securities. On a taxable equivalent basis using an income 
tax rate of approximately 39% (revised to 35% as of July 1, 2002), 
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revenues would be higher by $36.2 million, $46.8 million, $66.2 million, $52.0 million, and $39.3 million for 2002, 2001, 2000, 1999, and 
1998, respectively. 

  
(2)  Includes restructuring charges and other items (after-tax) of $13.1 million expense, or $0.15 per diluted share, in 2002, $61.2 million 

expense, or $0.71 per diluted share, in 2001; $877,000 income, or $0.01 per diluted share, in 2000; $6.1 million income, or $0.06 per 
diluted share, in 1999; and $12.7 million income, or $0.13 per diluted share, in 1998. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements. 

  
(3)  In January 2002, Viad adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” 

SFAS No. 142 specifies that goodwill and certain intangible assets with indefinite lives no longer be amortized but instead be subject to 
periodic impairment testing. Excluding the amortization of previously expensed goodwill and certain intangible assets, Income from 
continuing operations and corresponding diluted income per share would have been $65.4 million ($0.74 diluted income per share) in 
2001, $154.7 million ($1.69 diluted income per share) in 2000, $135.1 million ($1.39 diluted income per share) in 1999, and 
$103.2 million ($1.04 diluted income per share) in 1998. See Note 7 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. 

  
(4)  In accordance with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, Viad completed the transitional impairment test for goodwill during 2002 and 

concluded that a transitional impairment loss of $40.0 million ($37.7 million after-tax) should be recognized related to goodwill at the 
Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur reporting unit of the Convention and Event Services segment. 

  
(5)  EBITDA is a measure of Viad’s ability to service debt, fund capital expenditures and finance growth, and should be considered in addition 

to, but not as a substitute for, other measures of financial performance reported in accordance with accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”). This information is supplemental to results presented under GAAP and may not be 
comparable to similarly titled measures used by other companies. EBITDA is defined by Viad as income before interest expense, income 
taxes, depreciation and amortization, changes in accounting principles and includes the taxable equivalent adjustment. Viad has historically 
presented EBITDA before restructuring charges and other items. Viad has revised its presentation of EBITDA to include restructuring 
charges and other items in conformity with the SEC’s final rule of “Conditions for Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures.”  

  
(6)  Debt-to-capital is defined as total debt divided by capital. Capital is defined as total debt plus minority interests, preferred stock and 

common stock and other equity. 
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Overview:  

      Viad Corp (“Viad”) operates in two business segments as follows:  

      Payment Services  — through Travelers Express Company, Inc. and related subsidiaries (“Travelers Express”), revenues are derived from 
transaction fees and investment and related income by providing various services related to money orders, official checks, money transfers, 
same-day bill payment and cash access services. Fee revenues are driven by transaction volume and contract pricing through a network of 
agents and customers, including financial institutions. Investment and related income is generated through a “float portfolio” of investments.  

      Convention and Event Services  — through GES Exposition Services, Inc. (“GES”), revenues are generated from providing various 
convention and tradeshow services such as transportation, installation, dismantling and management services to trade associations, show 
management companies and exhibitors. Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur (“Exhibitgroup”) specializes in the design, construction, installation and 
warehousing of convention and tradeshow exhibits, primarily for corporate customers.  

      Viad also operates certain travel and recreation businesses.  

      In 2002, Viad’s two principal business segments achieved profitability improvements, despite market challenges and difficult economic 
conditions. Payment Services experienced increased transaction volume and higher investment balances, however, operating income growth 
was slowed due to significantly lower interest rates and unprecedented mortgage refinancing activity. Convention and Event Services produced 
profitable results despite decreased demand for new exhibit construction and tradeshow shrinkage. Viad also improved its financial strength 
during the year through increased cash and investment balances and a reduction in total debt obligations. Financial performance highlights for 
2002 are presented below for Viad Corp (Consolidated) and its Payment Services and Convention and Event Services businesses. See “Results 
of Operations” and “Liquidity and Capital Resources” below for further discussion.  

      The following 2002 financial highlights are presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America (“GAAP”) and are compared to 2001 amounts as adjusted for the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) 
No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which eliminates goodwill amortization:  

      Viad Corp (Consolidated)  

      Payment Services  

      Convention and Event Services  
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Item 7.      Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition 

  —  Total revenues of $1.65 billion, a decrease of 0.7% 

  
  —  Net income of $76.1 million, an increase of 16.4% 

  
  —  Net income per share of $0.86, an increase of 16.2% 

  
  —  Cash and corporate investments increased by $87 million year over year 

  
  —  Debt decreased by $35 million year over year 

  
  —  Stock repurchases of 1.2 million shares for $26 million 

  —  Revenues of $802.5 million, an increase of 12.4% 

  
  —  Operating income of $154.0 million, an increase of 16.6% 

  —  Revenues of $786.2 million, a decrease of 11.1% 

  
  —  Operating income of $17.9 million, compared to a prior year loss 
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      Other Significant Items  

Non-GAAP Measures:  

      Certain information included in the following discussion is presented using methods management utilizes to measure profit and 
performance of its operations. The information is supplemental to results presented under GAAP and may not be comparable to similarly titled 
measures used by other companies. This supplemental information includes the following:  

      A reconciliation of EBITDA to net income is as follows:  

      Viad has historically presented EBITDA before restructuring charges and other items. The above presentation of EBITDA includes 
restructuring charges and other items in conformity with the SEC’s final rule of “Conditions for Use of Non-GAAP Financial Measures” and is 
a change from Viad’s historical EBITDA presentation. The $72.5 million increase in EBITDA in 2002 is largely due to decreased restructuring 
charges and other items in 2002 as compared to 2001 of $80.3 million. The $138.5 million decrease in EBITDA from 2000 to 2001 is 
predominantly due to increased restructuring charges and other items in 2001 as compared to 2000 of $102.5 million.  

      The following discussion and analysis should be read in conjunction with the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements, which 
include the accounts of Viad and all of its subsidiaries. All per share figures discussed are stated on the diluted basis.  
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  —  Convention and Event Services recorded a pre-tax restructuring charge of $20.5 million during the fourth quarter 

  
  —  Subsequent to year-end, Payment Services completed the acquisition of the remaining minority interest in an international money 

transfer business for approximately $98 million in cash 
  
  —  An accounting change related to goodwill resulted in a pre-tax charge of $40.0 million during the year 

  —  Payment Services invests in a mix of tax-exempt and taxable investments. The tax-exempt investments have lower pre-tax yields but 
produce higher income on an after-tax basis than comparable taxable investments. An adjustment is made to the Payment Services 
segment to present revenues and operating income resulting from amounts invested in tax-exempt securities on a taxable equivalent 
basis. See Note 19 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a reconciliation to GAAP. 

  
  —  EBITDA is a measure of Viad’s ability to service debt, fund capital expenditures and finance growth, and should be considered in 

addition to, but not as a substitute for, other measures of financial performance reported in accordance with GAAP. EBITDA is 
defined by Viad as income before interest expense, income taxes, depreciation and amortization, changes in accounting principles and 
includes the taxable equivalent adjustment. 

                            
2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
EBITDA as presented    $ 261,089     $ 188,625     $ 327,164   
Less:                          
  Interest expense      (19,268 )     (25,936 )     (25,303 ) 
  Income taxes      (40,334 )     4,388       (26,218 ) 
  Depreciation and amortization      (51,483 )     (69,096 )     (68,600 ) 
  Change in accounting principle      (37,739 )     —      —  
  Taxable equivalent adjustment      (36,171 )     (46,847 )     (66,224 ) 
                    
Net income    $ 76,094     $ 51,134     $ 140,819   
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Results of Operations:  

      During 2002, the Convention and Event Services segment continued to experience tradeshow shrinkage and further declines in the demand 
for the design and construction of new exhibits. This decline was due to diminished corporate spending and the continued downturn in the 
general economy as many exhibitors elected to reuse or refurbish existing exhibits rather than place new orders. As a result of decreased 
visibility over future revenues and continued uncertainties regarding improvements in the tradeshow industry, the Convention and Event 
Services segment revised its forecasted demand and reevaluated its manufacturing capacity requirements and cost structure during the fourth 
quarter of 2002. Accordingly, Viad recorded a 2002 fourth quarter restructuring charge totaling $20.5 million ($13.3 million after-tax) of which 
$1.2 million relating to consulting fees incurred and the write-down of certain inventories was charged to “Costs of products sold” in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income. The remaining $19.3 million was classified under the caption “Restructuring charges” in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. The restructuring relates to the closure and consolidation of certain facilities, severance and other costs related to the 
elimination of approximately 230 positions across numerous regions, business functions and job classes. The charge also includes amounts for 
the disposal (net of estimated proceeds) of certain inventories and fixed assets, facility closure and lease termination costs (net of estimated 
sublease income) and other exit costs. Viad expects to substantially complete the restructuring activities by December 31, 2003, however, 
payments due under long-term lease obligations will continue to be made over the remaining terms of the lease agreements. Severance and 
benefits payments will be made over the varying terms of the individual separation agreements. Viad expects that the restructuring charge will 
result in cost savings in the range of $8 million to $9 million in 2003 based on the timing of activities pursuant to the restructuring plan. During 
2001, the Convention and Event Services segment recorded a restructuring charge of $66.1 million ($39.9 million after-tax) for which the 
related restructuring activities had been completed by the end of 2002. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

      In 2002, Viad adopted SFAS No. 142 which requires that goodwill and certain other intangible assets no longer be amortized, but instead 
be tested for impairment. Concurrent with the adoption of SFAS No. 142, Viad performed the transitional impairment testing of its goodwill 
and intangible assets with indefinite lives. Viad determined that no impairment existed for other intangible assets but a transitional impairment 
loss of $40.0 million ($37.7 million after-tax) was recorded related to goodwill at the Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur reporting unit of the Convention 
and Event Services segment. See “Critical Accounting Policies” for additional discussion related to goodwill impairment testing. See Note 7 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

      During 2002, Viad contemplated an initial public offering and subsequent spin-off of Travelers Express. Further consideration and 
implementation of the initial public offering and spin-off was delayed pending improvement in overall economic and capital market conditions. 
Viad will continue to evaluate strategic options in order to enhance long-term value for its stockholders.  

  2002 vs. 2001:  

      Revenues for 2002 were $1.65 billion, down slightly from the 2001 amount of $1.66 billion. Viad’s Payment Services segment revenue 
increased by $88.6 million over the prior year, while the Convention and Event Services segment revenue decreased by $97.8 million over the 
same period. Viad also had a slight decline in its hospitality and recreation services businesses. Viad’s Payment Services subsidiaries invest a 
portion of funds received from the sale of official checks, money orders and other payment instruments in tax-exempt securities, which have 
lower pre-tax yields but produce higher income on an after-tax basis than comparable taxable investments. Even though nontaxable 
investments generally have higher after-tax yields than taxable investments, Viad has shifted its mix of nontaxable and taxable investments to 
balance its alternative minimum tax position. At December 31, 2002, tax-exempt investments represented 19 percent of the total investment 
portfolio versus 22 percent at December 31, 2001. On a taxable equivalent basis, as though amounts were invested in taxable investments, 
revenues were $1.68 billion, down slightly from the 2001 amount of $1.71 billion.  
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      Net income for 2002 was $76.1 million, or $0.86 per share, as compared with the 2001 amount of $51.1 million, or $0.58 per share 
($65.4 million, or $0.74 per share when adjusted for SFAS No. 142).  

      There were 394,000 additional average outstanding and potentially dilutive common shares in 2002 than in 2001. This was largely driven 
by significant stock option exercise activity during the first half of 2002, partially offset by the 2002 resumption of the stock repurchase 
program described in “Liquidity and Capital Resources.”  

      Payment Services. Revenues of the Payment Services segment were $802.5 million in 2002, a 12.4 percent increase over 2001 revenues of 
$713.9 million. Operating income was $154.0 million, a 24.3 percent increase over 2001 operating income of $123.8 million (or up 
16.6 percent from $132.1 million when adjusted for SFAS No. 142). Operating margins increased to 19.2 percent in 2002 from 17.3 percent in 
2001 (or from 18.5 percent when adjusting 2001 for the impact of SFAS No. 142). On a taxable equivalent basis, 2002 revenues of 
$838.7 million were up 10.2 percent when compared to $760.7 million in 2001. On the same basis, segment operating income in 2002 was 
$190.6 million, up 7.9 percent from $176.6 million in 2001 (or up 3.1 percent from $184.9 million in 2001 when adjusted for SFAS No. 142).  

      The increase in operating income was driven by continued growth in the MoneyGram business. Payment Services experienced double-digit 
growth in the number of locations that sell or provide both money orders and money transfer services, including 2,851 U.S. Wal-Mart 
locations. MoneyGram continued to show strong results with transaction volume growing 33 percent from 2001 to 2002, led by strong 
international money transfer and same-day bill payment volume. MoneyGram’s agent base expanded by 14 percent over 2001. Growth in the 
U.S. to Mexico corridor was down slightly over 2001, however MoneyGram’s fixed-price product, Cambio Plus, continues to grow in the high 
teens on a percentage basis.  

      The January 2003 acquisition of the minority interest in MoneyGram International Limited (“MIL”) is expected to be slightly accretive to 
earnings in 2003. MIL provides money transfer services primarily in Europe, Africa, Australia and Asia and has experienced significant growth 
in revenues, transaction volume and agent locations over the last two years. MIL’s growth is expected to continue through increased transaction 
volume and further expansion of its agent network in international markets.  

      The money order business continues to contribute significantly to operating margin and cash flows, however, money order volume and 
related average investable balances were down slightly compared to 2001 as some agents were eliminated and fewer agents were approved in 
order to manage the credit quality of the money order business.  

      Average investable funds for 2002 were $6.2 billion, up 23 percent from 2001 levels primarily driven by the official check business. The 
float income generated from the investment of these funds (investment income from the investment portfolio) represented approximately 
46 percent of total Payment Services revenue in 2002 compared with 45 percent for 2001. Float income is affected by the level of investment 
balances (float portfolio) and the yield on investments. The following tables present float income and expense associated with the Payment 
Services segment’s investment portfolio on both a GAAP and taxable equivalent basis:  
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2002 2001 

Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ 
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate 

(in thousands, GAAP basis) 
Investments available or restricted for payment 

service obligations    $ 6,153,831     $ 354,434       5.76 %   $ 4,993,255     $ 308,894       6.19 % 
Payment service obligations(1)      4,706,324       240,152       5.10 %     3,490,246       208,273       5.97 % 
                                              
Net float income and margin            $ 114,282       1.86 %           $ 100,621       2.02 % 
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      On a GAAP basis, float income (excluding gains) was $354.4 million in 2002 compared to $308.9 million in 2001, an increase of 
14.7 percent. The growth was primarily due to higher average float portfolio balances, which increased by $1.2 billion or 23 percent. The float 
income increase attributable to the balance growth was $71.8 million and was partially offset by a decrease of $26.3 million due to an interest 
rate decline, reflecting an average investment yield of 5.76 percent, or a 43 basis point decline from 6.19 percent in 2001.  

      On a taxable equivalent basis, 2002 float income was $390.6 million compared to $355.7 million in 2001, an increase of 9.8 percent. 
Higher balance growth drove the increase of $82.7 million in float income and was partially offset by a $47.8 million decrease in float income 
related to declining interest rates. This resulted in an average investment yield of 6.35 percent, a decrease of 77 basis points from 7.12 percent 
in 2001. During 2002, average 5-year U.S. Treasury Notes declined 70 basis points and short-term interest rates declined over 200 basis points. 
The Payment Services segment maintains approximately $400 million to $750 million in short-term, highly liquid balances in order to fulfill its 
payment service obligations. Lower yields were earned on these short-term balances during 2002 due to interest rate declines. In addition, the 
dramatic decline in interest rates resulted in unprecedented and volatile mortgage refinancing activity during 2002. Refinancing activities 
caused an increase in the sale of official checks and an increase in float balances. The refinancing activity also drove a significant increase in 
the prepayments of mortgage-backed debt securities, resulting in the investment of these funds at lower interest rates. Also contributing to the 
decline in average investment yield in 2002 was a lower percentage of the portfolio invested in the higher after-tax yield municipal securities. 
See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a detail of investments available or restricted for payment service obligations. If 
the unprecedented mortgage refinancing activity continues, future results could be affected similarly.  

      Commission expense was $240.2 million in 2002, an increase of $31.9 million, or 15.3 percent from 2001, primarily due to higher average 
balances of $1.2 billion. The commission expense increase attributable to the higher average balances was $72.6 million and was partially 
offset by a decrease of approximately $40.7 million due to lower interest rates. Commission expense includes amounts paid to financial 
institution customers based upon their average outstanding balances generated by the sale of official check products as well as the discount on 
the sale of certain agent receivables. In addition, commission expense includes the impact of the variable-to-fixed rate swap agreements that are 
used to mitigate the effects of interest rate fluctuations on financial institution commission expense and on the net proceeds from the sale of 
agent receivables.  

      Net float income (float income less commission expense) on a GAAP basis was $114.3 million in 2002, up $13.7 million or 13.6 percent 
from 2001, primarily due to increased balances. This increase was partially offset by a decline in interest rates, reflecting a net float margin of 
1.86 percent, or a 16 basis point decline from 2.02 percent in 2001. The margin decline was a result of a lower interest rate environment as 
short-term and float balances earned lower yields and proceeds from prepayments and sales were reinvested at lower  
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2002 2001 

Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ 
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate 

(in thousands, taxable equivalent basis) 
Investments available or restricted for payment 

service obligations    $ 6,153,831     $ 390,605       6.35 %   $ 4,993,255     $ 355,741       7.12 % 
Payment service obligations(1)      4,706,324       240,152       5.10 %     3,490,246       208,273       5.97 % 
                                              
Net float income and margin            $ 150,453       2.44 %           $ 147,468       2.95 % 
                                              

(1)  Commissions are paid to financial institution customers based upon average outstanding balances generated by the sale of official check 
products only. The expense reported includes those payments made to financial institution customers, costs associated with swaps and the 
sale of receivables program. The average balance in the table reflects only the payment service obligations for which commissions are 
paid and does not include the average balance of the sold receivables ($440 million and $444 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively) as 
these are not recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Commission expense is classified as “Costs of services” in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. 
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yields. As mentioned above, refinancing activities caused an increase in the sale of official checks and therefore an increase in float balances. 
However, a substantial portion of these balances were invested at short-term interest rates equal to or less than the interest rates paid out in 
commissions to financial institution customers, thus reducing net float margin. Although commissions and the discount on the sale of 
receivables program benefited from lower short-term interest rates, the fixed rate derivatives used to mitigate the effects of fluctuations on 
these expenses have contractual maturities, and therefore, did not benefit from reduced interest rates. Also contributing to the margin decline 
was a change in product mix reflecting higher overall growth in the official check business, which has lower net float margins relative to the 
money order business. On a taxable equivalent basis, net float income was $150.5 million in 2002, up $3.0 million or 2.0 percent from 2001.  

      The following tables summarize the impact of changes in average investable balances and interest rates on the float income and commission 
expense associated with the investment portfolio on a GAAP and taxable equivalent basis:  

      One of the Payment Services business objectives in managing the float portfolio is to mitigate the risk to earnings created by changing 
interest rates. To mitigate that risk, interest rate derivatives are entered into which effectively limit exposure to the floating rate commission 
payments to financial institution customers. These derivatives effectively convert the variable interest rate to a fixed rate. The fair value of 
these derivatives can fluctuate with interest rate changes, reflected as increases or decreases to a component of stockholders’ equity. Changes in 
the value of the available-for-sale investment portfolio also are reflected as increases and decreases to a component of stockholders’ equity. 
The change in the fair value of the derivative liability for 2002 was a net decrease of $96.7 million in stockholders’ equity, while the net change 
in the fair value of the available-for-sale investment portfolio was a net increase of $60.2 million in stockholders’ equity. Changes in the value 
of the available-for-sale investment portfolio will generally move in the opposite direction of the derivative values although they will rarely 
offset. This is because the main objective in entering into the derivatives is to first mitigate the risk on earnings due to the change in interest 
rates and secondarily to mitigate the risk to equity.  

      Certain Payment Services segment 2003 challenges include (among others):  

      The Payment Services segment will respond to these challenges by focusing on profitable growth that meets its margin requirements and 
that Viad believes will enhance its stockholder value.  

      Convention and Event Services. Revenues of the Convention and Event Services segment were $786.2 million in 2002, a decrease of 
11.1 percent from 2001 revenues of $884.0 million. Operating income was $17.9 million in 2002 compared to an operating loss of 
$54.5 million in 2001 (or an operating loss of $46.7 million when adjusted for SFAS No. 142). Before restructuring charges and other items, 
operating income was $36.5 million, an increase of 11.9 percent from $32.6 million in 2001 and operating margins were  
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2002 vs 2001 

Yield/ Yield/ 
Balance(1) Rate(1) Total Balance(1) Rate(1) Total 

(in thousands, GAAP basis) (in thousands, taxable equivalent basis) 
Float income    $ 71,797     $ (26,257 )   $ 45,540     $ 82,685     $ (47,821 )   $ 34,864   
Commission expense    $ 72,567     $ (40,688 )   $ 31,879     $ 72,567     $ (40,688 )   $ 31,879   
Net float income    $ 23,388     $ (9,727 )   $ 13,661     $ 34,276     $ (31,291 )   $ 2,985   

(1)  The totals for the balance and rate columns are not the sum of the individual lines as income and expense changes are calculated 
independently. 

  —  If interest rates stay low and refinancing activity continues to be strong, revenue and operating income growth could continue to be 
constrained. 

  
  —  A tight credit environment which slows new agent signings and necessitates cutting some existing agents; and 

  
  —  Competitive pricing pressures, particularly for domestic business. 
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4.6 percent and 3.7 percent in 2002 and 2001, respectively. When adjusting 2001 for the impact of SFAS No. 142, income before restructuring 
charges and other items would have been $40.4 million with a corresponding operating margin of 4.6 percent.  

      Within the Convention and Event Services segment, the exhibit and design business experienced a 22.1 percent decrease in revenues during 
the year. Exhibit design and construction revenues were $217.9 million in 2002 compared to $279.9 million in 2001. Revenues were negatively 
impacted by further declines in the demand for the design and construction of new exhibits. This decline was due to diminished corporate 
spending and the continued downturn in the general economy as many exhibitors elected to reuse or refurbish existing exhibits rather than 
placing new orders. Operating income performance was poor during 2002 primarily due to the decline in revenues, excess manufacturing 
capacity, and certain inefficiencies. As a result of decreased visibility over revenues and continued uncertainties regarding improvements in the 
tradeshow industry, Viad approved a restructuring plan in the fourth quarter of 2002 resulting in a restructuring charge of $20.5 million 
($13.3 million after-tax). The components of the $20.5 million charge consist of facility closure and lease termination costs of $12.8 million 
(net of estimated sublease income of $3.9 million), asset impairments related to fixed assets and inventories of $4.1 million, employee 
severance and benefits of $2.9 million and other charges of $650,000. As of December 31, 2002, a remaining liability related to this 
restructuring of $15.7 million is included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The restructuring plan is primarily focused on cost reductions 
through centralizing manufacturing capacity from five locations to three and centralizing certain support functions. Approximately 230 
positions will be eliminated in connection with the restructuring. Future revenues and operating income could be adversely impacted if there 
are further declines in corporate spending for exhibit construction, despite management’s plans to reduce costs. Viad expects to substantially 
complete the restructuring activities by December 31, 2003, however, payments due under the long-term lease obligations will continue to be 
made over the remaining terms of the lease agreements. Severance and benefits payments will be made over the varying terms of the individual 
separation agreements. Viad expects that the restructuring charge will result in cost savings in the range of $8 million to $9 million in 2003 
based on the timing of activities pursuant to the restructuring plan. See “Critical Accounting Policies” for additional discussion of accounting 
method related to the 2002 restructuring. During 2001, the Convention and Event Services segment recorded a restructuring charge of 
$66.1 million ($39.9 million after-tax) for which the related restructuring activities were completed by the end of 2002. As of December 31, 
2002, a remaining liability of $19.6 million related to the 2001 restructuring is included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. See Note 2 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

      The convention show services business experienced a 5.9 percent decrease in revenues, however, operating income increased during the 
year. Revenues were $568.3 million in 2002 compared to $604.1 million in 2001. The decline in revenues largely reflects lower demand for 
services and tradeshow shrinkage due to overall weak economic conditions. Since 2001, and throughout 2002, the tradeshow industry has 
experienced sequential declines in tradeshow attendance, the number of exhibiting companies, and convention square footage. Tradeshow 
activity also reflects industry-specific conditions. Show shrinkage has been significant in the technology and telecommunications sectors, while 
health-related shows have slightly improved and other service industries have stabilized. During 2002, several shows were canceled, scaled-
back or lost to competitors. Furthermore, show shrinkage, particularly related to certain technology shows, negatively impacted revenues. 
However, these declines were partially offset by new business in 2002 such as the Comdex and International Manufacturing Technology 
shows, and positive show rotation related to the ConExpo/ ConAg and International Woodworking shows, as these events do not occur every 
year. Operating income improvements during 2002 primarily reflect improved margins and lower costs as the benefit of a previous 
restructuring has largely been realized. Although the convention show services business has a diversified revenue base (show portfolio) 
including existing contracts for future shows, revenue growth is dependent on general economic and industry-specific conditions. Furthermore, 
political instability in the Middle East and threats of terrorism could continue to impact travel which may adversely affect the convention show 
industry.  

      Travel and Recreation Services. Revenues of the travel and recreation businesses decreased $3.2 million, or 5.2 percent, to $58.3 million 
in 2002. Operating income for the travel and recreation businesses was $13.7 million, a decrease of 6.5 percent from that of 2001. Operating 
margins for 2002 and 2001 were  
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23.6 percent and 23.9 percent, respectively. When adjusting 2001 for the impact of SFAS No. 142, operating income would have been 
$15.6 million (with a 2002 decrease of 11.6 percent) and the operating margin would have been 25.3 percent. The revenue decrease resulted 
primarily from a continued decline in the world travel market. Despite declines in tourism and the soft economy, these businesses had a 
respectable year from a revenue standpoint and will continue to focus on cost control until world travel returns to previous levels. As with 
Convention and Event Services, political instability in the Middle East and threats of terrorism resulting in reduced travel could continue to 
impact the travel and recreation services businesses.  

      Corporate Activities. Corporate activities expense increased $5.1 million from 2001 to 2002. This increase is due largely to $2.5 million 
for legal, investment banking, and other costs incurred in connection with a contemplated initial public offering of Travelers Express. 
Additional increases relate to higher insurance premiums and employee benefit costs in 2002. Corporate activities expense is expected to 
increase in 2003 due to higher pension costs and insurance premium expense.  

      Other Investment Income. Investment income increased $4.9 million due primarily to $3.5 million of interest income received associated 
with a federal income tax refund for the 1994 through 1996 tax years as well as an increase in investment income associated with Corporate 
securities (see Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements) due to higher average investment levels during 2002, partially offset by 
lower average interest rates.  

      Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased to $19.3 million in 2002 from $25.9 million in 2001 as a result of steadily declining average 
outstanding debt balances and average interest rates throughout the year. Approximately 42 percent and 38 percent of the average debt 
outstanding during 2002 and 2001, respectively, related to short-term borrowings that are subject to variable interest rates.  

      Minority Interests. The increase in minority interests of $4.3 million in 2002 from 2001 relates to strong growth in the Payment Services 
segment’s 51 percent interest in MIL. In January 2003, Viad purchased the remaining 49 percent interest in MIL as described in Note 18 of 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

      Income Taxes. On a GAAP basis, the 2002 effective tax rate was 26.2 percent, up from a 9.4 percent tax benefit in 2001 predominantly 
due to the restructuring charges and other items recorded in 2001. Excluding the effect of the 2002 and 2001 restructuring charges and other 
items, the 2002 effective tax rate was 27.2 percent, up from 23.6 percent in 2001. (When adjusted for the impact of SFAS No. 142 the effective 
tax rate in 2001 would have been 22.8 percent). The relatively low rate compared to the statutory federal rate is primarily attributable to tax-
exempt income from Viad’s Payment Services businesses. The higher rate for 2002 is due to lower tax-exempt investment income in 
proportion to total pre-tax income, resulting from the shift in the mix of investments from nontaxable to taxable investments. Even though 
nontaxable investments generally have higher after-tax yields than taxable investments, Viad has shifted its mix of nontaxable and taxable 
investments to balance its alternative minimum tax position. This change in the mix of investments, the taxability of those investments, and the 
mix of companies included in the consolidated state filings, increased Viad’s effective tax rate from 2001 to 2002.  

   2001 vs. 2000:  

      In the 2001 third quarter, Viad recorded restructuring charges totaling $66.1 million ($39.9 million after-tax) associated with the closure 
and consolidation of certain facilities, severance and other employee benefits of which $3.7 million (relating to the write-down of certain 
inventories) was charged to “Cost of products sold.” The remaining $62.4 million was classified under the caption “Restructuring charges.” All 
facilities were closed or consolidated and all of the positions had been eliminated as of December 31, 2002. Payments under long-term lease 
obligations, however, will continue to be made over the remaining terms of the leases. Severance and benefits payments will be made over the 
varying terms of the individual separation agreements. See Note 2 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for further discussion on this 
charge and a rollforward of the restructuring liability at December 31, 2002.  

      The following discussion compares 2001 results with 2000 results as originally reported and also on an as adjusted for SFAS No. 142 basis. 
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      Revenues for 2001 were $1.66 billion, down from the 2000 amount of $1.73 billion. The decrease was primarily due to Viad’s Convention 
and Event Services segment revenue decline of $148.1 million over the prior year, partially offset by the Payment Services segment revenue 
increase of $108.4 million over the same period. Viad began shifting its mix of nontaxable and taxable investments in 2001 to balance its 
alternative minimum tax position. At December 31, 2001, tax-exempt investments represented 22 percent of the total investment portfolio 
versus 45 percent at December 31, 2000. On a taxable equivalent basis, as though amounts were invested in taxable investments, revenues were 
$1.71 billion, down 4.8 percent from $1.79 billion in 2000.  

      Net income for 2001 was $51.1 million, or $0.58 per share, compared with net income of $140.8 million, or $1.54 per share in 2000. When 
adjusted for SFAS No. 142, 2001 net income would have been $65.4 million ($0.74 per share) versus $154.7 million ($1.69 per share) in 2000.  

      There were 4.6 million fewer average outstanding and potentially dilutive common shares in 2001 than in 2000, due primarily to the stock 
repurchase programs described in “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” In addition, a lower Viad stock price during 2001 contributed to fewer 
additional dilutive shares related to unexercised stock options.  

      Payment Services. Revenues of the Payment Services segment were $713.9 million in 2001, a 17.9 percent increase over 2000 revenues of 
$605.5 million. Operating income was $123.8 million, a 32.0 percent increase over 2000 operating income of $93.8 million. Operating margins 
increased to 17.3 percent in 2001 from 15.5 percent in 2000. When adjusting 2001 and 2000 for the impact of SFAS No. 142, operating income 
would have been $132.1 million and $102.0 million, respectively, and the operating margins would have been 18.5 percent and 16.8 percent in 
2001 and 2000, respectively. The increase in operating income was driven by continuing solid growth in official check operations, continued 
improvements in MoneyGram and by the leveraging of the existing infrastructure, as Payment Services experienced double-digit growth in the 
number of financial institution locations and in the number of locations that sell or provide both money orders and money transfer services. 
MoneyGram experienced strong transaction volume growth of 37 percent driven by Latin America, International money transfer and same-day 
bill payment businesses. MoneyGram’s agent base expanded by 31 percent over 2000. Average investable funds for 2001 were $5.0 billion, up 
over 31 percent from 2000 levels, however, results were partially offset by lower effective interest rates on new investments. On the taxable 
equivalent basis, 2001 revenues of $760.7 million were up 13.3 percent when compared to $671.7 million in 2000. On the same basis and 
before restructuring charges and other items, segment operating income in 2001 was $176.6 million, up 10.3 percent from $160.1 million in 
2000. When adjusted for SFAS No. 142 segment operating income in 2001 was $184.9 million, up 9.9 percent from $168.2 million in 2000.  

      The money order business continued to contribute significantly to the operating margin, however, money order volume was flat and related 
average investable balances grew only slightly compared to 2000 as some agents were eliminated and fewer agents were approved in order to 
maintain the credit quality of the money order business. In the 2001 third quarter, Travelers Express recorded a charge totaling $5.0 million 
($3.0 million after-tax) resulting from the bankruptcy of a large money order agent in September 2001.  

      Float income (investment income from the investment portfolio) represented approximately 45 percent of total Payment Services revenue 
for the year 2001 compared with 39 percent for 2000. Float income is affected by the level of investment balances (float portfolio) and the yield 
on investments.  
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      The following tables present float income and expense associated with the Payment Services segment’s investment portfolio on both a 
GAAP and taxable equivalent basis:  

      On a GAAP basis, float income (excluding gains) was $308.9 million in 2001 compared to $231.0 million in 2000, an increase of 
$77.9 million or 33.7 percent. The growth was primarily due to higher average float portfolio balances which drove an increase in float income 
of $72.1 million. During 2001, average 5-year U.S. Treasury Notes declined 160 basis points and short-term interest rates declined over 
235 basis points. Despite this decline, the average portfolio yield increased 12 basis points from 6.07 percent to 6.19 percent, primarily due to 
the mix of investments in the portfolio. The portfolio mix shifted away from lower yield tax-exempt securities into higher yield taxable 
securities as the percentage of the portfolio invested in tax-exempt securities declined from 45 percent at December 31, 2000 to 22 percent at 
December 31, 2001. See Note 5 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a breakout of investments available or restricted for payment 
service obligations.  

      On a taxable equivalent basis, 2001 float income (excluding gains) was $355.7 million compared to $297.3 million in 2000, an increase of 
19.7 percent. Higher balance growth drove the increase of $92.7 million in float income and was partially offset by a decrease of $34.3 million 
related to declining interest rates. This resulted in an average investment yield of 7.12 percent, a decrease of 69 basis points from 7.81 percent 
in 2000. Contributing to the decline in average investment yield in 2001, in addition to the lower interest rate environment, was a lower 
percentage of the portfolio invested in the higher effective yield tax-exempt securities as mentioned above.  

      Commission expense was $208.3 million in 2001, an increase of $43.9 million, or 26.7 percent from 2000, primarily due to higher average 
balances of $1.1 billion. The commission expense increase attributable to the higher average balances was $73.6 million and was partially 
offset by a decrease of approximately $29.7 million due to an interest rate decline.  

      Net float income (float income less commission expense) on a GAAP basis was $100.6 million in 2001, up $33.9 million or 50.8 percent 
from 2000, primarily due to increased balances. The net float margin was  
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2001 2000 

Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ 
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate 

(in thousands, GAAP basis) 
Investments available or restricted for payment 

service obligations    $ 4,993,255     $ 308,894       6.19 %   $ 3,805,821     $ 231,034       6.07 % 
Payment service obligations(1)      3,490,246       208,273       5.97 %     2,410,511       164,326       6.82 % 
                                              
Net float income and margin            $ 100,621       2.02 %           $ 66,708       1.75 % 
                                              
                                                  

2001 2000 

Average Income/ Yield/ Average Income/ Yield/ 
Balance Expense Rate Balance Expense Rate 

(in thousands, taxable equivalent basis) 
Investments available or restricted for payment 

service obligations    $ 4,993,255     $ 355,741       7.12 %   $ 3,805,821     $ 297,258       7.81 % 
Payment service obligations(1)      3,490,246       208,273       5.97 %     2,410,511       164,326       6.82 % 
                                              
Net float income and margin            $ 147,468       2.95 %           $ 132,932       3.49 % 
                                              

(1)  Commissions are paid to financial institution customers based upon average outstanding balances generated by the sale of official check 
products only. The expense reported includes those payments made to financial institution customers, costs associated with swaps and the 
sale of receivables program. The average balance in the table reflects only the payment service obligations for which commissions are 
paid and does not include the average balance of the sold receivables ($444 million and $433 million for 2001 and 2000, respectively) as 
these are not recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Commission expense is classified as “Costs of services” in the Consolidated 
Statements of Income. 
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2.02 percent, or a 27 basis point increase from 1.75 percent in 2000. Net float income on a taxable equivalent basis was $147.5 million in 2001, 
up $14.5 million or 10.9 percent from 2000 primarily due to increased balances. This increase was partially offset by a decline in interest rates, 
reflecting a net float margin of 2.95 percent, or a 54 basis point decline from 3.49 percent in 2000. The decline was a result of a lower interest 
rate environment as well as a lower percentage of the portfolio invested in the higher effective yield municipal securities.  

      The following table summarizes the impact of changes in average investable balances and interest rates on the float income and commission 
expense associated with the investment portfolio:  

      Convention and Event Services. Revenues of the Convention and Event Services segment were $884.0 million in 2001, a decrease of 
14.3 percent from 2000 revenues of $1.03 billion. On a GAAP basis, the operating loss in 2001 of $54.5 million was significantly below the 
2000 operating income of $66.8 million. The decline was driven by the $87.0 million of restructuring charges and other items expensed in 
2001. Before restructuring charges and other items, operating income was $32.6 million, a decrease of 56.9 percent from the 2000 operating 
income of $75.5 million. On this basis, operating margins decreased to 3.7 percent in 2001 from 7.3 percent in 2000. When adjusting 2001 and 
2000 for the impact of SFAS No. 142, income before restructuring charges and other items would have been $40.4 million and $83.0 million, 
respectively, with operating margins of 4.6 percent and 8.0 percent, respectively.  

      The Convention and Event Services segment’s exhibit and design business has suffered from the events of September 11th and the negative 
implications to the tradeshow industry that resulted. The general malaise in the economy, further damaged with terrorist threats after 
September 11th and resulting travel concerns caused many customers to delay or cancel exhibit construction, opting instead to refurbish old 
exhibits, thus directly impacting revenues. As such, revenues were down 17.5 percent to $279.9 million in 2001.  

      The Convention and Event Services segment’s convention show services was affected by the overall softness in the economy, the 
technology and telecom decline, the events of September 11th and negative show rotation. Fear of travel as a result of the events of 
September 11th negatively impacted tradeshow attendance and resulted in increased show cancellations, and thus reduced revenues. In 
addition, certain large tradeshows held in 2000 were not held in 2001 (negative “show rotation”) therefore adversely impacting year over year 
revenues. Finally, year over year revenue was negatively impacted by the loss of tradeshows of the Key3Media Group, Inc. (“Key3Media”), as 
discussed below. As a result of the above, revenues were down 12.8 percent to $604.1 million in 2001 from 2000. Although progress was being 
made with regard to the 2000 restructuring, the benefits had not yet been fully realized and were further dampened by the dramatic drop in 
attendance after the events of September 11th.  

      In August 2000, Key3Media, a company spun off by Ziff-Davis Inc., terminated a long-term agreement with GES to produce tradeshows. 
The companies had been involved in litigation regarding the contract termination. The key issues in the litigation related to the interpretation of 
certain contract terms and the scope of free services required of GES. During the second quarter of 2001, after both sides assessed the business 
market, the risks and demands of the litigation and the need to move forward on a productive basis, GES and Key3Media agreed to settle the 
litigation. As a result, Viad recorded a charge totaling $29.3 million ($18.3 million after-tax) in the second quarter of 2001 representing 
primarily the write-off of net receivables  
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2001 vs 2000 

Yield/ Yield/ 
Balance(1) Rate(1) Total Balance(1) Rate(1) Total 

(in thousands, GAAP basis) (in thousands, taxable equivalent basis) 
Float income    $ 72,084     $ 5,776     $ 77,860     $ 92,747     $ (34,264 )   $ 58,483   
Commission expense    $ 73,606     $ (29,659 )   $ 43,947     $ 73,606     $ (29,659 )   $ 43,947   
Net float income    $ 20,813     $ 13,100     $ 33,913     $ 41,475     $ (26,939 )   $ 14,536   

(1)  The totals for the balance and rate columns are not the sum of the individual lines as income and expense changes are calculated 
independently. 
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and prepayments made to Key3Media. The $29.3 million charge was recorded under the caption “Litigation settlement and costs” in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income.  

      As a result of the above factors and the general downturn in the economy, Viad approved the 2001 restructuring plan previously discussed.  

      Travel and Recreation Services. Revenues of the travel and recreation businesses decreased $11.1 million, or 15.2 percent, to 
$61.5 million in 2001. The revenue decrease resulted primarily from an overall decrease in traffic from Japanese and European tourists and 
from a decrease in overall package tours and charter volumes. The declines in tourism were reflective of the soft economy, higher fuel costs 
and the September 11th terrorist attacks. Operating income for the travel and recreation businesses was $14.7 million, a decrease of 
$4.4 million, or 23.1 percent, from that of 2000 levels, primarily due to reduced tourism volume. When adjusting 2001 and 2000 for the impact 
of SFAS No. 142, operating income would have been $15.6 million and $20.0 million, respectively, and operating margins would have been 
25.3 percent and 27.6 percent in 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

      Corporate Activities. The $2.2 million increase in corporate activities expense from 2000 to 2001 was due primarily to a write-down of a 
partnership interest resulting from its impairment, deemed to be other than temporary.  

      Other Investment Income. Investment income associated with Corporate securities (see Note 4 of Notes to Consolidated Financial 
Statements) declined $7.5 million due primarily to lower average investment levels in 2001 as funds were used for stock repurchases primarily 
in the first quarter of 2001 as described in “Liquidity and Capital Resources.” Lower average interest rates during 2001 also contributed to the 
decline.  

      Minority Interests. The decrease of $391,000 in 2001 minority interests from 2000 relates primarily to a $793,000 minority interest tax 
adjustment made in 2000, partially offset by an increase in revenue and transaction volume growth in the Payment Services segment’s 
51 percent interest in MIL.  

      Interest Expense. Interest expense increased slightly to $25.9 million in 2001 from $25.3 million in 2000, primarily as a result of slightly 
higher average debt outstanding during the year, substantially offset by lower average interest rates. Approximately 38 percent and 27 percent 
of the average debt outstanding during 2001 and 2000, respectively, related to short-term borrowings that are subject to variable interest rates.  

      Income Taxes. On a GAAP basis, the 2001 effective tax rate was a benefit of 9.4 percent, compared to a 15.7 percent tax rate expense in 
2000 predominantly due to the restructuring charges and other items in 2001. Excluding the effect of those charges, the 2001 effective tax rate 
was 23.6 percent, up from 15.2 percent in 2000. (When adjusted for the impact of SFAS No. 142 the effective tax rate in 2001 and 2000 would 
have been 22.8 percent and 15.3 percent, respectively). The relatively low rate compared to the statutory federal rate is primarily attributable to 
tax-exempt income from Viad’s Payment Services businesses. The higher rate for 2001 is due to lower tax-exempt investment income in 
proportion to total pre-tax income, resulting from the shift in the mix of investments from nontaxable to taxable investments. In addition, due to 
lower operating income in the Convention and Event Services segment, tax savings associated with filing consolidated state income tax returns 
was lower than anticipated, resulting in a higher effective state tax rate.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources:  

      Cash and corporate investments were $303.6 million at December 31, 2002 as compared to $216.1 million at December 31, 2001, with the 
increase primarily related to cash flow generated from 2002 operations. Corporate investments are included in the balance sheet caption “Other 
investments in securities.”  

      In January 2003, MoneyGram Payment Systems, Inc. (“MoneyGram”), a subsidiary of Travelers Express, acquired the 49 percent minority 
interest in MoneyGram International Limited (“MIL”) from Travelex Group (“Travelex”). MIL, a London-based joint venture between 
MoneyGram and Travelex, provides international money transfer services primarily in Europe, Africa, Australia and Asia. Prior to the 
acquisition, MoneyGram owned a 51 percent interest in MIL. In connection with the transaction,  
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MoneyGram paid approximately $98 million to Travelex. In addition, MIL paid a dividend to Travelex of approximately $8 million concurrent 
with the transaction.  

      Viad’s total debt at December 31, 2002 was $361.7 million compared with $396.8 million at December 31, 2001. The debt-to-capital ratio 
at December 31, 2002 was 0.33 to 1, compared to 0.35 to 1 at December 31, 2001. Capital is defined as total debt plus minority interests, 
preferred stock and common stock and other equity.  

      Under a Shelf Registration filed in 1994 with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Viad can issue up to an aggregate $500 million of 
debt and equity securities. In 2002, Viad filed an amended Shelf Registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission to update 
disclosures in the original registration and to maintain Viad’s financial flexibility. No securities have been issued under the program.  

      Viad authorized a stock repurchase program in 1998 for the purpose of replacing common shares issued upon exercise of stock options and 
in connection with other stock compensation plans, with the intended effect of reducing dilution caused by the issuance of such shares. This 
program was on hold for most of 2001 and the first six months of 2002 while cash was conserved given the uncertainty in the economy. In the 
third quarter of 2002, Viad resumed the repurchase plan and acquired 1.2 million shares for $26.3 million at an average price of $21.89. Prior 
to the break in the stock repurchase program, 1.4 million shares were repurchased in early 2001 for $34.6 million at an average price of $24.45. 

      Proceeds from the exercise of stock options, including tax benefits on stock option exercises, totaled $12.7 million and $22.8 million in 
2002 and 2001, respectively. The level of future cash generated from stock option exercises may vary depending on Viad’s stock price 
compared to the option exercise price and the ability of the grantees to exercise stock options.  

      With respect to working capital, in order to minimize the effects of borrowing costs on earnings, Viad strives to maintain current assets at 
the lowest practicable levels while at the same time taking advantage of payment terms offered by trade creditors and obtaining advance 
deposits from customers for certain projects and services. However, working capital requirements may fluctuate from seasonal factors as well 
as changes in levels of receivables and inventories caused by numerous business factors.  

      Viad satisfies a portion of its working capital and other financing requirements with short-term borrowings (through commercial paper, 
bank note programs and bank lines of credit). Effective August 31, 2001, Viad completed credit facilities totaling $425 million to replace and 
consolidate its previous $300 million revolving bank credit agreement, various letter of credit support facilities and a Canadian credit facility 
without substantially increasing Viad’s overall credit capacity. Under these facilities, short-term borrowings were supported by a $200 million 
short-term 364-day revolving credit facility (with a one-year term out provision, at Viad’s option, in the event a new facility is not established) 
and a $225 million five-year facility. On August 30, 2002, Viad’s $200 million short-term 364-day facility was amended, the total amount of 
the lenders’ commitments was reduced to $168 million under similar terms and the commitment termination date of each eligible lender was 
extended to August 2003. The short-term revolving credit facility, as amended, allows for Viad to increase the aggregate amount of the lender 
commitments up to $200 million subject to availability of commitments. Short-term borrowings totaling $173.0 million and $166.0 million at 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, have been classified as long-term debt, pursuant to the unused commitments under the applicable 
long-term and short-term credit facilities. Unused commitments (net of amounts used to support short-term borrowings and letters of credit) 
under the facilities totaled $142.0 million at December 31, 2002. Borrowings under the facilities are subject to various covenants, including 
standard equity and other financial ratio calculations, among others. The borrowings are also subject to increases in borrowing costs if debt 
ratings are not maintained at current levels. Default under the covenants relating to any of Viad’s debt agreements could result in cross defaults 
to other debt agreements. Viad is currently in compliance with all of its covenants.  
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      The following table presents Viad’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2002:  

      In December 2002, GES began occupying and commenced lease payments on a newly constructed facility in Las Vegas, Nevada. The 
leased property provides GES with approximately 890,000 square feet of combined warehouse, manufacturing and office space. The lease term 
is 12 years and the aggregate base rental payments over the lease term are approximately $60 million. The lease was accounted for as an 
operating lease, and as such, is not included on Viad’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2002. The amounts relating to the lease 
are included under the caption “Operating leases” in the above table.  

      As of December 31, 2002, Viad had certain obligations under guarantees to third parties on behalf of its subsidiaries. These guarantees are 
not subject to liability recognition in the consolidated financial statements and primarily relate to leased facilities and credit or loan 
arrangements with banks, entered into by Viad’s subsidiary operations. Viad would generally be required to make payments to the respective 
third parties under these guarantees in the event that the related subsidiary could not meet its own payment obligations. The maximum potential 
amount of future payments that Viad would be required to make under all guarantees existing at December 31, 2002 would be $60.4 million. 
Of these guarantees, 93 percent relate to obligations associated with operating leases and other unused credit facilities and the remaining 
7 percent relates to subsidiary obligations included in total debt in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. At December 31, 2002, the aggregate 
guarantees related to leased facilities were $34.6 million, and expire through December 2006. At December 31, 2002, the aggregate guarantees 
related to credit or loan arrangements with banks were $25.8 million of which, $5.8 million expire through September 2003 and $20.0 million 
is subject to an ongoing guarantee by a Viad subsidiary commensurate with its subsidiary’s credit facility which has no expiration date. There 
are no recourse provisions that would enable Viad to recover from third parties any payments made under the guarantees. Furthermore, there 
are no collateral or similar arrangements whereby Viad could recover payments.  

      The ability of Viad to maintain its investment grade rating is critical as it affects the cost of borrowing. In addition, certain financial 
institution customers of Viad’s Payment Services segment require that Viad maintain an investment grade rating. Any ratings downgrade could 
increase Viad’s cost of borrowing, result in termination of debt, or require certain actions be performed to rectify such a situation. Such a 
downgrade could also have a negative effect on Viad’s ability to attract and retain new or existing customers. Being placed on credit watch 
with negative implication could also affect Viad’s cost of borrowing for its short-term debt and/or the ability to obtain such short-term funding. 
Currently, the ratings outlook from the rating agencies is “stable.”  

      Payment Services has agreements with clearing banks that provide processing and clearing functions for money orders and official checks. 
Certain contracts have covenants that require the maintenance of specified levels of capital for Viad’s Payment Services operations. Any 
changes in specified capital levels may require additional capital contributions to be made by Viad to Payment Services and/or may require 
Payment Services to change the mix of its investments or increase the level of investment liquidity, which could result in lower rates of return.  
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Payments due by period 

Less than After 
Total 1 year 2-3 years 4-5 years 5 years 

(in thousands) 
Long-term debt    $ 353,584     $ 103,346     $ 204,000     $ 19,503     $ 26,735   
Capital lease obligations      8,073       649       1,342       1,051       5,031   
Operating leases      186,837       31,857       51,533       36,546       66,901   
Derivative financial instruments      246,333       119,806       116,208       10,319       —  
Other long-term obligations (1)      12,400       1,000       11,400       —      —  
                                
  Total contractual cash obligations    $ 807,227     $ 256,658     $ 384,483     $ 67,419     $ 98,667   
                                

(1)  Other long-term obligations include $11.4 million of expected pension funding obligations and $1.0 million of commission obligation 
payments. 
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      Capital spending has been reduced by obtaining, where appropriate, equipment and other property under operating leases. Cash flows from 
operations and proceeds from the sales of noncore businesses and assets during the past three years have generally been sufficient to fund 
capital expenditures, acquire businesses and pay cash dividends to stockholders. Although no assurance can be given, Viad expects operating 
cash flows and short-term borrowings to be sufficient to finance its ongoing business, maintain adequate capital levels and meet covenant and 
investment grade rating requirements. Should financing requirements exceed such sources of funds, Viad believes it has adequate external 
financing sources available, including unused commitments under its credit facilities, to cover any shortfall.  

      Viad’s Payment Services subsidiaries generate funds from the sale of official checks, money orders and other payment instruments, with 
the related liabilities classified as “Payment service obligations.” Substantially all of the proceeds of such sales are invested in permissible 
securities, principally high-quality debt instruments. These investments are restricted by the Payment Services segment to the extent that they 
represent proceeds from the sale of its payment instruments for use by the subsidiaries to satisfy the liability to pay, upon presentment, the face 
amount of such payment service obligations. Accordingly, such assets are not available to satisfy working capital or other financing 
requirements of Viad. The securities are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets under the caption, “Investments available or restricted for 
payment service obligations.” Certain additional assets of the Payment Services subsidiaries relating to payment service obligations, including 
cash on hand, funds in transit from agents and securities expected to be sold or maturing within one year, are included under the caption, 
“Funds, agent receivables and current maturities of investments available or restricted for payment service obligations.” Although the Payment 
Services investment portfolio exposes Viad to certain credit risks, Viad believes the high quality of the investments reduces this risk. 
Approximately 97 percent of the investments at December 31, 2002 (and approximately 99 percent of the investments at December 31, 2001) 
have an investment grade rating of A or higher or are collateralized by federal agency securities. Although Payment Services’ investment 
portfolio is highly diversified, if any one issuer were unable to pay its obligations or were to enter into bankruptcy, Payment Services may have 
to sell the investment and reinvest the proceeds in permissible securities and/or could lose a portion or a substantial amount of the investment 
with such issuer. In addition, further deterioration in the debt and equity markets could lead to “other-than-temporary” impairment losses 
related to the Payment Services segment’s investment securities in future periods. See “Critical Accounting Policies” for discussion regarding 
estimates and assumptions related to other-than-temporary declines in the value of securities. Under normal circumstances there is no 
requirement to sell long-term debt securities prior to their maturity, as the funds from ongoing sales of money orders and other payment 
instruments and funds from maturing long-term and short-term investments are expected to be adequate to settle payment service obligations as 
they are presented. Fluctuations in the balances of Payment Services’ assets and obligations result from varying levels of sales of money orders 
and other payment instruments, the timing of agent receivables, and the timing of the presentment of such instruments.  

      Working in cooperation with certain financial institutions, Payment Services has established separate consolidated entities (special-purpose 
entities) and processes that provide these financial institutions with additional assurance of the ability to clear their official checks. These 
processes include maintenance of specified ratios of segregated investments to outstanding payment instruments. In some cases, alternative 
credit support has been purchased by Payment Services that provides backstop funding as additional security for payment of their instruments. 
However, Payment Services remains liable to satisfy the obligations. Accordingly, the obligations have been recorded in the Consolidated 
Balance Sheets under the caption “Payment service obligations.” Under certain limited circumstances, clients have rights to demand liquidation 
of the segregated assets or to take other similar actions. While an orderly liquidation of assets would be required, any such actions by a client 
could nonetheless diminish the value of the total investment portfolio, decrease earnings, and result in loss of the client or other customers or 
prospects.  

      A Viad Payment Services subsidiary has an agreement to sell, on a periodic basis, undivided percentage ownership interests in certain 
receivables from bill payment and money order agents in an amount not to exceed $450 million. The agreement runs through June 2003, but 
the decision to sell receivables is made daily.  
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In addition, there is no requirement for the purchasing bank to purchase the receivables. The receivables are sold in order to accelerate Payment 
Services’ cash flow for investments in permissible securities.  

      Viad’s Payment Services subsidiaries have various lines of credit, overdraft facilities and reverse repurchase agreements totaling 
$1.95 billion available to assist in the management of their investments and the clearing of payment service obligations. No borrowings were 
outstanding under these facilities at December 31, 2002 or 2001.  

      The Payment Services segment has agreements with certain investors to provide funds related to investments in collateralized private equity 
obligations. As of December 31, 2002, the total amount of unfunded commitments related to these agreements was $21.0 million.  

      Viad sold treasury stock in 1992 to Viad’s Employee Equity Trust (the “Trust”) to fund certain existing employee compensation and benefit 
plans over the scheduled 15-year term of the Trust. For financial reporting purposes, the Trust is consolidated with Viad. The fair market value 
of the shares held by the Trust, representing unearned employee benefits, is recorded as a deduction from common stock and other equity and is 
reduced as employee benefits are funded. At December 31, 2002, approximately 2,366,000 shares remained in the Trust and were available to 
fund future benefit obligations.  

      Viad has certain unfunded pension and other postretirement benefit plans that require payments over extended periods of time. Such future 
benefit payments are not expected to materially affect Viad’s liquidity.  

      Viad is subject to various environmental laws and regulations of the United States as well as of the states and other countries in whose 
jurisdictions Viad has or had operations and is subject to certain international agreements. As is the case with many companies, Viad faces 
exposure to actual or potential claims and lawsuits involving environmental matters. Although Viad is a party to certain environmental 
disputes, Viad believes that any liabilities resulting therefrom, after taking into consideration amounts already provided for, exclusive of any 
potential insurance recovery, have been properly reserved for; however, environmental settlements could result in future cash outlays.  

Off-Balance-Sheet Arrangements:  

      Viad has certain arrangements or transactions which are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheets and could materially effect 
liquidity or require the use of capital resources. These arrangements and transactions are discussed in “Liquidity and Capital Resources,” and 
include aggregate operating lease commitments of $186.8 million (including the GES lease commitment of $60 million), aggregate guarantees 
of $60.4 million and funding commitments related to collateralized private equity obligations of $21.0 million.  

Critical Accounting Policies:  

      The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of 
assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements. 
The U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission has defined a company’s most critical accounting policies as those that are most important to 
the portrayal of a company’s financial position and results of operations, and that require a company to make its most difficult and subjective 
judgements, often as a result of the need to make estimates of matters that are inherently uncertain. Based on this criteria, Viad has identified 
and discussed with its audit committee the following critical accounting policies and estimates, and the methodology and disclosures related to 
those estimates:  

      Goodwill. SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” requires annual impairment testing of goodwill based on the estimated 
fair value of Viad’s reporting units. The fair value of Viad’s reporting units is estimated based on discounted expected future cash flows using a 
weighted average cost of capital rate. Additionally, an assumed terminal value is used to project future cash flows beyond base years. The 
estimates and assumptions regarding expected cash flows, terminal values and the discount rate require considerable judgment and are based on 
historical experience, financial forecasts, and industry trends and conditions.  
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      During 2002, Viad recorded a transitional goodwill impairment loss of $40.0 million ($37.7 million after-tax) related to the Exhibitgroup/ 
Giltspur reporting unit of the Convention and Event Services segment. A decline in the expected cash flows or the estimated terminal value 
could lead to additional goodwill impairment losses. Similarly, an increase in the discount rate (weighted average cost of capital) could also 
result in additional goodwill impairment.  

      Insurance liabilities. Viad is self-insured up to certain limits for workers’ compensation, automobile, product and general liability, 
property loss and medical claims. Viad has also retained and provided for certain insurance liabilities in conjunction with the sales of 
businesses. Provisions for losses for claims incurred, including estimated claims incurred but not yet reported, are made based on Viad’s prior 
historical experience, claims frequency and other factors. Viad has purchased insurance for amounts in excess of the self-insured levels. A 
change in the assumptions used could result in an adjustment to recorded liabilities.  

      Pension obligations. Viad has trusteed, noncontributory pension plans that cover certain employees. Pension benefits are supplemented, in 
most cases, by defined matching company stock contributions to employees’ 401(k) plans as described in Note 15 of Notes to Consolidated 
Financial Statements. In addition, Viad retained the obligations for such benefits for employees of certain sold businesses. Through 
December 31, 2000, the principal retirement plan was structured using a traditional defined benefit formula based primarily on final average 
pay and years of service. Benefits earned under this formula ceased accruing at December 31, 2000, with no change to retirement benefits 
earned through that date. Effective January 1, 2001, benefits began accruing under a cash accumulation account formula based upon a 
percentage of pay plus interest. Funding policies provide that payments to defined benefit pension trusts shall be at least equal to the minimum 
funding required by applicable regulations. Certain defined pension benefits, primarily those in excess of benefit levels permitted under 
qualified pension plans, are unfunded. As determined with the guidance of an external actuary, the following assumptions were used in 
determining the projected benefit obligation and pension expense:  

      Viad’s pension expense was $3.2 million and $2.5 million for 2002 and 2001, respectively. Pension expense is calculated based upon the 
actuarial assumptions shown above. For 2002, the pension expense consisted of service cost of $2.8 million, interest cost of $12.3 million, 
amortization of prior service cost of $786,000, recognized net actuarial loss of $462,000 less an expected return on plan assets of $13.2 million. 
The fair value of Viad’s pension plan assets decreased to $107.1 million at December 31, 2002 from $121.5 million at December 31, 2001 
primarily due to benefits paid and lower actual returns on plan assets.  

      Viad’s discount rate used in determining future pension obligations is measured on November 30 and is based on rates determined by 
actuarial analysis and Viad management review. Lowering the discount rate by 0.5 percent would have increased Viad’s pension expense by 
$645,000.  

      In developing the expected rate of return, input provided by Viad’s actuaries was evaluated as well as other external factors. Viad’s 
expected rate of return is based on asset allocation guidelines that are reviewed quarterly by its Pension Investment Committee and assets are 
invested in a manner consistent with the Fiduciary standards of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act (“ERISA”). To be consistent 
with ERISA Fiduciary standards, the assets should have the safeguards and diversity to which a prudent investor would adhere and all 
transactions undertaken on behalf of the fund must be for the sole benefit of plan participants and their beneficiaries. Viad’s current asset 
allocation consists of approximately 55 percent in large capitalization and international equities, approximately 35 percent in fixed income such 
as long-term treasury bonds, intermediate government bonds and global bonds and approximately 10 percent in a real estate limited partnership 
interest. Lowering the expected rate of return by 0.5 percent would have increased Viad’s 2002 pension expense by $663,000. Viad’s pension 
assets are primarily invested in marketable securities that have readily determinable current market values. Viad’s investments are re-balanced 
regularly to stay within  
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Discount rate      6.75 %     7.25 % 
Expected return on plan assets      8.75 %     10.00 % 
Rate of compensation increase      4.50 %     4.50 % 
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the investment guidelines. Viad will continue to evaluate its pension assumptions, including its rate of return, and will adjust these factors as 
necessary.  

      Future actual pension income or expense will depend on future investment performance, changes in future rates and various other factors 
related to the populations participating in Viad’s pension plans.  

      Postretirement benefits other than pensions. Viad and certain of its subsidiaries have defined benefit postretirement plans that provide 
medical and life insurance for certain eligible employees, retirees and dependents. The related postretirement benefit liabilities are recognized 
over the period that services are provided by employees. In addition, Viad retained the obligations for such benefits for retirees of certain sold 
businesses. While the plans have no funding requirements, Viad may fund the plans.  

      The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the 2002 accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 10 percent for the 
year 2003, gradually declining to 5 percent by the year 2008 and remaining at that level thereafter.  

      A one-percentage-point increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate for each year would increase the accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation as of December 31, 2002 by approximately $4.6 million and the ongoing annual expense by approximately $410,000. A one-
percentage-point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rate for each year would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit 
obligation as of December 31, 2002 by approximately $4.0 million and the ongoing annual expense by approximately $349,000.  

      Weighted average assumptions used at December 31 were as follows:  

      Investment securities. Investment securities are accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in 
Debt and Equity Securities.” Per SFAS No. 115, investments are classified into one of three categories: held-to-maturity, available-for-sale, or 
trading. Securities being held for indefinite periods of time, including those securities that may be sold to assist in the clearing of payment 
service obligations or in the management of securities, are classified as available-for-sale. These securities are carried at market value (or fair 
value), with the net after-tax unrealized gain or loss reported as a separate component of stockholders’ equity under the caption “Accumulated 
other comprehensive income (loss).” Market value is determined by using available market information. Considerable judgment is required in 
interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estimates determined may not be indicative of the amounts that 
could be realized in a current market exchange. The use of different market assumptions or valuation methodologies may have a material effect 
on the estimated fair value amounts. In general, as interest rates increase, the fair value of the available-for-sale portfolio and stockholders’ 
equity decreases and as interest rates fall, the fair value of the available-for-sale portfolio increases as well as stockholders’ equity. Securities 
classified as held-to-maturity are those that management has the ability and intent to hold to maturity and are carried at amortized cost. The cost 
of investment securities sold is determined using the specific-identification method.  

      Other-than-temporary declines in the value of securities. Viad’s investments consist primarily of mortgage-backed securities, other 
asset-backed securities, state and municipal government obligations and corporate debt securities. Investments are considered to be impaired 
when a decline in fair value is judged to be other-than-temporary. Viad employs a methodology that considers available evidence in evaluating 
potential impairment of its investments including the duration and extent to which the fair value is less than book value; Viad’s ability and 
intent to hold the investment; the security rating; the underlying collateral and other factors that influence projected future cash flows. When an 
other-than-temporary impairment occurs, investments are written down to fair market value. Subsequent increases in value are treated as an 
adjustment of yield.  
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      Derivative financial instruments. Derivative financial instruments are used as part of Viad’s risk management strategy to manage 
exposure to fluctuations in interest and foreign currency rates. Viad does not enter into derivatives for speculative purposes. Derivatives are 
accounted for in accordance with SFAS No. 133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities,” and its related amendments 
and interpretations. The derivatives are recorded as either assets or liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value, with the change in fair value 
recognized in earnings or in other comprehensive income depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. 
A derivative that does not qualify, or is not designated, as a hedge will be reflected at fair value, with changes in value recognized through 
earnings. The estimated fair value of derivative financial instruments has been determined using available market information and certain 
valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data to develop the estimates of fair value. 
Accordingly, the estimates determined may not be indicative of the amounts that could be realized in a current market exchange. The use of 
different market assumptions or valuation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts. While Viad intends to 
continue to meet the conditions to qualify for hedge accounting treatment under SFAS No. 133, if hedges did not qualify as highly effective or 
if forecasted transactions did not occur, the changes in the fair value of the derivatives used as hedges would be reflected in earnings. Viad does 
not believe it is exposed to more than a nominal amount of credit risk in its hedging activities as the counterparties are generally well 
established, well capitalized financial institutions.  

      Stock-based compensation. As permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” Viad uses the intrinsic value 
method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related 
interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. Accordingly, Viad does not use the fair value method to value stock 
options in accordance with SFAS No. 123. See Note 1 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for a discussion of the pro forma impact 
of stock-based awards using the fair value method of accounting.  

      Restructuring charges and other items. As a component of the 2002 restructuring charge of $20.5 million, an accrued liability related to 
facility closure and lease termination costs of $12.8 million, net of estimated sublease income of $3.9 million, was recorded as of December 31, 
2002. These costs were accounted for pursuant to Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) Issue No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain 
Employee Termination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an Activity (including Certain Costs Incurred in a Restructuring).” Under EITF 
No. 94-3, these costs were considered to have no future economic benefit, and were therefore recorded at the time that Viad management 
approved and committed to the restructuring plan in the fourth quarter of 2002. The recorded amounts were based on the contractual 
obligations contained in the leases (net of estimated sublease income) and estimates of incremental costs incurred as a direct result of the 
restructuring plan.  

      In June 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or 
Disposal Activities.” SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities that are initiated after December 31, 2002, with early application 
encouraged. Under SFAS No. 146, a liability for the costs associated with an exit or disposal activity is recognized and measured initially at its 
fair value in the period in which the liability is incurred. The liability would subsequently be adjusted for revisions related to the timing and 
amount of estimated cash flows and accretion expense, if applicable. If Viad had elected to adopt the provisions of SFAS No. 146, the majority 
of the $12.8 million charge related to facility closure and lease termination costs would have been recorded based on the fair value of the 
liability at the time Viad ceased using the related leased facilities and determined using a present value technique. The remaining portion of the 
$12.8 million liability would have been recorded at fair value at the time the liability was incurred (when services associated with the activity 
were received). If Viad had elected to apply the accounting method under SFAS No. 146, the aggregate charge of $12.8 million discussed 
above would not have been recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002, rather, the fair value of these liabilities, estimated to be $10.9 million, would 
have been initially recorded in 2003 based on the restructuring plan. Furthermore, accretion expense associated with the lease termination 
liability would likely be recognized in future periods over the remaining term of the related lease agreements.  

29  



Table of Contents  

      The application of SFAS No. 146 would not have changed the method of accounting for other components of the restructuring charge 
including severance and other benefits of $2.9 million, asset impairments of $4.1 million and other charges of $650,000.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements:  

      In November 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force reached a consensus on Issue No. 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of 
Reimbursements Received for “Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred” (“EITF No. 01-14”), which became effective for Viad on January 1, 2002. 
Under EITF No. 01-14, reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred are characterized as revenue in the income statement. 
Upon adoption of EITF No. 01-14, comparative financial statements for prior periods should be reclassified to comply with the current 
presentation. Viad has historically accounted for the reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses incurred similar to EITF No. 01-14 and, 
therefore, the adoption of EITF No. 01-14 did not impact Viad’s consolidated financial statements.  

      In January 2002, Viad adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 142 specifies that goodwill and certain 
intangibles with indefinite lives no longer be amortized but instead be subject to periodic impairment testing. See Note 7 of Notes to 
Consolidated Financial Statements for discussion of transitional impairment loss related to goodwill recognized in connection with the adoption 
of SFAS No. 142.  

      In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (effective for Viad 
on January 1, 2002). SFAS No. 144 supersedes existing accounting guidance on asset impairment under SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the 
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of” and the accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion 
No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and 
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS No. 144 requires that one accounting model be used for long-lived assets to be 
disposed of by sale, whether previously held and used or newly acquired. Among other provisions, the new rules change the criteria for 
classifying an asset as held-for-sale. The standard also broadens the scope of businesses to be disposed of that qualify for reporting as 
discontinued operations, and changes the timing of recognizing losses on such operations. The adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have a 
material impact on Viad’s financial position or results of operations.  

      In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement 
No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” This Statement rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” SFAS 
No. 44, “Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers” and SFAS No. 64, “Extinguishment of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking Fund 
Requirements.” This statement also amends SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases,” to eliminate an inconsistency between the required 
accounting for sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that are 
similar to sale-leaseback transactions. Viad adopted SFAS No. 145 during 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 did not have a material impact 
on Viad’s financial position or results of operations.  

      In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This statement requires 
companies to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an 
exit or disposal plan. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. Viad has adopted this new 
standard effective January 1, 2003, but as it has no planned 2003 exit or disposal activities, the impact on the future financial position or results 
of operations cannot presently be determined. See “Critical Accounting Policies” for discussion of 2002 restructuring charges.  

      In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, 
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” This interpretation sets forth expanded disclosure requirements in the financial 
statements about a guarantor’s obligations under certain guarantees that it has issued. It also clarifies that, under certain circumstances, a 
guarantor is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of the obligation at the inception of the guarantee. Certain types of  
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guarantees, such as product warranties, guarantees accounted for as derivatives, and guarantees related to parent-subsidiary relationships are 
excluded from the liability recognition provisions of Interpretation No. 45, however, they are subject to the disclosure requirements. The initial 
liability recognition provisions are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or modified after December 31, 2002. The disclosure 
requirements of Interpretation No. 45 are effective for financial statements for interim or annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. In 
accordance with Interpretation No. 45, Viad has included the required disclosures relating to its guarantees in the financial statements as of 
December 31, 2002 (see Note 17 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Viad’s guarantees principally relate to a parent’s guarantee of 
a subsidiary’s debt to a third party, and would therefore, be excluded from liability recognition at inception. Viad has not yet determined if the 
adoption of the new rules will have any material impact on its financial position or results of operations.  

      In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation-Transition and Disclosure.” This 
statement amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” to provide alternative methods of transition for an entity that 
voluntarily changes to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure 
provisions of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosure about the effects on reported net income of an entity’s accounting policy decisions 
with respect to stock-based employee compensation. This statement also amends APB Opinion No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting” to 
require disclosure about those effects in interim financial statements. SFAS No. 148 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending 
after December 15, 2002. Viad has elected not to voluntarily change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation 
at this time. Viad has included the additional disclosure requirements in Notes 1 and 13 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

      In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” an interpretation of Accounting 
Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements.” Interpretation No. 46 prescribes how to identify variable interest entities and 
how an enterprise assesses its interests in a variable interest entity to decide whether to consolidate that entity. This interpretation requires 
existing unconsolidated variable interest entities to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively disperse risks 
among parties involved. Interpretation No. 46 is effective immediately for variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and to 
variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. The interpretation applies in the first fiscal year or interim 
period beginning after June 15, 2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it acquired before 
February 1, 2003. Viad has not yet determined if the adoption of Interpretation No. 46 will have a material impact on its financial position or 
results of operations.  

Forward-Looking Statements:  

      As provided by the safe harbor provision under the “Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,” Viad cautions readers that, in 
addition to the historical information contained herein, this Annual Report on Form 10-K includes certain information, assumptions and 
discussions that may constitute forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements are not historical facts, but reflect current 
estimates, projections, or expectations of or current trends in future growth, operating cash flows, availability of short-term borrowings, 
consumer demand, new business, investment policies, productivity improvements, ongoing cost reduction efforts, efficiency, competitiveness, 
tax rates, restructuring plans (including timing and realization of cost savings) and market risk disclosures. Actual results could differ 
materially from those projected in forward-looking statements. Viad’s businesses can be affected by a host of risks and uncertainties. Among 
other things, gains and losses of customers, consumer demand patterns, labor relations, purchasing decisions related to customer demand for 
convention and event services, existing and new competition, industry alliances and consolidation and growth patterns within the industries in 
which Viad competes and any further deterioration in the economy may individually or in combination impact future results. In addition to the 
factors mentioned elsewhere, economic, competitive, governmental, technological, capital marketplace and other factors including further 
terrorist activities or war could affect the forward-looking statements contained in this Annual Report.  
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Item 7A.      Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk:  

      Viad’s market risk exposures relate to fluctuations in interest rates and, to a lesser degree, to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. Interest 
rate risk is the risk that changing interest rates will adversely affect the market value and earnings of Viad. Foreign exchange risk is the risk that 
fluctuating exchange rates will adversely affect earnings. Viad’s exposure to these risks is primarily associated with its Payment Services 
business. Certain derivative financial instruments are used as part of Viad’s risk management strategy to manage these exposures. Derivatives 
are not used for speculative purposes. Viad has exposure to changing rates related to its pension assumptions (including the expected return on 
plan assets and the discount rate) and the health care cost trend rate.  

      Viad is exposed to foreign exchange risk as it has certain receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies. Viad primarily 
utilizes forward contracts to hedge its exposure to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates. Forward contracts relating to Payment Services’ wire 
transfer transactions generally have maturities less than thirty days, and forward contracts relating to other receivables or payables generally 
have maturities less than ninety days. The forward contracts are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets, and the effect of changes in 
foreign exchange rates on the foreign-denominated receivables and payables, net of the effect of the related forward contracts, is not 
significant.  

      A portion of Viad’s Payment Services business involves the payment of commissions to financial institution customers of its official check 
program described in Note 9 of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements. A Payment Services subsidiary also has entered into agreements to 
sell receivables primarily from its money order agents. The commissions and net proceeds from the agent receivables sales are computed based 
on short-term variable interest rates that subject Viad to risk arising from changes in such rates. Viad has hedged a substantial portion of the 
variable rate risk through swap agreements which convert the variable rate payments to fixed rates.  

      Stockholders’ equity can be adversely affected by changing interest rates, as after-tax changes in the fair value of securities classified as 
available-for-sale and in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are included as a component of stockholders’ equity. The fair value of 
derivative financial instruments generally increases when the market value of fixed rate, long-term debt investments decline and vice versa. 
However, an increase or decrease in stockholders’ equity related to changes in the fair value of securities classified as available-for-sale, may 
not be offset, in whole or in part, by the decrease or increase in stockholders’ equity related to changes in the fair value of derivative financial 
instruments.  

      Viad is also exposed to short-term interest rate risk on certain of its debt obligations. Viad currently does not use derivative financial 
instruments to hedge cash flows for such obligations.  

      Earnings Sensitivity to Interest Rate Changes. Based on a hypothetical 10 percent proportionate increase in interest rates from the 
average level of interest rates during the last twelve months, and taking into consideration expected investment positions, commissions paid to 
selling agents, growth in new business, the effects of the swap agreements and the expected borrowing level of variable-rate debt, the decrease 
in pre-tax income would be approximately $1.1 million. A hypothetical 10 percent proportionate decrease in interest rates, based on the same 
set of assumptions, would result in an increase in pre-tax income of approximately $1.8 million. These amounts are estimated based on a 
certain set of assumptions about interest rates and portfolio balance growth and do not represent expected results. In addition, refer to 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Results of Operations and Financial Condition” for a discussion of Viad’s results of operations and 
the financial impact of interest rate fluctuations.  

      Fair Value Sensitivity to Interest Rate Changes. The fair value of securities classified as available-for-sale, derivative financial 
instruments and fixed-rate debt is sensitive to changes in interest rates. A 10 percent proportionate increase in interest rates would result in an 
estimated decrease in the fair value of securities classified as available-for-sale of approximately $80.3 million (reflected as an after-tax 
decrease in accumulated other comprehensive income of approximately $49.0 million), an estimated increase in the fair value of derivative 
financial instruments of approximately $30.7 million (reflected as an after-tax increase in accumulated other comprehensive income of 
approximately $18.7 million) and an estimated off-balance-sheet  
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decrease in the fair value of fixed-rate debt of approximately $364,000 at December 31, 2002. A 10 percent proportionate decrease in interest 
rates would result in an estimated increase in the fair value of securities classified as available-for-sale of approximately $74.3 million 
(reflected as an after-tax increase in accumulated other comprehensive income of approximately $45.3 million), an estimated decrease in the 
fair value of derivative financial instruments of approximately $30.7 million (reflected as an after-tax decrease in accumulated other 
comprehensive income of approximately $18.7 million) and an estimated off-balance-sheet increase in the fair value of fixed-rate debt of 
approximately $366,000 at December 31, 2002. These amounts are estimated based on a certain set of assumptions about interest rates and 
portfolio balance growth and are not necessarily indicative of actual current period factors.  

      Interest Rate Risk and Market Risk Oversight. Viad has established several levels of risk management oversight and control. An 
investment committee, comprised of senior officers of Viad and Payment Services, and reporting to the Chief Executive Officer of Viad, 
routinely reviews investment and risk management strategies and results. Additionally, Viad employs an independent advisor to its investment 
committee. Viad maintains formal procedures for entering into derivative transactions and management regularly monitors and reports to the 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors on such activity. Derivative agreements are with major financial institutions which are currently 
expected to perform fully under the terms of the agreements, thereby mitigating the credit risk from the transactions in the event of 
nonperformance by the counterparties. In addition, Viad regularly monitors the credit ratings of the counterparties, and the likelihood of default 
is considered remote.  

Item 8.      Financial Statements and Supplementary Data  

      Refer to Index to Financial Statements on page 41 for required information.  

Item 9.      Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure  

      None.  
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PART III  

Item 10.      Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant  

      Information regarding Directors of the Registrant is included in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Viad to be 
held on May 13, 2003, and is incorporated herein by reference. Information regarding executive officers of the Registrant is located at page 6 of 
this Report.  

Item 11.      Executive Compensation  

      Information regarding executive compensation is contained in the Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders of Viad to be 
held on May 13, 2003, and is incorporated herein by reference.  
   

      Information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is contained in the Proxy Statement for the Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders of Viad to be held on May 13, 2003, and is incorporated herein by reference.  

      Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans as of December 31, 2002(1)  

   

      None.  
   

      Under the supervision and with the participation of management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, the 
effectiveness of the design and operation of disclosure controls and procedures has been evaluated within 90 days of the filing date of this 
annual report, and, based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that these controls and 
procedures are effective. There were no significant changes in internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect these controls 
subsequent to the date of that evaluation.  

      Disclosure controls and procedures are controls and other procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in 
the reports filed or submitted under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, 
within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. Disclosure controls and procedures include, 
without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in  
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Item 12.      Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

                          
(a) (b) (c) 

Number of securities Number of securities 
to be issued upon Weighted-average remaining available for 

exercise of exercise price future issuance under equity 
outstanding of outstanding compensation plans 

options, options, (excluding securities 
Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights reflected in column (a)) 

Equity compensation plans approved by security 
holders      5,460,465     $ 22.80       4,791,829   

Equity compensation plans not approved by 
security holders      —      —      —  

                      
Total      5,460,465     $ 22.80       4,791,829   
                      

(1)  The number of shares available for grant under the Viad Corp Omnibus Incentive Plan in each calendar year is equal to 2 percent of the 
total number of shares of common stock outstanding as of the first day of each year. Any shares available for grant in a particular 
calendar year which are not granted in such year are added to the shares available for grant in any subsequent calendar year. 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions 

Item 14. Controls and Procedures 
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such reports is accumulated and communicated to management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as 
appropriate to allow timely decision regarding required disclosure.  
   

      The Board of Directors of Viad Corp has determined that Donald E. Kiernan is an audit committee financial expert, and has been 
designated by the Board of Directors as the financial expert serving on Viad Corp’s audit committee, and that Donald E. Kiernan is a Director 
independent of Viad’s management.  

PART IV  
   

           2. None.  

See Exhibit Index.  

None.  
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Item 15. Audit Committee Financial Experts 

Item 16. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Reports on Form 8-K 

  (a)  1.  The financial statements listed in the accompanying Index to Financial Statements are filed as part of this report. 

       3.  The exhibits listed in the accompanying Exhibit Index are filed as part of this report. 

  (b)  Reports on Form 8-K filed since Third Quarter 2002 

       1.  A report on Form 8-K dated November 5, 2002 was filed November 5, 2002 by Viad Corp. The Form 8-K reported, under Item 9 
Regulation FD Disclosure, that on November 5, Robert H. Bohannon, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer and Ellen 
M. Ingersoll, Chief Financial Officer of Viad Corp furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission a certification related to 
Viad’s third quarter 2002 Form 10-Q filed November 5, 2002, pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350. 

  
       2.  A report on Form 8-K, dated January 17, 2003 was filed January 21, 2003 by Viad. The Form 8-K reported, under Item 5, that on 

January 17, 2003, MoneyGram Payment Systems, Inc. (“MoneyGram”), a subsidiary of Travelers Express Company, Inc. 
(“Travelers Express”), announced that one of its subsidiaries had acquired the Travelex Group’s 49 percent interest in MoneyGram 
International Limited, a London-based joint venture owned by the two companies. 

  
       3.  A report on Form 8-K dated January 23, 2003 was filed January 23, 2003 by Viad. The Form 8-K reported, under Item 5, that on 

January 23, 2003, Viad Corp issued a press release announcing its unaudited financial results for the fourth quarter and 2002 fiscal 
year. 

  (c)  Exhibits 

  (d)  Financial Statement Schedules 
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SIGNATURES  

      Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed 
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, in Phoenix, Arizona, on the 28th day of February, 2003.  

      Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:  

Date: February 28, 2003  

Date: February 28, 2003  

Date: February 28, 2003  
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  VIAD CORP 

  By:  /s/ ROBERT H. BOHANNON 

  
  Robert H. Bohannon 

  Chairman of the Board, 

  President and Chief Executive Officer 

  Principal Executive Officer 

  By:  /s/ ROBERT H. BOHANNON 

  
  Robert H. Bohannon 

  Director; Chairman of the Board, 

  President and Chief Executive Officer 

  Principal Financial Officer 

  By:  /s/ ELLEN M. INGERSOLL 

  
  Ellen M. Ingersoll 

  Chief Financial Officer 

  Principal Accounting Officer 

  By:  /s/ G. MICHAEL LATTA 

  
  G. Michael Latta 

  Vice President — Controller 
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Date: February 28, 2003  
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  Directors 

  
  Jess Hay 

  Judith K. Hofer 

  Donald E. Kiernan 

  Robert C. Krueger 

  Jack F. Reichert 

  Linda Johnson Rice 

  Douglas L. Rock 

  Timothy R. Wallace 

  By:  /s/ ELLEN M. INGERSOLL 

  
  Attorney-in-Fact 
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CERTIFICATIONS  
I, Robert H. Bohannon, certify that:  

Date: February 28, 2003  

38  

  1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Viad Corp; 

  
  2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

  
  3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this annual report; 

  
  4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have: 

  a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this 
annual report is being prepared; 

  
  b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing 

date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date” ); and 
  
  c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 

evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 

  5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the 
audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

  a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in 
internal controls; and 

  
  b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal controls; and 

  6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in 
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent 
evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

  By  /s/ ROBERT H. BOHANNON 

  
  Robert H. Bohannon 

  Chairman of the Board, 

  President and Chief Executive Officer 
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I, Ellen M. Ingersoll, certify that:  

Date: February 28, 2003  
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  1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Viad Corp; 

  
  2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 

necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with 
respect to the period covered by this annual report; 

  
  3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report, fairly present in all 

material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in 
this annual report; 

  
  4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 

defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14) for the registrant and we have: 

  a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this 
annual report is being prepared; 

  
  b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures as of a date within 90 days prior to the filing 

date of this annual report (the “Evaluation Date” ); and 
  
  c) presented in this annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures based on our 

evaluation as of the Evaluation Date; 

  5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation, to the registrant’s auditors and the 
audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function): 

  a) all significant deficiencies in the design or operation of internal controls which could adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial data and have identified for the registrant’s auditors any material weaknesses in 
internal controls; and 

  
  b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 

internal controls; and 

  6. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have indicated in this annual report whether or not there were significant changes in 
internal controls or in other factors that could significantly affect internal controls subsequent to the date of our most recent 
evaluation, including any corrective actions with regard to significant deficiencies and material weaknesses. 

  By  /s/ ELLEN M. INGERSOLL 

  
  Ellen M. Ingersoll 

  Chief Financial Officer 
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VIAD CORP  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
                      

December 31, 

2002 2001 

(in thousands, 
except share data) 

Assets                  
Current assets:                  
  Cash and cash equivalents    $ 57,219     $ 46,593   
  Other investments in securities      246,338       169,556   
  Receivables, net      50,818       64,134   
  Inventories      41,839       55,682   
  Deferred income taxes      55,747       45,916   
  Other current assets      35,366       37,036   
              
      487,327       418,917   

  Funds, agent receivables and current maturities of investments 
available or restricted for payment service obligations      1,904,015       1,476,475   

              
  Total current assets      2,391,342       1,895,392   
Investments available or restricted for payment service obligations      6,304,906       5,450,850   
Property and equipment, net      248,099       260,480   
Other investments and assets      49,960       67,715   
Deferred income taxes      112,286       82,764   
Goodwill      549,461       587,365   
Other intangible assets, net      34,474       35,925   
              
Total Assets    $ 9,690,528     $ 8,380,491   
              
Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity                  
Current liabilities:                  
  Short-term bank loans    $ —    $ 457   
  Accounts payable      63,188       60,913   
  Other current liabilities      230,857       196,411   
  Current portion of long-term debt      103,995       42,224   
              
      398,040       300,005   
  Payment service obligations      7,945,760       6,741,291   
              
  Total current liabilities      8,343,800       7,041,296   
Long-term debt      257,662       354,147   
Pension and other postretirement benefits      110,895       94,424   
Derivative financial instruments      126,527       23,568   
Other deferred items and insurance liabilities      133,288       135,420   
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 16 and 17)                  
Minority interests      10,540       5,284   
$4.75 Redeemable preferred stock      6,704       6,679   
Common stock and other equity:                  

  Common stock, $1.50 par value, 200,000,000 shares authorized, 
99,739,925 shares issued      149,610       149,610   

  Additional capital      215,872       225,003   
  Retained income      806,179       762,008   
  Unearned employee benefits and other      (66,143 )     (82,952 ) 
  Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss):                  
    Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities      90,120       29,876   
    Unrealized loss on derivative financial instruments      (150,557 )     (53,875 ) 
    Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustments      (9,655 )     (13,211 ) 
    Minimum pension liability adjustment      (34,274 )     (13,739 ) 
  Common stock in treasury, at cost, 11,638,090 and 10,806,006 shares      (300,040 )     (283,047 ) 
              
  Total common stock and other equity      701,112       719,673   
              



See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Total Liabilities and Stockholders’  Equity    $ 9,690,528     $ 8,380,491   
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VIAD CORP  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

F-2  

                              
Year ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
Revenues:                          
  Convention show services    $ 568,301     $ 604,148     $ 692,843   
  Payment services transaction fees      431,564       393,093       367,733   
  Payment services investment income      370,934       320,800       235,429   
  Exhibit design and construction      217,932       279,896       339,272   
  Hospitality and recreation services      58,253       61,453       91,531   
                    
    Total revenues      1,646,984       1,659,390       1,726,808   
                    
Costs and expenses:                          
  Costs of services      1,227,244       1,202,311       1,216,977   
  Costs of products sold      215,144       280,050       321,197   
  Corporate activities      17,114       12,029       9,783   
  Other investment income      (10,531 )     (5,652 )     (13,115 ) 
  Interest expense      19,268       25,936       25,303   
  Restructuring charges      18,942       62,370       8,165   
  Litigation settlement and costs      —      29,274       —  
  Gain on sale of business      —      —      (10,256 ) 
  Other charges      —      5,000       —  
  Minority interests      5,636       1,326       1,717   
                    
    Total costs and expenses      1,492,817       1,612,644       1,559,771   
                    
Income before income taxes and change in accounting principle      154,167       46,746       167,037   
Income tax expense (benefit)      40,334       (4,388 )     26,218   
                    
Income before change in accounting principle      113,833       51,134       140,819   
Change in accounting principle, net of tax      (37,739 )     —      —  
                    
Net income    $ 76,094     $ 51,134     $ 140,819   
                    
Diluted income per common share                          
Income per share before change in accounting principle    $ 1.30     $ 0.58     $ 1.54   
Change in accounting principle, net of tax      (0.44 )     —      —  
                    
Net income per common share    $ 0.86     $ 0.58     $ 1.54   
                    
Average outstanding and potentially dilutive common shares      86,716       86,322       90,925   
                    
Basic income per common share                          
Income per share before change in accounting principle    $ 1.31     $ 0.58     $ 1.57   
Change in accounting principle, net of tax      (0.44 )     —      —  
                    
Net income per common share    $ 0.87     $ 0.58     $ 1.57   
                    
Average outstanding common shares      86,178       85,503       88,802   
                    
Dividends declared per common share    $ 0.36     $ 0.36     $ 0.36   
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VIAD CORP  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  
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Year ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Net income    $ 76,094     $ 51,134     $ 140,819   
                    
Other comprehensive income (loss):                          
  Unrealized gains on available-for-sale securities:                          

    

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 133 
transition adjustment, effective January 1, 2001, resulting from the 
transfer of securities classified as held-to-maturity to securities 
classified as available-for-sale, net of tax expense of $2,412  

    

—

      

3,772 

      

—

  

    
Holding gains arising during the period, net of tax expense of $44,952, 

$20,914 and $47,797      70,309       32,711       74,759   

    
Reclassification adjustment for net realized gains included in net 

income, net of tax expense of $6,435, $4,643 and $2,610      (10,065 )     (7,263 )     (4,082 ) 
                    
      60,244       29,220       70,677   
                    
  Unrealized losses on derivative financial instruments:                          

    
Cumulative effect of transition adjustment upon initial application of 

SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001, net of tax benefit of $4,796      —      (7,501 )     —  

    Holding losses arising during the period, net of tax benefit of $113,994 
and $50,428      (178,299 )     (78,874 )     —  

    
Net reclassifications from other comprehensive income to net income, 

net of tax benefit of $52,182 and $20,779      81,617       32,500       —  
                    
      (96,682 )     (53,875 )     —  
                    
  Unrealized foreign currency translation gains (losses)      3,556       (4,599 )     (3,677 ) 
                    

  Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax benefit of $11,057, 
$6,432 and $65      (20,535 )     (11,944 )     (121 ) 

                    
  Other comprehensive income (loss)      (53,417 )     (41,198 )     66,879   
                    
Comprehensive income    $ 22,677     $ 9,936     $ 207,698   
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VIAD CORP  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

                              
Year ended December 31, 

2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Cash flows from operating activities                          
Net income    $ 76,094     $ 51,134     $ 140,819   
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating 

activities:                          
  Depreciation and amortization      51,483       69,096       68,600   
  Deferred income taxes      4,369       (36,480 )     12,705   
  Change in accounting principle      40,000       —      —  
  Restructuring charges and other items      18,942       96,644       8,165   
  Gains on dispositions of businesses, property and other assets      (18,097 )     (12,277 )     (17,619 ) 
  Other noncash items, net      10,710       10,206       879   
  Change in operating assets and liabilities:                          
    Receivables      7,176       38,291       (68,708 ) 
    Inventories      10,982       10,794       (4,740 ) 
    Accounts payable      2,275       (20,233 )     (8,500 ) 
    Other assets and liabilities, net      15,220       10,222       (31,473 ) 
                    
      219,154       217,397       100,128   
  Change in payment service assets and obligations, net      794,243       1,774,193       413,765   
                    
Net cash provided by operating activities      1,013,397       1,991,590       513,893   
                    
Cash flows from investing activities                          
Capital expenditures      (40,227 )     (49,783 )     (45,206 ) 
Acquisitions of businesses, net of cash acquired      —      (865 )     (28,868 ) 
Proceeds from dispositions of businesses, property and other assets      3,040       1,040       44,276   
Proceeds from sales and maturities of available-for-sale securities      2,494,238       2,074,719       1,530,519   
Proceeds from maturities of held-to-maturity securities      745,387       464,608       60,280   
Purchases of available-for-sale securities      (3,341,956 )     (3,527,968 )     (1,371,135 ) 
Purchases of held-to-maturity securities      (775,670 )     (848,823 )     (594,405 ) 
Cash provided by discontinued operations      —      —      10,585   
                    
Net cash used in investing activities      (915,188 )     (1,887,072 )     (393,954 ) 
                    
Cash flows from financing activities                          
Payments on long-term borrowings      (44,039 )     (68,316 )     (32,751 ) 
Net change in short-term borrowings      6,543       18,288       90,314   
Dividends paid on common and preferred stock      (32,149 )     (31,995 )     (33,092 ) 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options      10,371       16,422       11,945   
Purchases of common stock for treasury      (28,309 )     (34,622 )     (147,163 ) 
                    
Net cash used in financing activities      (87,583 )     (100,223 )     (110,747 ) 
                    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents      10,626       4,295       9,192   
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year      46,593       42,298       33,106   
                    
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year    $ 57,219     $ 46,593     $ 42,298   
                    
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information                          
  Cash paid (refunded) during the year for:                          
    Income taxes    $ 9,661     $ (16,429 )   $ 11,261   
                    
    Interest    $ 18,569     $ 27,118     $ 22,910   
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VIAD CORP  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMMON STOCK AND OTHER E QUITY  

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.  

F-5  

                                                          
Unearned Accumulated 
Employee Other Common 

Common Additional Retained Benefits Comprehensive Stock in 
Stock Capital Income and Other Income (loss) Treasury Total 

(in thousands) 
Balance, December 31, 1999    $ 149,610     $ 289,798     $ 634,599     $ (129,818 )   $ (76,630 )   $ (167,667 )   $ 699,892   
Net income      —      —      140,819       —      —      —      140,819   
Dividends on common and preferred stock      —      —      (33,092 )     —      —      —      (33,092 ) 
Employee benefit plans      —      (27,200 )     —      18,051       —      32,255       23,106   
Employee Equity Trust adjustment to market value      —      (16,963 )     —      16,963       —      —      —  
Treasury shares acquired      —      —      —      —      —      (147,163 )     (147,163 ) 
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment      —      —      —      —      (3,677 )     —      (3,677 ) 
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities      —      —      —      —      70,677       —      70,677   
Minimum pension liability adjustment      —      —      —      —      (121 )     —      (121 ) 
Other, net      —      (1 )     289       —      —      1       289   
                                            
Balance, December 31, 2000      149,610       245,634       742,615       (94,804 )     (9,751 )     (282,574 )     750,730   
Transition adjustment, effective January 1, 2001, upon 

initial application of SFAS No. 133      
—

      
—

      
—

      
—

      
(3,729 ) 

    
—

      
(3,729 ) 

Net income      —      —      51,134       —      —      —      51,134   
Dividends on common and preferred stock      —      —      (31,995 )     —      —      —      (31,995 ) 
Employee benefit plans      —      (23,009 )     —      14,230       —      34,149       25,370   
Employee Equity Trust adjustment to market value      —      2,378       —      (2,378 )     —      —      —  
Treasury shares acquired      —      —      —      —      —      (34,622 )     (34,622 ) 
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment      —      —      —      —      (4,599 )     —      (4,599 ) 
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities      —      —      —      —      25,448       —      25,448   
Unrealized loss on derivative financial instruments      —      —      —      —      (46,374 )     —      (46,374 ) 
Minimum pension liability adjustment      —      —      —      —      (11,944 )     —      (11,944 ) 
Other, net      —      —      254       —      —      —      254   
                                            
Balance, December 31, 2001      149,610       225,003       762,008       (82,952 )     (50,949 )     (283,047 )     719,673   
Net income      —      —      76,094       —      —      —      76,094   
Dividends on common and preferred stock      —      —      (32,149 )     —      —      —      (32,149 ) 
Employee benefit plans      —      (7,884 )     —      15,567       —      11,311       18,994   
Employee Equity Trust adjustment to market value      —      (1,242 )     —      1,242       —      —      —  
Treasury shares acquired      —      —      —      —      —      (28,309 )     (28,309 ) 
Unrealized foreign currency translation adjustment      —      —      —      —      3,556       —      3,556   
Unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities      —      —      —      —      60,244       —      60,244   
Unrealized loss on derivative financial instruments      —      —      —      —      (96,682 )     —      (96,682 ) 
Minimum pension liability adjustment      —      —      —      —      (20,535 )     —      (20,535 ) 
Other, net      —      (5 )     226       —      —      5       226   
                                            
Balance, December 31, 2002    $ 149,610     $ 215,872     $ 806,179     $ (66,143 )   $ (104,366 )   $ (300,040 )   $ 701,112   

                                            



Table of Contents  

VIAD CORP  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
Years ended December 31, 2002, 2001, and 2000  

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

      Nature of Business. Viad Corp (“Viad”) is comprised of operating companies and a division which operate in two principal business 
segments: Payment Services and Convention and Event Services. The Payment Services segment issues and processes money orders, official 
checks and share drafts and provides same-day bill payment and cash access services throughout the United States. The segment also provides 
money transfer services throughout the world. The Convention and Event Services segment provides convention show services including 
transportation, installation, dismantling and management services to trade associations, show management companies and exhibitors 
throughout North America. The segment also provides design, construction, installation and warehousing of convention and tradeshow exhibits 
and displays to customers primarily in the United States and to a lesser extent in certain foreign locations. Viad also operates travel and 
recreation businesses in the northern United States and Canada.  

      Principles of Consolidation. The Consolidated Financial Statements of Viad include the accounts of Viad and all of its subsidiaries 
(including special-purpose entities). All significant intercompany account balances and transactions between Viad and its subsidiaries have 
been eliminated in consolidation.  

      Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 
of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements 
and accompanying notes. These estimates and assumptions include, but are not limited to:  

Actual results could differ from these and other estimates.  

      Reclassifications. Certain reclassifications have been made to prior years’ financial statements to conform to the current year presentation.  

      Cash and Cash Equivalents. Viad considers all highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash 
equivalents. Certain cash equivalents are classified in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as “Other investments in securities” based on their 
intended use. See Note 4.  

      Other Investments in Securities. Viad’s corporate investment securities (excluding securities held by Viad’s Payment Services 
subsidiaries) are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets under the caption, “Other investments in securities.” This caption includes money 
market funds and other investments. These other investments are classified as available-for-sale and reported at fair market value with 
unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component of “Accumulated other comprehensive 
income (loss).” Interest and other income on these investments are included in the Consolidated Statements of Income as “Other investment 
income.” The specific identification method is used to determine the cost basis of securities sold.  

      Investments Available or Restricted for Payment Service Obligations. Viad’s Payment Services subsidiaries generate funds from the 
sale of official checks, money orders and other payment instruments, with the related liabilities classified in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as 
“Payment service obligations.”  

F-6  

  —  Estimated fair value of Viad’s reporting units used to perform annual impairment testing of recorded goodwill 

  
  —  Estimated provisions for losses related to self-insured liability claims 

  
  —  Projected benefit obligations and expense associated with pension and postretirement benefit plans 

  
  —  Estimated fair value of financial instruments, including the identification of other-than-temporary declines in the value of securities 

  
  —  Estimated fair value of derivative financial instruments 
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VIAD CORP  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  

Substantially all of the proceeds of such sales are invested in permissible securities, principally high-quality debt instruments. These 
investments, along with related cash and funds in transit, are restricted by the Payment Services segment to the extent that they represent 
proceeds from the sale of payment instruments for use by the subsidiaries to satisfy the liability to pay, upon presentment, the face amount of 
the payment service obligations. In addition, certain other assets of the Payment Services subsidiaries are available if necessary to meet such 
obligations. Such assets are not available to satisfy working capital or other financing requirements of Viad. Investment securities are included 
in the Consolidated Balance Sheets under the caption, “Investments available or restricted for payment service obligations.” Certain additional 
assets of the Payment Services subsidiaries relating to payment service obligations, including cash on hand, funds in transit from agents, and 
securities expected to be sold or maturing within one year, are included under the caption, “Funds, agent receivables and current maturities of 
investments available or restricted for payment service obligations.” Investment securities available or restricted for Payment Service 
obligations are classified as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity. Securities being held for indefinite periods of time, including those which 
may be sold to assist in the clearing of payment service obligations or in the management of investments, are classified as available-for-sale 
securities and reported at fair market value with unrealized gains and losses, net of tax, included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a 
component of “Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).” The specific identification method is used to determine the cost basis of 
securities sold. Securities classified as held-to-maturity consist of securities that management has the ability and intent to hold to maturity and 
are reported at amortized cost. Interest income and realized gains and losses on the disposition of these investments are included in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income as “Payment services investment income.”  

      Viad’s investments consist primarily of mortgage-backed securities, other asset-backed securities (collateralized by various types of loans 
and leases), state and municipal government obligations and corporate debt securities. Investments are considered to be impaired when a 
decline in fair value is judged to be other-than-temporary. Viad employs a methodology that considers available evidence in evaluating 
potential impairment of its investments including the duration and extent to which the fair value is less than book value; Viad’s ability and 
intent to hold the investment; the security rating; the underlying collateral and other factors that influence projected future cash flows. When an 
other-than-temporary impairment occurs, investments are written down to fair market value. Subsequent increases in value are treated as an 
adjustment of yield.  

      Viad regularly monitors credit and market risk exposures and attempts to mitigate the likelihood of these exposures resulting in actual loss. 
Although the Payment Services investment portfolio exposes Viad to certain credit risks, Viad believes the high quality of its investments 
reduces this risk (approximately 97 percent of the investments at December 31, 2002, have an investment grade rating of A or higher or are 
collateralized by federal agency securities).  

      As described in Note 9, a Payment Services subsidiary uses swap agreements to hedge a substantial portion of the variable rate commission 
payments to its financial institution customers of its official check product and the net proceeds of selling receivables from its bill payment and 
money order agents. The swap agreements effectively convert such variable rates to fixed rates. The fair value of such swap agreements 
generally increases when market values of fixed rate, long-term debt investments decline and vice versa. The reported fair value of these 
derivative financial instruments represents the estimated amount that Viad would pay to counterparties to terminate the swap agreements.  

      Normally, the swap agreements will not be terminated prior to maturity, nor is there any requirement to sell long-term debt securities prior 
to maturity, as the funds flow from ongoing sales of money orders and other payment instruments and funds from maturing short-term and 
long-term investments are expected to be adequate to settle payment service obligations as they are presented. In addition, Viad’s Payment 
Services subsidiaries have various lines of credit, overdraft facilities and reverse repurchase agreements totaling $1.95 billion available to assist 
in the management of investments and the clearing of payment service  
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obligations. Amounts outstanding under reverse repurchase agreements are required to be collateralized by securities. No amounts were 
outstanding under these arrangements at December 31, 2002 or 2001.  

      The following represents a summary of asset and liability carrying amounts related to the payment service obligations, along with the fair 
value of related swap agreements at December 31:  

      Inventories. Inventories, which consist primarily of exhibit design and construction materials and supplies used in providing convention 
show services, are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out and specific identification methods) or market.  

      Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and any impairment write-downs 
pursuant to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived 
Assets.” Property and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets: buildings, 15 to 
40 years; equipment, 3 to 10 years; and leasehold improvements, over the shorter of the lease term or useful life.  

      Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets. Effective January 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer amortized but instead is subject to periodic 
impairment testing in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” See Note 7. Intangible assets with finite lives 
are stated at cost, net of accumulated amortization and are tested for impairment in accordance with SFAS No. 144. These assets are amortized 
on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives or periods of expected benefit, but not in excess of 20 years. Intangible assets with 
indefinite lives are no longer amortized but instead are subject to periodic impairment testing in accordance with SFAS No. 142.  

      Incentive and Other Upfront Payments. Viad’s Payment Services subsidiaries make incentive payments to certain money order and 
money transfer agents and financial institution customers of its official check products to enter into long-term contracts. Payments made are 
generally refundable in the event of non-performance or cancellation. These payments are deferred and amortized over the life of the related 
agent or financial institution contracts as management is satisfied that such costs are recoverable through future operations, minimums, 
penalties or refunds in case of early termination. Amortization expense associated with these payments is recorded under the caption “Costs of 
services” in the Consolidated Statements of Income.  

      Certain upfront payments incurred by Viad’s Convention and Event Services segment in connection with long-term contracts consist of 
incentive fees and prepaid commissions and are amortized over the life of the related contract. Incentive and other upfront payments are 
classified on the Consolidated Balance Sheets  
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2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Funds, agent receivables and current maturities of investments 

available or restricted for payment service obligations    $ 1,904,015     $ 1,476,475   
Investments available or restricted for payment service obligations

(1)      6,304,906       5,422,899   

Payment service obligations(1)      (7,825,954 )     (6,649,722 ) 
Fair value of derivative financial instruments(1)      (246,333 )     (87,187 ) 
              
Total    $ 136,634     $ 162,465   
              

(1)  The current liability portions of derivative financial instruments of $119.8 million and $91.6 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, 
respectively, are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets under the caption “Payment service obligations.” The long-term asset 
portion of derivative financial instruments of $28.0 million at December 31, 2001 is included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets under 
the caption “ Investments available or restricted for payment service obligations.”  
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under the caption, “Other current assets” for the current portion and “Other investments and assets” for the non-current portion.  

      Viad reviews the carrying values of its incentive and other upfront payments for possible impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable in accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 144. Incentive and 
other upfront payments which become refundable are recorded as accounts receivable and evaluated for collectibility in accordance with Viad’s 
credit policies.  

      Insurance Liabilities. Viad is self-insured up to certain limits for workers’ compensation, automobile, product and general liability, 
property loss and medical claims. Viad has also retained and provided for certain insurance liabilities in conjunction with the sales of 
businesses. Provisions for losses for claims incurred, including estimated claims incurred but not yet reported, are made based on Viad’s prior 
historical experience, claims frequency and other factors. Viad has purchased insurance for amounts in excess of the self-insured levels.  

      Derivative Financial Instruments. Viad uses derivative financial instruments as part of its risk management strategy to manage exposure 
to fluctuations in interest and foreign currency rates. Derivatives are not used for speculative purposes. Viad records derivative financial 
instruments in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as assets or liabilities at fair value. Amounts receivable or payable under derivative swap 
agreements used to hedge exposure of interest rate changes on variable rate commission payments and net proceeds from agent receivables 
sales are accrued and recognized as an adjustment to the expense of the related transaction. The derivatives are recorded as either assets or 
liabilities on the balance sheet at fair value, with the change in fair value recognized in earnings or in other comprehensive income depending 
on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. Derivatives that do not qualify as hedges are reflected at fair value, 
with changes in value recognized through earnings. Forward derivative contracts used to hedge assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recorded on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, with the change in fair value reflected in earnings. The effect of 
changes in foreign exchange rates on the foreign-denominated receivables and payables, net of the effect of the related forward contracts, was 
not significant.  

      Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, receivables, accounts payable and payment 
service obligations approximate fair value due to the short-term maturities of these instruments. The fair value of investments in debt and 
equity securities is disclosed in Notes 4 and 5. The estimated fair value of debt and derivative financial instruments is disclosed in Notes 8 and 
9, respectively. Considerable judgment is required in interpreting market data and assumptions used to develop the estimates of fair value. 
Accordingly, the estimates presented may not be indicative of the amounts that Viad could realize in a current market exchange. The use of 
different market assumptions or valuation methodologies could have a material effect on the estimated fair value amounts.  

      Revenue Recognition. Viad’s revenue recognition policies are as follows:  

      The Payment Services segment derives revenues primarily through transaction fees charged to consumers on the sale of MoneyGram’s 
money transfers, retail money order and bill payment products and through investment income earned on investments available or restricted for 
the settlement of payment service obligations (primarily official checks and money orders). Transaction fees are nonrefundable and are 
recognized in the period the item is sold.  

      Investment income is recognized as it is earned and includes investment interest and dividends, and realized gains and losses on the sale of 
investments. Viad includes investment income on investments available or restricted for payment service obligations in revenues as the 
generation of investment income is core to the earnings process of its Payment Services segment and is an ongoing major and central operation 
of this segment.  
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      The Payment Services segment also earns foreign exchange revenue from the management of currency exchange spreads (as a percentage 
of face value of the transaction) on international money transfer transactions. Foreign exchange revenue is recognized at the time the exchange 
in funds occurs and is classified as “Payment services transaction fees” in the Consolidated Statements of Income.  

      The Convention and Event Services segment derives revenues primarily by providing show services to vendors at conventions and from the 
design and construction of exhibit booths. Service revenue is recognized at the time services are performed. Exhibit design and construction 
revenue is generally accounted for using the completed-contract method as contracts are typically completed within three months of contract 
signing.  

      Viad’s Travel and Recreation Services businesses recognize revenues at the time services are performed.  

      Stock-Based Compensation. As permitted by SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” Viad uses the intrinsic value 
method prescribed by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related 
interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans.  

      Assuming Viad had recognized compensation cost for stock options and performance-based and restricted stock awards in accordance with 
the fair value method of accounting defined in SFAS No. 123, income before change in accounting principle and diluted and basic income per 
share before change in accounting principle would be as presented in the table below. Compensation cost calculated under SFAS No. 123 is 
recognized ratably over the vesting period and is net of estimated forfeitures and the tax benefit on the exercise of nonqualified stock options.  

      For purposes of applying SFAS No. 123, the estimated fair value of stock options granted during 2002, 2001, and 2000 was $8.47, $7.25, 
and $8.15 per share, respectively. The fair value of each stock option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option 
pricing model with the following assumptions:  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
Income before change in accounting principle as reported    $ 113,833     $ 51,134     $ 140,819   
Expense related to stock options determined under fair value based 

methods, net of tax      (7,616 )     (5,975 )     (5,451 ) 
                    
Pro forma income before change in accounting principle    $ 106,217     $ 45,159     $ 135,368   
                    
Diluted income per share before change in accounting principle:                          
  As reported    $ 1.30     $ 0.58     $ 1.54   
                    
  Pro forma    $ 1.22     $ 0.51     $ 1.48   
                    
Basic income per share before change in accounting principle:                          
  As reported    $ 1.31     $ 0.58     $ 1.57   
                    
  Pro forma    $ 1.22     $ 0.51     $ 1.51   
                    

                          
2002 2001 2000 

Expected dividend yield      1.3 %     1.5 %     1.5 % 
Expected volatility      30.1 %     30.4 %     29.1 % 
Risk-free interest rate      4.92 %     4.80 %     6.85 % 
Expected life      5 years       5 years       5 years   
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      Net Income Per Common Share. Viad funds its matching contributions to employees’ 401(k) plans through a leveraged Employee Stock 
Ownership Plan (“ESOP”). ESOP shares are treated as outstanding for net income per share calculations. The Employee Equity Trust (the 
“Trust”) is used to fund certain existing employee compensation and benefit plans. Shares held by the Trust are not considered outstanding for 
net income per share calculations until the shares are released from the Trust.  

      Recent Accounting Pronouncements. In November 2001, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on Issue No. 01-
14, “Income Statement Characterization of Reimbursements Received for ‘Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred” (“EITF No. 01-14”), which 
became effective for Viad on January 1, 2002. Under EITF No. 01-14, reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses incurred are 
characterized as revenue in the income statement. Upon adoption of EITF No. 01-14, comparative financial statements for prior periods should 
be reclassified to comply with the current presentation. Viad has historically accounted for the reimbursement of out-of-pocket expenses 
incurred similar to EITF No. 01-14 and, therefore, the adoption of EITF No. 01-14 did not impact Viad’s consolidated financial statements.  

      In January 2002, Viad adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS No. 142 specifies that goodwill and certain 
intangibles with indefinite lives no longer be amortized but instead be subject to periodic impairment testing. See Note 7 for discussion of 
transitional impairment loss related to goodwill recognized in connection with the adoption of SFAS No. 142.  

      In August 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal 
of Long-Lived Assets” (effective for Viad on January 1, 2002). SFAS No. 144 supersedes existing accounting guidance on asset impairment 
under SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of” and the 
accounting and reporting provisions of APB Opinion No. 30, “Reporting the Results of Operations — Reporting the Effects of Disposal of a 
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusual and Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS No. 144 requires that one 
accounting model be used for long-lived assets to be disposed of by sale, whether previously held and used or newly acquired. Among other 
provisions, the new rules change the criteria for classifying an asset as held-for-sale. The standard also broadens the scope of businesses to be 
disposed of that qualify for reporting as discontinued operations, and changes the timing of recognizing losses on such operations. The 
adoption of SFAS No. 144 did not have a material impact on Viad’s financial position or results of operations.  

      In April 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 145, “Rescission of FASB Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB Statement 
No. 13, and Technical Corrections.” This Statement rescinds SFAS No. 4, “Reporting Gains and Losses from Extinguishment of Debt,” SFAS 
No. 44, “Accounting for Intangible Assets of Motor Carriers” and SFAS No. 64, “Extinguishment of Debt Made to Satisfy Sinking Fund 
Requirements.” This statement also amends SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases,” to eliminate an inconsistency between the required 
accounting for sale-leaseback transactions and the required accounting for certain lease modifications that have economic effects that are 
similar to sale-leaseback transactions. Viad adopted SFAS No. 145 during 2002. The adoption of SFAS No. 145 did not have a material impact 
on Viad’s financial position or results of operations.  

      In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities.” This statement requires 
companies to recognize costs associated with exit or disposal activities when they are incurred rather than at the date of a commitment to an 
exit or disposal plan. SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or disposal activities initiated after December 31, 2002. Viad has adopted this new 
standard effective January 1, 2003, but as it has no planned 2003 exit or disposal activities, the impact on the future financial position or results 
of operations cannot presently be determined.  

      In November 2002, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 45, “Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guarantees, 
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of Others.” This interpretation  
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sets forth expanded disclosure requirements in the financial statements about a guarantor’s obligations under certain guarantees that it has 
issued. It also clarifies that, under certain circumstances, a guarantor is required to recognize a liability for the fair value of the obligation at the 
inception of the guarantee. Certain types of guarantees, such as product warranties, guarantees accounted for as derivatives, and guarantees 
related to parent-subsidiary relationships are excluded from the liability recognition provisions of Interpretation No. 45, however, they are 
subject to the disclosure requirements. The initial liability recognition provisions are applicable on a prospective basis to guarantees issued or 
modified after December 31, 2002. The disclosure requirements of Interpretation No. 45 are effective for financial statements for interim or 
annual periods ending after December 15, 2002. In accordance with Interpretation No. 45, Viad has included the required disclosures relating to 
its guarantees in the financial statements as of December 31, 2002 (see Note 17). Viad’s guarantees principally relate to a parent’s guarantee of 
a subsidiary’s debt to a third party, and would therefore, be excluded from liability recognition at inception. Viad has not yet determined if the 
adoption of the new rules will have any material impact on its financial position or results of operations.  

      In December 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure.” This 
statement amends SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” to provide alternative methods of transition for an entity that 
voluntarily changes to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure 
provisions of SFAS No. 123 to require prominent disclosure about the effects on reported net income of an entity’s accounting policy decisions 
with respect to stock-based employee compensation. This statement also amends APB Opinion No. 28, “Interim Financial Reporting” to 
require disclosure about those effects in interim financial statements. SFAS No. 148 is effective for financial statements for fiscal years ending 
after December 15, 2002. Viad has elected not to voluntarily change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation 
at this time. Viad has included the additional disclosure requirements in Notes 1 and 13.  

      In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities,” an interpretation of Accounting 
Research Bulletin No. 51, “Consolidated Financial Statements.” Interpretation No. 46 prescribes how to identify variable interest entities and 
how an enterprise assesses its interests in a variable interest entity to decide whether to consolidate that entity. This interpretation requires 
existing unconsolidated variable interest entities to be consolidated by their primary beneficiaries if the entities do not effectively disperse risks 
among parties involved. Interpretation No. 46 is effective immediately for variable interest entities created after January 31, 2003, and to 
variable interest entities in which an enterprise obtains an interest after that date. The interpretation applies in the first fiscal year or interim 
period beginning after June 15, 2003, to variable interest entities in which an enterprise holds a variable interest that it acquired before 
February 1, 2003. Viad has not yet determined if the adoption of Interpretation No. 46 will have a material impact on its financial position or 
results of operations.  

Note 2.     Restructuring Charges, Litigation Settlement and Other Items  

      Restructuring Charges. During 2002, the Convention and Event Services segment continued to experience tradeshow shrinkage and 
further declines in the demand for the design and construction of new exhibits. This decline was due to diminished corporate spending and the 
continued downturn in the general economy as many exhibitors elected to reuse or refurbish existing exhibits rather than placing new orders. 
As a result of decreased visibility over revenues and continued uncertainties regarding improvements in the trade show industry, the exhibit 
construction and design business revised its forecasted demand and reevaluated its manufacturing capacity requirements and cost structure 
during the fourth quarter of 2002. Accordingly, Viad approved a plan of restructuring and recorded a charge totaling $20.5 million in the fourth 
quarter of 2002. Of the total restructuring charge, $19.3 million was included in the Consolidated Statements of Income under the caption 
“Restructuring charges” and $1.2 million relating to consulting fees incurred and the write-down of certain inventories was included under the 
caption “Cost of products sold.” Viad recorded the restructuring  
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charge pursuant to the accounting methods contained in EITF No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and 
Other Costs to Exit an Activity,” and SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 100, “Accounting for Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal 
Activities.” Viad did not elect to early adopt the requirements provided in SFAS No. 146.  

      The charges consist of costs associated with the closure and consolidation of certain facilities, severance and other employee benefits 
related to the elimination of approximately 230 positions across numerous regions, business functions and job classes. The charges also include 
amounts for the write-down (net of estimated proceeds) of certain inventories and fixed assets, facility closure and lease termination costs (less 
estimated sublease income) and other exit costs. The inventory write-downs were based on estimated net realizable value. Impairment losses 
related to fixed assets were determined based on the estimated fair value of the specific assets relative to their carrying amounts. Facility 
closure and lease termination costs were based on the estimated incremental costs to be incurred and the contractual obligation amounts in 
connection with the affected facilities under the restructuring plan (less estimated sublease income). Viad expects to substantially complete the 
restructuring activities by December 31, 2003, however, payments due under the long-term lease obligations will continue to be made over the 
remaining terms of the lease agreements.  

      A summary of the above restructuring charge, amounts utilized and remaining accrued liability balance is as follows:  

      In 2001, due to the downturn in the economy and the general decrease in corporate spending, many customers delayed or canceled exhibit 
construction or elected to refurbish exhibits. Furthermore, general convention attendance declined in response to the uncertain economy and 
travel concerns. As a result, Viad approved a plan of restructuring and in the third quarter of 2001 recorded restructuring charges totaling 
$66.1 million, of which 93 percent related to the Convention and Event Services segment. The restructuring charges were associated with the 
closure and consolidation of certain facilities, severance and other employee benefits of which $3.7 million (relating to the write-down of 
certain inventories) was included in the Consolidated Statements of Income under the caption “Cost of products sold.” The remaining 
$62.4 million was classified under the caption “Restructuring charges.” All facilities were closed or consolidated and all positions had been 
eliminated as of December 31, 2002. Payments under long-term lease obligations, however, will continue to be made over the remaining terms 
of the leases. Severance and benefits payments will continue to be made over the varying terms of the individual separation agreements. In the 
third quarter of 2002, $413,000 of the 2001 restructuring charge was reversed as certain actual costs incurred were less than original estimates. 
The reversal was included in the Consolidated Statements of Income under the caption “Restructuring charges.”  
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Facility Closure 

Severance and Lease Asset 
and Benefits Termination(1) Impairment Other Total 

(in thousands) 
Initial restructuring charge    $ 2,911     $ 12,814     $ 4,140     $ 650     $ 20,515   
Cash payments      —      —      —      (650 )     (650 ) 
Noncash write-downs(2)      —      —      (4,140 )     —      (4,140 ) 
                                
Balance at December 31, 2002    $ 2,911     $ 12,814     $ —    $ —    $ 15,725   
                                

(1)  Amount net of estimated sublease income of $3.9 million. 
  
(2)  Relates primarily to the write-down of leasehold improvements, manufacturing-related equipment and inventory. 
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      A summary of the 2001 restructuring charges, amounts utilized and remaining accrued liability balance is as follows:  

      In the third quarter of 2000, Viad recorded a charge of $8.2 million to streamline and consolidate certain operations in Viad’s Convention 
and Event Services segment. In addition to costs related to reductions in headcount, the charge included the write-down of certain fixed assets 
and facility closure costs. No accrued liability relating to this restructuring remained at either December 31, 2002 or 2001.  

      Litigation Settlement and Costs. In August 2000, Key3Media Group, Inc. (“Key3Media”), a company spun off by Ziff-Davis Inc., 
terminated a long-term agreement with GES Exposition Services, Inc. (“GES”) to produce tradeshows. The companies had been involved in 
litigation regarding the contract termination. The key issues in the litigation related to the interpretation of certain contract terms and the scope 
of free services required of GES. During the second quarter of 2001, after both sides assessed the business market, the risks and demands of the 
litigation and the need to move forward on a productive basis, GES and Key3Media agreed to settle the litigation. As a result, Viad recorded a 
noncash charge totaling $29.3 million ($18.3 million after-tax) in the second quarter of 2001 representing primarily the write-off of net 
receivables and prepayments made to Key3Media.  

      Gain on Sale of Business. In July 2000, Viad sold its concession operations at America West Arena and Bank One Ballpark in Phoenix, 
Arizona. Viad recorded a gain of $10.3 million ($5.7 million after-tax) on the sale, after deducting costs of sale and related expense provisions. 
The results of operations of the sold business are included in the “Sold travel and recreation businesses” category of Note 19.  

      Other Charges. In the third quarter of 2001, Viad’s payment services subsidiary, Travelers Express Company, Inc. (“Travelers Express”) 
recorded a charge totaling $5.0 million ($3.0 million after-tax) resulting from the bankruptcy of a large money order agent in September 2001.  

Note 3.     Acquisitions of Businesses  

      During 2000, Viad purchased a small Convention and Event Services company. In 1999, Viad purchased a 71 percent interest in a small 
Travel and Recreation Services company and in 2001 and 2000 the remaining minority interest was acquired. The acquisitions were accounted 
for as purchases. The purchase prices, including acquisition costs, were allocated to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired 
based on estimated fair values at the dates of the acquisitions. The difference between the purchase prices and the  
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Facility Closure 

Severance and Lease Asset 
and Benefits Termination Impairment Other Total 

(in thousands) 
Initial restructuring charge    $ 13,914     $ 30,252     $ 20,322     $ 1,612     $ 66,100   
Cash payments      (6,907 )     (2,335 )     —      (1,612 )     (10,854 ) 
Noncash write-downs(1)      —      —      (20,322 )     —      (20,322 ) 
                                
Balance at December 31, 2001      7,007       27,917       —      —      34,924   
Cash payments      (5,712 )     (8,962 )     —      —      (14,674 ) 
Adjustment to severance liability      (413 )     —      —      —      (413 ) 
Noncash write-downs(2)      —      (205 )     —      —      (205 ) 
                                
Balance at December 31, 2002    $ 882     $ 18,750     $ —    $ —    $ 19,632   
                                

(1)  Relates primarily to the write-down of leasehold improvements, manufacturing and other equipment and inventory. 
  
(2)  Relates to write-off of remaining leasehold improvements. 
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related fair values of net assets acquired represents goodwill. No acquisitions were made during 2002. In January 2003, a Viad Payment 
Services subsidiary completed the acquisition of the 49 percent minority interest in an international money transfer services joint venture. See 
Note 18.  

      The accompanying financial statements include the accounts and results of operations from the dates of acquisition. The results of 
operations of the acquired companies from the beginning of the year to the dates of acquisition are not material to the consolidated results of 
operations.  

      Net cash paid, the estimated fair value of assets acquired and debt and other liabilities assumed for the years ended December 31 were as 
follows:  

Note 4.     Other Investments in Securities  

      Viad’s investment securities (excluding securities held by Viad’s Payment Services’ subsidiaries) that are being held pending Viad’s use to 
fund strategic acquisitions, purchase treasury shares or reduce debt obligations are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets under the 
caption, “Other investments in securities.” Certain investments with original maturities of three months or less, consisting of money market 
investments, are also included under this caption.  

      A summary of other investments in securities at December 31, 2002 is presented below:  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Assets acquired:                          
  Property and equipment    $ —    $ —    $ 791   
  Intangibles, primarily goodwill      —      865       30,245   
  Other assets      —      —      12,402   
Debt and other liabilities assumed      —      —      (14,570 ) 
                    
Net cash paid    $ —    $ 865     $ 28,868   
                    

                                    
Gross Gross 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized 
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value 

(in thousands) 
Money market funds    $ 38,690     $ —    $ —    $ 38,690   
Securities classified as available-for-sale:                                  
  U.S. Government agencies      50,762       110       —      50,872   
  Corporate debt securities      55,603       36       —      55,639   
  Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities      100,497       640       —      101,137   
                          
    $ 245,552     $ 786     $ —    $ 246,338   
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      A summary of other investments in securities at December 31, 2001 is presented below:  

      The net unrealized holding gain of $479,000 (net of a deferred tax liability of $307,000) at December 31, 2002 and the net unrealized 
holding loss of $67,000 (net of a deferred tax asset of $42,000) at December 31, 2001, are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a 
component of “Accumulated other comprehensive income.”  

      Maturities of mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities depend on the repayment characteristics and experience of the underlying 
obligations. There were no gains or losses realized during 2002, 2001 or 2000.  

Note 5.     Investments Available or Restricted for Payment Service Obligations  

      Securities Classified as Available-for-Sale. A summary of securities classified as available-for-sale at December 31, 2002 is presented 
below:  
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Gross Gross 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized 
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value 

(in thousands) 
Money market funds    $ 118,021     $ —    $ —    $ 118,021   
Securities classified as available-for-sale:                                  
  Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities      51,644       —      (109 )     51,535   
                          
    $ 169,665     $ —    $ (109 )   $ 169,556   
                          

                                  
Gross Gross 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair 
Cost Gains Losses Value 

(in thousands) 
U.S. Government agencies    $ 171,132     $ 1,670     $ (1 )   $ 172,801   
Obligations of states and political subdivisions      715,149       44,420       (1 )     759,568   
Corporate debt securities      301,283       15,590       (927 )     315,946   
Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities      3,452,718       110,291       (19,606 )     3,543,403   
Debt securities issued by foreign governments      4,997       127       —      5,124   
Preferred stock and other      97,074       583       (5,193 )     92,464   
                          
Securities classified as available-for-sale    $ 4,742,353     $ 172,681     $ (25,728 )   $ 4,889,306   
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      A summary of securities classified as available-for-sale at December 31, 2001 is presented below:  

      The net unrealized holding gains of $89.6 million (net of a deferred tax liability of $57.4 million) and $29.9 million (net of a deferred tax 
liability of $19.2 million) at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets as a component of 
“Accumulated other comprehensive income.” Gross gains of $20.6 million, $15.8 million, and $6.7 million were realized during 2002, 2001, 
and 2000, respectively. Gross losses of $4.1 million, $3.9 million, and $46,000 were realized during 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.  

      Securities Classified as Held-to-Maturity. A summary of securities classified as held-to-maturity at December 31, 2002 is presented 
below:  
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Gross Gross 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair 
Cost Gains Losses Value 

(in thousands) 
U.S. Government agencies    $ 19,672     $ 107     $ (68 )   $ 19,711   
Obligations of states and political subdivisions      734,865       11,320       (3,372 )     742,813   
Corporate debt securities      186,192       4,339       (941 )     189,590   
Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities      2,881,620       57,750       (17,853 )     2,921,517   
Debt securities issued by foreign governments      4,991       200       —      5,191   
Preferred stock and other      120,631       761       (3,156 )     118,236   
                          
Securities classified as available-for-sale    $ 3,947,971     $ 74,477     $ (25,390 )   $ 3,997,058   
                          

                                  
Gross Gross 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair 
Cost Gains Losses Value 

(in thousands) 
U.S. Government agencies    $ 36,375     $ 320     $ —    $ 36,695   
Obligations of states and political subdivisions      447,155       31,419       —      478,574   
Corporate debt securities      18,038       1,212       —      19,250   
Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities      977,968       28,476       (12,061 )     994,383   
Debt securities issued by foreign governments      5,416       63       —      5,479   
                          
Securities classified as held-to-maturity    $ 1,484,952     $ 61,490     $ (12,061 )   $ 1,534,381   
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      A summary of securities classified as held-to-maturity at December 31, 2001 is presented below:  

      On January 1, 2001, Viad transferred $260.0 million in book value of securities classified as held-to-maturity to securities classified as 
available-for-sale as permitted in conjunction with the initial application of SFAS No. 133 without calling into question management’s intent or 
ability to hold other securities as held-to-maturity. The transfer was reflected as an increase in the carrying value of the investments of 
$6.2 million, with a corresponding deferred tax liability of $2.4 million and a transition adjustment of $3.8 million in other comprehensive 
income.  

      Scheduled Maturities. Scheduled maturities of securities at December 31, 2002 are presented below:  

      Actual maturities may differ from scheduled maturities because the borrowers have the right to call or prepay certain obligations, 
sometimes without penalties. Maturities of mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities depend on the repayment characteristics and 
experience of the underlying obligations.  
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Gross Gross 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair 
Cost Gains Losses Value 

(in thousands) 
U.S. Government agencies    $ 91,768     $ 283     $ (353 )   $ 91,698   
Obligations of states and political subdivisions      464,695       18,687       (293 )     483,089   
Corporate debt securities      18,112       1,070       —      19,182   
Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed securities      869,610       21,803       (12,685 )     878,728   
Debt securities issued by foreign governments      5,456       25       —      5,481   
                          
Securities classified as held-to-maturity    $ 1,449,641     $ 41,868     $ (13,331 )   $ 1,478,178   
                          

                                    
Available-for-Sale Held-to-Maturity 

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair 
Cost Value Cost Value 

(in thousands) 
Due in:                                  
  2003    $ 64,932     $ 65,864     $ 3,488     $ 3,618   
  2004-2007      247,475       255,318       31,765       33,968   
  2008-2012      437,047       464,170       226,907       242,043   
  2013 and later      454,098       479,193       244,824       260,369   
Mortgage-backed and other asset-backed 

securities      3,452,718       3,543,403       977,968       994,383   

Preferred stock and other      86,083       81,358       —      —  
                          
    $ 4,742,353     $ 4,889,306     $ 1,484,952     $ 1,534,381   
                          



Table of Contents  

VIAD CORP  

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  
   

      Property and equipment at December 31 consisted of the following:  

      Depreciation expense was $49.5 million, $50.0 million and $49.3 million for 2002, 2001 and 2000, respectively.  

Note 7.     Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets  

      Upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, Viad completed the transitional impairment testing of its goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite 
lives. It was determined that no impairment existed for certain intangible assets but a transitional impairment loss of $40.0 million 
($37.7 million after-tax) was recognized (retroactively to the January 2002 adoption of SFAS No. 142) related to goodwill at the Exhibitgroup/ 
Giltspur reporting unit of the Convention and Event Services segment. The fair value of that reporting unit was estimated using the expected 
present value of future cash flows. The impairment resulted from a change in the criteria for measurement of impairment from an undiscounted 
to a discounted cash flow method. This impairment is included in the Consolidated Statements of Income under the caption “Change in 
accounting principle.”  

      A summary of other intangible assets at December 31, 2002 is presented below:  
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Note 6. Property and Equipment 

                  
2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Land    $ 21,693     $ 21,396   
Buildings and leasehold improvements      78,027       77,116   
Equipment      451,061       454,926   
              
      550,781       553,438   
Accumulated depreciation      (302,682 )     (292,958 ) 
              
Property and equipment    $ 248,099     $ 260,480   
              

                            
Gross Net 

Carrying Accumulated Carrying 
Value Amortization Value 

(in thousands) 
Amortized intangible assets:                          
  Customer lists    $ 28,874     $ (16,236 )   $ 12,638   
  Patents      13,200       (9,759 )     3,441   
  Other      925       (791 )     134   
                    
      42,999       (26,786 )     16,213   
                    
Unamortized intangible assets:                          
  Trademarks      13,175       —      13,175   
  Pension intangible assets      5,086       —      5,086   
                    
      18,261       —      18,261   
                    
Total other intangible assets    $ 61,260     $ (26,786 )   $ 34,474   
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      Intangible asset amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 was $2.0 million, $2.2 million and 
$2.7 million, respectively. Estimated amortization expense related to these intangibles for the five succeeding fiscal years is as follows:  

      The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill for the year ended December 31, 2002 are as follows:  

      Amortization expense related to goodwill for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 was $16.5 million ($14.0 million after-tax) and 
$16.2 million ($13.6 million after-tax), respectively. Amortization expense related to intangible assets with indefinite useful lives for the years 
ended December 31, 2001 and 2000 was $393,000 ($246,000 after-tax), and $393,000 ($246,000 after-tax), respectively.  

      Income before change in accounting principle as reported and as adjusted for the adoption of SFAS No. 142 is presented below:  
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(in thousands) 

2003    $ 2,021   
2004    $ 2,022   
2005    $ 2,005   
2006    $ 1,657   
2007    $ 1,645   

                                  
Convention 

Payment and Event 
Services Services Other Total 

(in thousands) 
Balance at January 1, 2002    $ 297,705     $ 262,243     $ 27,417     $ 587,365   
Transitional impairment loss      —      (40,000 )     —      (40,000 ) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments      —      1,973       123       2,096   
                          
Balance at December 31, 2002    $ 297,705     $ 224,216     $ 27,540     $ 549,461   
                          

                            
2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
Net income    $ 76,094     $ 51,134     $ 140,819   
Change in accounting principle, net of tax      37,739       —      —  
                    
Income before change in accounting principle      113,833       51,134       140,819   
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives, net 

of tax      —      14,243       13,846   

                    
Adjusted income before change in accounting principle    $ 113,833     $ 65,377     $ 154,665   
                    
Diluted earnings per share:                          
  Net income    $ 0.86     $ 0.58     $ 1.54   
  Change in accounting principle, net of tax      0.44       —      —  
                    
  Income before change in accounting principle      1.30       0.58       1.54   

  Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives, 
net of tax      —      0.16       0.15   

                    
  Adjusted income before change in accounting principle    $ 1.30     $ 0.74     $ 1.69   
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Note 8.     Debt  

      Long-term debt at December 31 was as follows:  

      Viad satisfies its short-term borrowing requirements with bank lines of credit and the issuance of commercial paper and promissory notes. 
At December 31, 2002 there were no amounts outstanding under short-term bank loans payable. At December 31, 2001, there was $457,000 of 
borrowings outstanding under short-term bank loans payable.  

      Viad has credit facilities totaling $393 million to support revolving bank credit agreements, various letter of credit support facilities and a 
Canadian credit facility. The $393 million includes a $225 million five-year facility and a $168 million 364-day facility. The interest rate 
applicable to borrowings under the credit facilities is indexed to the London Interbank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”), plus appropriate spreads. The 
facilities also provide for commitment fees. Such spreads and fees will change moderately should Viad’s debt ratings change. In August, 2002, 
Viad’s 364-day short-term revolving credit facility was amended. The total  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
Basic earnings per share:                          
  Net income    $ 0.87     $ 0.58     $ 1.57   
  Change in accounting principle, net of tax      0.44       —      —  
                    
  Income before change in accounting principle      1.31       0.58       1.57   

  
Amortization of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives, 

net of tax      —      0.17       0.16   
                    
  Adjusted income before change in accounting principle    $ 1.31     $ 0.75     $ 1.73   
                    

                      
2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Senior debt:(1)                  
  Short-term borrowings:                  

    
Promissory notes, 1.7% (2002) and 2.8% (2001) weighted average 

interest rate at December 31    $ 21,000     $ 20,000   

    
Commercial paper, 1.7% (2002) and 2.5% (2001) weighted average 

interest rate at December 31      152,000       146,000   

  
Senior notes, 6.5% (2002) and 6.4% (2001) weighted average interest rate 

at December 31, due to 2009      134,968       174,904   

  Guarantee of ESOP debt, floating rate indexed to LIBOR, 1.2% (2002) and 
1.8% (2001) at December 31, due to 2009      15,235       16,925   

  
Other obligations, 4.0% (2002) and 4.2% (2001) weighted average interest 

rate at December 31, due to 2016      19,951       20,039   
              
      343,154       377,868   
Subordinated debt, 10.5% debentures, due 2006      18,503       18,503   
              
      361,657       396,371   
Current portion      (103,995 )     (42,224 ) 
              
Long-term debt    $ 257,662     $ 354,147   
              

(1)  Rates shown are exclusive of the effects of commitment fees and other costs of long-term bank credit used to support short-term 
borrowings. 
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amount of the lenders’ commitments was reduced from $200 million to $168 million under similar terms and the commitment termination date 
of each eligible lender was extended to August 2003. The short-term revolving credit facility, as amended, allows for Viad to increase the 
aggregate amount of the lender commitments up to $200 million, subject to availability of commitments. Short-term borrowings totaling 
$173.0 million and $166.0 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, have been classified as long-term debt, pursuant to the unused 
commitments under the applicable long-term and short-term credit facilities. Unused commitments (net of amounts used to support short-term 
borrowings and letters of credit) under the facilities totaled $142.0 million at December 31, 2002. Borrowings under the facilities are subject to 
various covenants, including standard equity and other financial ratio calculations, among others. The borrowings are also subject to increases 
in borrowing costs if debt ratings are not maintained at current levels. Default under the covenants relating to any of Viad’s debt agreements 
could result in cross defaults to other debt agreements.  

      Annual maturities of long-term debt due in the next five years will approximate $104.0 million (2003), $194.2 million (2004), $11.1 million 
(2005), $19.6 million (2006), $1.0 million (2007) and $31.8 million thereafter. Included in the year 2004 is $173.0 million which represents the 
maturity of short-term borrowings, assuming the borrowings were due under the five-year facility and one-year term out provisions of the 364-
day facility.  

      The weighted average interest rate on total debt excluding interest expense unrelated to debt obligations was 4.9 percent, 5.8 percent, and 
6.4 percent for 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.  

      Under a Shelf Registration filed in 1994 with the Securities and Exchange Commission, Viad can issue up to an aggregate $500 million of 
debt and equity securities. In 2002, Viad filed an amended Shelf Registration with the Securities and Exchange Commission to update 
disclosures in the original registration and to maintain Viad’s financial flexibility. No securities have been issued under the program.  

      The estimated fair value of total debt was $367.7 million and $403.2 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. The fair value 
of debt was estimated by discounting the future cash flows using rates currently available for debt of similar terms and maturity. The carrying 
values of the commercial paper and promissory notes were assumed to approximate fair values due to their short-term maturities.  

Note 9.     Derivative Financial Instruments  

      Viad uses derivative financial instruments as part of its risk management strategy to manage exposure to fluctuations in interest and foreign 
currency rates. Derivatives are not used for speculative purposes.  

      A portion of Viad’s Payment Services business involves the payment of variable-rate commissions to financial institution customers of its 
official check program. In addition, a Viad Payment Services subsidiary has agreements to sell, on a periodic basis, undivided percentage 
ownership interests in certain receivables primarily from money order agents in an amount not to exceed $450 million. The agreement expires 
in June 2003. The receivables, sold at a discount based on short-term variable interest rates, are sold in order to accelerate Payment Services’ 
cash flow for investment in permissible securities as described in Note 5.  

      The Payment Services subsidiary services the receivables that were sold in exchange for a fee commensurate with the cost of servicing. The 
balance of sold agent receivables as of December 31, 2002 and 2001 was $358.0 million and $347.0 million, respectively. The average agent 
receivables sold approximated $440.0 million, $444.0 million, and $433.0 million during 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. The expense of 
selling the agent receivables, discounted based on short-term variable interest rates, as well as the related swap cost was $29.5 million, 
$30.1 million, and $30.4 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively, and is included under the caption “Costs of services” in the 
Consolidated Statements of Income.  
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      Variable-to-fixed derivative financial instruments (swap agreements) have been entered into to mitigate the effects of fluctuations on 
commission expense and on the net proceeds from agent receivable sales. The notional amount of the variable-to-fixed swap agreements totaled 
$3.795 billion at December 31, 2002, with an average pay rate of 5.1 percent and an average receive rate of 1.2 percent. The variable-rate 
portion of the swaps is generally based on Treasury bill, federal funds, or commercial paper rates. The agreements expire as follows: 
$795.0 million (2003), $350.0 million (2004), $975.0 million (2005), $600.0 million (2006), $975.0 million (2007), and $100.0 million (2008).  

      The swap agreements are contracts to exchange fixed and floating payments periodically over the life of the agreements without the 
exchange of the underlying notional amounts. The notional amounts of such agreements are used to measure amounts to be paid or received 
and do not represent the amount of exposure to credit loss. The amounts to be paid or received under the swap agreements are accrued 
consistent with the terms of the agreements and market interest rates and are recognized as an adjustment to the expense of the related 
transaction.  

      Viad maintains formal procedures for entering into swap transactions and management regularly monitors and reports to the Audit 
Committee of the Board of Directors on swap activity. The agreements are with major financial institutions which are currently expected to 
fully perform under the terms of the agreements, thereby mitigating the credit risk from the transactions in the event of nonperformance by the 
counterparties. In addition, Viad regularly monitors the credit ratings of the counterparties, and the likelihood of default is considered remote.  

      On January 1, 2001, Viad adopted SFAS No. 133 and its related amendments and interpretations. SFAS No. 133 requires that entities 
record all derivatives as either assets or liabilities, measured at fair value (representing the estimated amount Viad would pay to counterparties 
to terminate the swap agreements), with the change in fair value of the derivative recognized in earnings or in other comprehensive income, 
depending on the use of the derivative and whether it qualifies for hedge accounting. Viad’s swap agreements have been designated and qualify 
as cash flow hedges. The length of time over which future cash flows are hedged ranges from one to six years.  

      Upon the adoption of SFAS No. 133, Viad recorded a liability of $12.3 million (representing the fair value of Viad’s swap agreements), a 
corresponding deferred tax asset of $4.8 million, and a transition adjustment of $7.5 million reflected in other comprehensive income. At 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, the current liability portions of the fair value of the swap agreements totaling $119.8 million and $91.6 million, 
respectively, are included under the caption “Payment service obligations.” The noncurrent liability portions of the swap agreements totaling 
$126.5 million and $23.6 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, are included under the caption, “Derivative financial 
instruments.” The long-term asset portion of the swap agreements of $28.0 million at December 31, 2001 is included under the caption, 
“Investments available or restricted for payment service obligations.”  

      The effective portion of the change in fair values of derivatives that qualify as cash flow hedges under SFAS No. 133 is recorded in other 
comprehensive income. Amounts receivable or payable under the swap agreements are reclassified from other comprehensive income to net 
income as an adjustment to the expense of the related transaction. The net amount estimated to be reclassified from other comprehensive 
income to net income is $119.8 million in 2003. Amounts reclassified are included in the Consolidated Income Statements under the caption, 
“Costs of services.” The amount recognized in earnings due to ineffectiveness of the cash flow hedges was not material. No cash flow hedges 
were discontinued during the year.  

      Viad is also exposed to foreign currency exchange risk and utilizes forward contracts to hedge assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies. While these contracts economically hedge Viad’s foreign currency risk, they are not designated as hedges for accounting purposes 
under SFAS No. 133. Accordingly, forward derivative contracts used to hedge assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recorded  
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on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value, with the change in fair value reflected in earnings. The effect of changes in foreign exchange 
rates on the foreign-denominated receivables and payables, net of the effect of the related forward contracts, is not significant.  

Note 10.     Income Per Share  

      The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators of diluted and basic per share computations for income before change 
in accounting principle:  

      Options to purchase 3,590,806, 2,643,598, and 1,377,898 shares of common stock were outstanding during 2002, 2001 and 2000, 
respectively, but were not included in the computation of diluted income per share because the effect would be antidilutive.  

Note 11.     Redeemable Preferred Stock and Preferred Stock Purchase Rights  

      Viad has 442,352 shares of $4.75 Preferred Stock authorized, of which 334,352 shares are issued. The holders of the $4.75 Preferred Stock 
are entitled to a liquidation preference of $100 per share and to annual cumulative sinking fund redemptions of 6,000 shares. Viad presently 
holds 99,369 shares which will be applied to this sinking fund requirement; the 234,983 shares held by others are scheduled to be redeemed in 
the years 2019 to 2058. In addition, Viad has authorized 5.0 million and 2.0 million shares of Preferred Stock and Junior Participating Preferred 
Stock, respectively.  

      Viad has one Preferred Stock Purchase Right (“Right”) outstanding on each outstanding share of its common stock. The Rights contain 
provisions to protect stockholders in the event of an unsolicited attempt to acquire Viad that is not believed by the Board of Directors to be in 
the best interest of stockholders. The Rights are represented by the common share certificates and are not exercisable or transferable apart from 
the common stock until such a situation arises. Viad may redeem the Rights at $0.01 per Right prior to the time any person or group has 
acquired 20 percent or more of Viad’s shares. Viad has reserved 1.0 million shares of Junior Participating Preferred Stock for issuance in 
connection with the Rights. The Rights will expire in February 2012.  

Note 12.     Common Stock and Other Equity  

      Viad funds its matching contributions to employees’ 401(k) plans through a leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan (“ESOP”). All 
eligible employees of Viad and its participating affiliates, other than certain employees covered by collective bargaining agreements that do not 
expressly provide for participation of such employees in an ESOP, may participate in the ESOP.  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
Income before change in accounting principle    $ 113,833     $ 51,134     $ 140,819   
Preferred stock dividends      (1,141 )     (1,137 )     (1,134 ) 
                    
Income available to common stockholders    $ 112,692     $ 49,997     $ 139,685   
                    
Average outstanding common shares      86,178       85,503       88,802   
Additional dilutive shares related to stock-based compensation      538       819       2,123   
                    
Average outstanding and potentially dilutive common shares      86,716       86,322       90,925   
                    
Diluted income per share before change in accounting principle    $ 1.30     $ 0.58     $ 1.54   
                    
Basic income per share before change in accounting principle    $ 1.31     $ 0.58     $ 1.57   
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      In 1989, the ESOP borrowed $40.0 million to purchase treasury shares from Viad. The ESOP’s obligation to repay this borrowing is 
guaranteed by Viad; therefore, the unpaid balance of the borrowing ($15.2 million and $16.9 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, 
respectively) has been reflected in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets as long-term debt. The same amounts, representing 
unearned employee benefits, have been recorded as a deduction from common stock and other equity. The liability is reduced as the ESOP 
repays the borrowing, and the amount offsetting common stock and other equity is reduced as stock is allocated to employees and benefits are 
charged to expense. The ESOP intends to repay the loan (plus interest) using Viad contributions and dividends received on the unallocated 
Viad shares held by the ESOP.  

      Information regarding ESOP transactions for the years ended December 31 was as follows:  

      Shares are released for allocation to participants based upon the ratio of the current year’s principal and interest payments to the sum of the 
total principal and interest payments expected over the remaining life of the plan. Expense is recognized based upon the greater of cumulative 
cash payments to the plan or 80 percent of the cumulative expense that would have been recognized under the shares allocated method, in 
accordance with EITF Issue No. 89-8, “Expense Recognition for Employee Stock Ownership Plans.” Under this method, Viad has recorded 
expense of $1.3 million, $1.7 million, and $1.6 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively.  

      Unallocated shares held by the ESOP totaled 1,663,000 and 1,860,000 at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Shares allocated 
during 2002 and 2001 totaled 197,000 and 235,000, respectively.  

      In 1992, Viad sold treasury stock to Viad’s Employee Equity Trust (the “Trust”) in exchange for a promissory note. The Trust is used to 
fund certain existing employee compensation and benefit plans. For financial reporting purposes, the Trust is consolidated with Viad and the 
promissory note ($22.8 million at December 31, 2002) and dividend and interest transactions are eliminated in consolidation. The fair market 
value ($52.9 million and $68.1 million at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively) of the 2,365,901 and 2,874,753 remaining shares held by 
the Trust at December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively, representing unearned employee benefits, is shown as a deduction from common stock 
and other equity and is reduced as employee benefits are funded. The difference between the cost and fair value of shares held is included in 
additional capital.  

      At December 31, 2002, retained income of $176.0 million was unrestricted for the payment of dividends by Viad.  

Note 13.     Stock-Based Compensation  

      In 1997, stockholders adopted the Viad Corp Omnibus Incentive Plan (“Omnibus Plan”). The Omnibus Plan provides for the following 
types of awards to officers, directors and certain key employees: (a) incentive and nonqualified stock options; (b) stock appreciation rights 
(“SARs”); (c) restricted stock; and (d) performance-based awards. The number of shares available for grant under the Omnibus Plan in each 
calendar year is equal to 2 percent of the total number of shares of common stock outstanding as of the first  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Amounts paid by ESOP for:                          
  Debt repayment    $ 1,690     $ 1,750     $ 1,325   
  Interest      269       678       1,115   
Amounts received from Viad as:                          
  Dividends    $ 645     $ 727     $ 808   
  Contributions      1,314       1,649       1,615   
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day of each year. Any shares available for grant in a particular calendar year which are not granted in such year are added to the shares 
available for grant in any subsequent calendar year.  

      Stock options are granted for terms of ten years at an exercise price based on the market value at the date of grant, and are exercisable 
50 percent after one year with the balance exercisable after two years from the date of grant. Stock options granted since 1998 contain certain 
forfeiture and noncompete provisions.  

      Restricted stock and performance-driven restricted stock awards of 386,000 shares and 340,600 shares were granted in 2002 and 2001, 
respectively, at a weighted average price (based on fair market value at date of grant) of $27.32 and $21.69 per share, respectively. The 
restricted stock awards vest three years from the date of grant. Performance-driven restricted stock granted in 2001 vests five years from the 
date of grant; but, a portion of the award may vest, on an accelerated basis, as early as three years from the date of grant if certain long-term 
incentive performance targets are met or exceeded. Performance-driven restricted stock granted in 2002 may be earned in three or four years 
from the date of the grant depending upon the achievement level of certain long-term incentive performance targets. If performance targets are 
not achieved, 100 percent of the grant will be forfeited. Holders of the restricted stock have the right to receive dividends and vote the shares, 
but may not sell, assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise encumber the stock.  

      Performance-based stock awards (82,200 shares awarded in 2000 at a fair market value per share of $24.44) vest at the end of a three-year 
period from the date of grant, based on total shareholder return relative to the applicable stock and industry indices specified at the time of each 
award. Vested shares with respect to performance periods beginning in 1998 and 1997 totaled 26,646 in 2001 and 70,361 in 2000, respectively. 
No shares from the 1999 performance period vested in 2002. Throughout the performance period, holders of the performance-based stock have 
the right to receive dividends and vote the shares but may not sell, assign, transfer, pledge or otherwise encumber the stock. There were no 
performance-based stock awards granted in 2002 or 2001.  

      Viad applies APB Opinion No. 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its stock-based compensation plans. Accordingly, no 
compensation expense has been recognized for its stock-based compensation plans other than for performance-based and restricted stock 
awards, which gave rise to compensation expense aggregating $4.5 million, $1.3 million, and $727,000 in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. 
Refer to Note 1 for a discussion of the pro forma impact of stock options on reported net income.  
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      Information with respect to stock options for the years ended December 31 is as follows:  

      The following table summarizes information concerning stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2002:  

F-27  

                            
Weighted 
Average Options 

Shares Exercise Price Exercisable 

Options outstanding at December 31, 1999      6,904,621     $ 15.27           
  Granted      995,403       24.47           
  Exercised      (1,924,706 )     10.57           
  Canceled      (178,028 )     25.74           
                        
Options outstanding at December 31, 2000      5,797,290       18.09       4,451,659   
  Granted      2,006,617       23.80           
  Exercised      (1,739,109 )     12.10           
  Canceled      (414,130 )     25.61           
                        
Options outstanding at December 31, 2001      5,650,668       21.40       3,466,201   
  Granted      1,082,217       27.01           
  Exercised      (703,923 )     16.12           
  Canceled      (568,497 )     25.30           
                        
Options outstanding at December 31, 2002      5,460,465       22.80       3,711,237   
                        

                                          
Options Outstanding Options Exercisable 

Weighted Average Weighted Weighted 
Range of Remaining Average Average 

Exercise Prices Shares Contractual Life Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price 

$ 5.51 to $16.25      882,056       2.4 years     $ 12.86       882,056     $ 12.86   
$18.34 to $24.24      1,009,516       7.1 years       19.70       694,516       19.25   
$24.44 to $25.05      1,120,246       6.1 years       24.60       1,083,246       24.59   
$25.20 to $26.39      1,070,147       8.0 years       25.23       561,519       25.24   
$27.32 to $29.50      1,378,500       8.2 years       28.08       489,900       29.46   
                                      
$ 5.51 to $29.50      5,460,465       6.6 years       22.80       3,711,237       21.54   
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Note 14.     Income Taxes  

      Deferred income tax assets (liabilities) included in the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 related to the following:  

      The $30.8 million of tax credit carryforwards at December 31, 2002 consist of $6.5 million of foreign tax credit carryforwards that expire in 
2005 and 2006, $8.1 million of general business credit carryforwards that expire in 2019 through 2021, and $16.2 million of alternative 
minimum tax carryforwards that can be carried forward indefinitely.  

      Income tax expense (benefit) on income before change in accounting principle for the years ended December 31 consisted of the following: 

      Certain tax benefits related primarily to stock option exercises and dividends paid to the ESOP totaling $2.6 million, $6.7 million, and 
$8.4 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively, were credited to common stock and other equity.  

      Eligible subsidiaries (including sold and discontinued businesses up to their respective disposition dates) are included in the consolidated 
federal and other applicable income tax returns of Viad.  
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2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Property and equipment    $ (28,855 )   $ (29,636 ) 
Deferred income      3,753       3,581   
Pension, compensation and other employee benefits      56,991       45,149   
Provisions for losses      48,397       49,233   
Unrealized gain on securities classified as available-for-sale      (57,619 )     (19,102 ) 
Unrealized loss on derivative financial instruments      96,070       33,975   
State income taxes      20,534       16,011   
Tax credit carryforwards      30,772       24,936   
Other deferred income tax assets      16,011       16,341   
Other deferred income tax liabilities      (28,769 )     (22,512 ) 
              
      157,285       117,976   
Foreign deferred tax liabilities included above      10,748       10,704   
              
United States deferred tax assets    $ 168,033     $ 128,680   
              

                              
2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Current:                          
  United States:                          
    Federal    $ 4,700     $ 15,739     $ (2,262 ) 
    State      21,224       7,259       2,324   
  Foreign      10,041       9,094       13,451   
                    
      35,965       32,092       13,513   
Deferred      4,369       (36,480 )     12,705   
                    
Income tax expense (benefit)    $ 40,334     $ (4,388 )   $ 26,218   
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      A reconciliation of the income tax expense (benefit) on income before change in accounting principle and the amount that would be 
computed using statutory federal income tax rates for the years ended December 31 is as follows:  

      United States and foreign income before income taxes and change in accounting principle for the years ended December 31 was as follows: 

Note 15.     Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits  

      Pension Benefits. Viad has trusteed, noncontributory pension plans that cover certain employees. Pension benefits are supplemented, in 
most cases, by defined matching company stock contributions to employees’ 401(k) plans as described in Note 12. In addition, Viad retained 
the obligations for such benefits for employees of certain sold businesses. Through December 31, 2000, the principal retirement plan was 
structured using a traditional defined benefit formula based primarily on final average pay and years of service. Benefits earned under this 
formula ceased accruing at December 31, 2000, with no change to retirement benefits earned through that date. Effective January 1, 2001, 
benefits began accruing under a cash accumulation account formula based upon a percentage of pay plus interest. Funding policies provide that 
payments to defined benefit pension trusts shall be at least equal to the minimum funding required by applicable regulations. Certain defined 
pension benefits, primarily those in excess of benefit levels permitted under qualified pension plans, are unfunded.  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Computed income taxes at statutory federal 

income tax rate of 35%    $ 53,958       35.0 %   $ 16,361       35.0 %   $ 58,463       35.0 % 
Nondeductible goodwill amortization      —      0.0 %     3,443       7.4 %     3,337       2.0 % 
State income taxes      13,704       8.9 %     1,672       3.6 %     3,075       1.8 % 
Other, net      (5,626 )     (3.6 )%     364       0.7 %     (1,582 )     (0.9 )% 
                                      
Provision for income taxes before the effect of 

tax-exempt income      62,036       40.3 %     21,840       46.7 %     63,293       37.9 % 
Tax-exempt income      (21,702 )     (14.1 )%     (26,228 )     (56.1 )%     (37,075 )     (22.2 )% 
                                      
Income tax expense (benefit)    $ 40,334       26.2 %   $ (4,388 )     (9.4 )%   $ 26,218       15.7 % 
                                      

                          
2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
United States    $ 125,325     $ 22,865     $ 135,798   
Foreign      28,842       23,881       31,239   
                    
Income before income taxes and change in accounting principle    $ 154,167     $ 46,746     $ 167,037   
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      Net periodic pension cost for defined benefit plans for the years ended December 31 includes the following components:  

      Contributions to multiemployer pension plans totaled $16.6 million, $14.6 million, and $16.5 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, respectively. 
Costs of 401(k) defined contribution and other pension plans totaled $2.3 million, $2.1 million, and $2.5 million in 2002, 2001, and 2000, 
respectively.  

      The following table indicates the plans’ funded status and amounts recognized in Viad’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31:  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Service cost    $ 2,827     $ 2,592     $ 2,433   
Interest cost      12,334       12,144       11,686   
Expected return on plan assets      (13,245 )     (13,538 )     (12,816 ) 
Amortization of prior service cost      786       955       835   
Recognized net actuarial loss      462       344       629   
                    
Net periodic pension cost    $ 3,164     $ 2,497     $ 2,767   
                    

                                    
Funded Plans Unfunded Plans 

2002 2001 2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Change in projected benefit obligation:                                  
  Benefit obligation at beginning of year    $ 129,784     $ 123,069     $ 46,235     $ 37,223   
  Service cost      1,343       1,262       1,484       1,330   
  Interest cost      9,079       8,983       3,255       3,161   
  Plan amendments      —      (5,589 )     32       3,895   
  Actuarial adjustments      7,647       9,585       2,726       3,433   
  Curtailments      —      —      —      (56 ) 
  Benefits paid      (8,234 )     (7,526 )     (3,000 )     (2,751 ) 
                          
  Benefit obligation at end of year(1)      139,619       129,784       50,732       46,235   
                          
Change in plan assets:                                  
  Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year      121,487       133,168       —      —  
  Actual return on plan assets      (6,197 )     (4,183 )     —      —  
  Company contributions      41       28       3,000       2,751   
  Benefits paid      (8,234 )     (7,526 )     (3,000 )     (2,751 ) 
                          
  Fair value of plan assets at end of year      107,097       121,487       —      —  
                          
Funded status      (32,522 )     (8,297 )     (50,732 )     (46,235 ) 
Unrecognized net transition asset      —      (77 )     —      —  
Unrecognized prior service cost (reduction)      (3,794 )     (4,150 )     6,529       7,718   
Unrecognized actuarial loss      52,893       25,804       11,887       9,622   
                          
Net amount recognized    $ 16,577     $ 13,280     $ (32,316 )   $ (28,895 ) 
                          

(1)  The accumulated benefit obligation for the funded pension plans was $138.2 million and $128.2 million as of December 31, 2002 and 
2001, respectively, and the accumulated benefit obligation for the unfunded pension plans was $42.2 million and $38.4 million as of 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, respectively. 
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     The total amounts recognized in Viad’s Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31 were as follows:  

      Postretirement Benefits Other Than Pensions. Viad and certain of its subsidiaries have defined benefit postretirement plans that provide 
medical and life insurance for certain eligible employees, retirees and dependents. The related postretirement benefit liabilities are recognized 
over the period that services are provided by employees. In addition, Viad retained the obligations for such benefits for retirees of certain sold 
businesses. While the plans have no funding requirements, Viad may fund the plans.  

      The net periodic postretirement benefit cost for the years ended December 31 included the following components:  
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Funded Plans Unfunded Plans 

2002 2001 2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Net accrued pension liability    $ (31,104 )   $ (4,204 )   $ (42,450 )   $ (38,560 ) 
Intangible asset      360       —      4,726       6,012   
Deferred tax asset      16,562       6,119       1,893       1,279   
Accumulated other comprehensive income      30,759       11,365       3,515       2,374   
                          
Net amount recognized    $ 16,577     $ 13,280     $ (32,316 )   $ (28,895 ) 
                          

                          
2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Service cost    $ 428     $ 332     $ 315   
Interest cost      2,725       2,591       2,604   
Expected return on plan assets      (148 )     (383 )     (372 ) 
Amortization of prior service cost      (959 )     (643 )     (645 ) 
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain)      713       (82 )     (77 ) 
                    
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost    $ 2,759     $ 1,815     $ 1,825   
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      The status of the plans as of December 31 is set forth below:  

      The assumed health care cost trend rate used in measuring the 2002 accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 10 percent for the 
year 2003, gradually declining to 5 percent by the year 2008 and remaining at that level thereafter. The assumed health care cost trend rate used 
in measuring the 2001 accumulated postretirement benefit obligation was 6 percent in 2001, declining to 5 percent in 2002.  

      A one-percentage-point increase in the assumed health care cost trend rate for each year would increase the accumulated postretirement 
benefit obligation as of December 31, 2002 by approximately $4.6 million and the ongoing annual expense by approximately $410,000. A one-
percentage-point decrease in the assumed health care cost trend rate for each year would decrease the accumulated postretirement benefit 
obligation as of December 31, 2002 by approximately $4.0 million and the ongoing annual expense by approximately $349,000.  

      Weighted Average Assumptions. Weighted average assumptions used at December 31 were as follows:  

Note 16.     Leases  

      Viad has entered into operating leases for the use of certain of its offices, equipment, and other facilities. These leases expire over periods 
ranging from one to 12 years, and some of which provide for renewal options  
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2002 2001 

(in thousands) 
Change in accumulated benefit obligation:                  
  Benefit obligation at beginning of year    $ 36,573     $ 34,894   
  Service cost      428       332   
  Interest cost      2,725       2,591   
  Actuarial adjustments      12,808       1,657   
  Plan amendments      (3,636 )     —  
  Benefits paid      (2,692 )     (2,901 ) 
              
  Benefit obligation at end of year      46,206       36,573   
              
Change in plan assets:                  
  Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year      5,583       11,719   
  Actual return on plan assets      33       (6,136 ) 
  Company contributions      2,692       2,901   
  Benefits paid      (2,692 )     (2,901 ) 
              
  Fair value of plan assets at end of year      5,616       5,583   
              
Funded status      (40,590 )     (30,990 ) 
Unrecognized prior service reduction      (8,865 )     (6,157 ) 
Unrecognized net actuarial loss      17,281       5,041   
              
Accrued postretirement benefit cost    $ (32,174 )   $ (32,106 ) 
              

                                  
Pension Benefits Other Benefits 

2002 2001 2002 2001 

Discount rate      6.75 %     7.25 %     6.75 %     7.25 % 
Expected return on plan assets      8.75 %     10.00 %     3.75 %     3.75 % 
Rate of compensation increase      4.50 %     4.50 %     N/A       N/A   
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ranging from one to 28 years. Leases which expire are generally renewed or replaced by similar leases. Some leases contain scheduled rental 
increases accounted for on a straight-line basis.  

      At December 31, 2002, Viad’s future minimum rental payments and related sublease rentals receivable with respect to noncancelable 
operating leases with terms in excess of one year were as follows:  

      Net rent expense under operating leases for the years ended December 31 consisted of the following:  

Note 17.     Litigation, Claims and Other Contingencies  

      Viad and certain of its subsidiaries are plaintiffs or defendants to various actions, proceedings and pending claims. Certain of these pending 
legal actions are or purport to be class actions. Some of the foregoing involve, or may involve, compensatory, punitive or other damages. 
Litigation is subject to many uncertainties and it is possible that some of the legal actions, proceedings, or claims could be decided against 
Viad. Although the amount of liability at December 31, 2002, with respect to certain of these matters is not ascertainable, Viad believes that 
any resulting liability, after taking into consideration amounts already provided for, will not have a material effect on Viad’s financial 
statements.  

      Viad is subject to various environmental laws and regulations of the United States as well as of the states and other countries in whose 
jurisdictions Viad has or had operations and is subject to certain international agreements. As is the case with many companies, Viad faces 
exposure to actual or potential claims and lawsuits involving environmental matters. Although Viad is a party to certain environmental 
disputes, Viad believes that any liabilities resulting therefrom, after taking into consideration amounts already provided for, exclusive of any 
potential insurance recoveries, will not have a material effect on Viad’s financial statements.  

      As of December 31, 2002, Viad had certain obligations under guarantees to third parties on behalf of its subsidiaries. These guarantees are 
not subject to liability recognition in the consolidated financial statements and primarily relate to leased facilities and credit or loan 
arrangements with banks, entered into by Viad’s subsidiary operations. Viad would generally be required to make payments to the respective 
third parties under these guarantees in the event that the related subsidiary could not meet its own payment obligations. The maximum potential 
amount of future payments that Viad would be required to make under all guarantees existing at December 31, 2002 would be $60.4 million. 
At December 31, 2002, the aggregate guarantees related to leased facilities were $34.6 million, and expire through December 2006. At 
December 31, 2002, the  
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Receivable 

Rental Under 
Payments Subleases 

(in thousands) 
2003    $ 31,857     $ 5,365   
2004      27,742       4,540   
2005      23,791       3,978   
2006      19,028       3,105   
2007      17,518       2,369   
Thereafter      66,901       7,283   
              
Total    $ 186,837     $ 26,640   
              

                          
2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Minimum rentals    $ 40,665     $ 40,002     $ 38,809   
Sublease rentals      (3,086 )     (2,607 )     (2,613 ) 
                    
Total rentals, net    $ 37,579     $ 37,395     $ 36,196   
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aggregate guarantees related to credit or loan arrangements with banks were $25.8 million of which, $5.8 million expire through September 
2003 and $20.0 million is subject to an ongoing guarantee by a Viad subsidiary commensurate with its subsidiary’s credit facility which has no 
expiration date. There are no recourse provisions that would enable Viad to recover from third parties any payments made under the 
guarantees. Furthermore, there are no collateral or similar arrangements whereby Viad could recover payments.  

      The Payment Services segment has agreements with certain investors to provide funds related to investments in collateralized private equity 
obligations. As of December 31, 2002, the total amount of unfunded commitments related to these agreements was $21.0 million.  

Note 18.     Subsequent Event  

      In January 2003, MoneyGram Payment Systems, Inc. (“MoneyGram”), a subsidiary of Travelers Express, acquired the 49 percent minority 
interest in MoneyGram International Limited (“MIL”) from Travelex Group (“Travelex”). MIL, a London-based joint venture between 
MoneyGram and Travelex, provides international money transfer services primarily in Europe, Africa, Australia and Asia. Prior to the 
acquisition, MoneyGram owned a 51 percent interest in MIL. In connection with the transaction, MoneyGram paid approximately $98 million 
to Travelex. In addition, MIL paid a dividend to Travelex of approximately $8 million concurrent with the transaction.  

Note 19.     Segment Information  

      Viad measures profit and performance of its operations on the basis of operating income before restructuring charges and other items.  

      The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those described in Note 1, except that an adjustment is made to the 
Payment Services segment to present revenues and operating income on a taxable equivalent basis as though amounts were invested in taxable 
investments. Consolidated revenues, operating income and interest expense for 2000 also reflect the elimination of intercompany interest 
payments on investments in Viad commercial paper by a Payment Services subsidiary as well as intersegment sales and transfers. Corporate 
activities include expenses not allocated to operations. Depreciation and amortization are the only significant noncash items for the reportable 
segments.  

      Viad’s two reportable segments are Payment Services and Convention and Event Services. The Payment Services segment sells money 
orders through agents, performs official check and negotiable instrument clearing services for banks and credit unions, and provides cash 
access services to gaming establishments throughout the United States. In addition, the segment provides consumer money wire transfer 
services throughout the world. The Convention and Event Services segment provides decorating, installation and dismantling, and electrical, 
transportation and management services for conventions, tradeshows, associations and other corporate events; and designs and builds 
convention, tradeshow, museum and other exhibits and displays throughout the world.  

      The remaining categories represent Travel and Recreation Services businesses below reportable segment quantitative thresholds, sold 
businesses not classified as discontinued operations, and corporate activities. These categories are presented to reconcile to total results. Travel 
and Recreation Services includes Viad’s Canadian travel tour service subsidiary, which operates tours and charters in the Canadian Rockies, 
conducts hotel operations and snowcoach tours of the Columbia Icefield and offers gondola rides of Sulphur Mountain; and Glacier Park, Inc., 
which operates historic lodges in and around Glacier National Park.  
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      Disclosures regarding Viad’s reportable segments with reconciliations to consolidated totals are presented in the accompanying tables:  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Revenues:                          
  Payment Services    $ 838,669     $ 760,740     $ 671,683   
  Convention and Event Services      786,233       884,044       1,032,115   
                    
    Reportable segments      1,624,902       1,644,784       1,703,798   
  Travel and Recreation Services      58,253       61,453       72,508   
                    
    Subtotal, ongoing operations      1,683,155       1,706,237       1,776,306   
  Sold travel and recreation businesses      —      —      19,023   
  Intercompany interest elimination      —      —      (2,297 ) 
  Less taxable equivalent adjustment(1)      (36,171 )     (46,847 )     (66,224 ) 
                    
    $ 1,646,984     $ 1,659,390     $ 1,726,808   
                    
Operating income before restructuring charges and other items(2):                          
  Payment Services    $ 190,570     $ 176,615     $ 160,055   
  Convention and Event Services      36,454       32,563       75,510   
                    
    Reportable segments      227,024       209,178       235,565   
  Travel and Recreation Services      13,743       14,698       19,123   
                    
    Subtotal, ongoing operations      240,767       223,876       254,688   
  Sold travel and recreation businesses      —      —      2,467   
  Corporate activities      (17,114 )     (12,029 )     (9,783 ) 
  Intercompany interest elimination      —      —      (2,297 ) 
  Less taxable equivalent adjustment(1)      (36,171 )     (46,847 )     (66,224 ) 
                    
      187,482       165,000       178,851   
Other investment income      10,531       5,652       13,115   
Interest expense      (19,268 )     (25,936 )     (25,303 ) 
Restructuring charges and other items:                          
  Payment Services      (440 )     (5,947 )     —  
  Convention and Event Services      (18,582 )     (87,045 )     (8,677 ) 
  Corporate      80       (3,652 )     10,768   
Minority interests      (5,636 )     (1,326 )     (1,717 ) 
                    
Income before income taxes and change in accounting principle    $ 154,167     $ 46,746     $ 167,037   
                    

(1)  The taxable equivalent adjustment for Payment Services’ income from tax-exempt securities is calculated based on an income tax rate of 
approximately 39% (revised to 35% as of July 1, 2002). 

  
(2)  Includes amortization of goodwill of $8.2 million and $8.1 million for 2001 and 2000, respectively, for the Payment Services segment; 

$7.8 million and $7.5 million for 2001 and 2000, respectively, for the Convention and Event Services segment; and $856,000 and 
$859,000 for 2001 and 2000, respectively, for the Travel and Recreation Services businesses. 
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Assets:                          
  Payment Services(1)    $ 8,740,596     $ 7,443,826     $ 5,618,400   
  Convention and Event Services      431,384       497,216       591,186   
                    
    Reportable segments      9,171,980       7,941,042       6,209,586   
  Travel and Recreation Services      88,590       76,709       79,590   
                    
    Subtotal, ongoing operations      9,260,570       8,017,751       6,289,176   
  Corporate and other      429,958       362,740       262,316   
                    
    $ 9,690,528     $ 8,380,491     $ 6,551,492   
                    
Depreciation and amortization:(2)                          
  Payment Services    $ 26,691     $ 31,680     $ 28,071   
  Convention and Event Services      18,963       30,965       32,275   
                    
    Reportable segments      45,654       62,645       60,346   
  Travel and Recreation Services      3,570       4,219       4,176   
                    
    Subtotal, ongoing operations      49,224       66,864       64,522   
  Sold travel and recreation businesses      —      —      1,163   
  Corporate and other      2,259       2,232       2,915   
                    
    $ 51,483     $ 69,096     $ 68,600   
                    
Capital expenditures:                          
  Payment Services    $ 26,842     $ 32,225     $ 24,810   
  Convention and Event Services      11,226       15,143       13,321   
                    
    Reportable segments      38,068       47,368       38,131   
  Travel and Recreation Services      2,045       1,997       4,634   
                    
    Subtotal, ongoing operations      40,113       49,365       42,765   
  Sold travel and recreation businesses      —      —      62   
  Corporate and other      114       418       2,379   
                    
    $ 40,227     $ 49,783     $ 45,206   
                    

(1)  Includes investments available or restricted for payment service obligations of $8.2 billion (2002), $6.9 billion (2001), and $5.1 billion 
(2000). 

  
(2)  Includes amortization of goodwill of $8.2 million and $8.1 million for 2001 and 2000, respectively, for the Payment Services segment; 

$7.8 million and $7.5 million for 2001 and 2000, respectively, for the Convention and Event Services segment; and $856,000 and 
$859,000 for 2001 and 2000, respectively, for the Travel and Recreation Services businesses. 
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      Geographic Areas. Viad’s foreign operations are located principally in Canada and Europe. Convention and Event Services revenues are 
designated as foreign based on the originating location of the product or service plus exports to foreign shows. Payment Services foreign 
revenues are defined as revenues generated from wire transfer transactions originating in a country other than the United States. Long-lived 
assets are attributed to domestic or foreign based principally on physical location of the assets. Long-lived assets consist of “Property and 
equipment” and “Other investments and assets.” The table below presents the financial information by major geographic area:  
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2002 2001 2000 

(in thousands) 
Revenues:                          
  United States    $ 1,453,703     $ 1,442,577     $ 1,521,161   
  Foreign      193,281       216,813       205,647   
                    
  Total revenues    $ 1,646,984     $ 1,659,390     $ 1,726,808   
                    
Long-lived assets:                          
  United States    $ 235,179     $ 270,292     $ 322,927   
  Foreign      62,880       57,903       66,197   
                    
  Total long-lived assets    $ 298,059     $ 328,195     $ 389,124   
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  
   
Note 20. Condensed Consolidated Quarterly Results (Unaudited) 
                                              

First Second Third Fourth 
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Total 

(in thousands, except per share data) 
2002                                          
  Revenues:(1)    $ 445,021     $ 408,511     $ 417,977     $ 375,475     $ 1,646,984   
                                
  Operating income:(1)                                          
    Ongoing operations(2)    $ 52,525     $ 56,571     $ 55,946     $ 39,554     $ 204,596   
    Corporate activities(3)      (4,126 )     (6,307 )     (3,989 )     (2,692 )     (17,114 ) 
    Restructuring charges(4)      —      —      413       (19,355 )     (18,942 ) 
                                
    Operating income    $ 48,399     $ 50,264     $ 52,370     $ 17,507     $ 168,540   
                                
  Net income (loss)(5)    $ (5,395 )   $ 32,266     $ 35,617     $ 13,606     $ 76,094   
  Diluted net income (loss) per common share      (0.06 )     0.36       0.41       0.15       0.86   
  Basic net income (loss) per common share      (0.06 )     0.36       0.41       0.16       0.87   
  Taxable equivalent adjustment(1)      10,257       10,036       7,989       7,889       36,171   
2001                                          
  Revenues:(1)    $ 459,564     $ 444,566     $ 390,086     $ 365,174     $ 1,659,390   
                                
  Operating income:(1)                                          
    Ongoing operations(2)    $ 44,886     $ 58,001     $ 37,175     $ 36,967     $ 177,029   
    Corporate activities(3)      (4,841 )     (3,953 )     (1,709 )     (1,526 )     (12,029 ) 
    Restructuring charges(4)      —      —      (62,370 )     —      (62,370 ) 
    Litigation settlement and costs(6)      —      (29,274 )     —      —      (29,274 ) 
    Other charges(7)      —      —      (5,000 )     —      (5,000 ) 
                                
    Operating income    $ 40,045     $ 24,774     $ (31,904 )   $ 35,441     $ 68,356   
                                
  Net income (loss)    $ 24,302     $ 17,409     $ (15,764 )   $ 25,187     $ 51,134   
  Diluted net income (loss) per common share      0.28       0.20       (0.19 )     0.29       0.58   
  Basic net income (loss) per common share      0.28       0.20       (0.19 )     0.29       0.58   
  Taxable equivalent adjustment(1)      12,902       12,777       10,950       10,218       46,847   

(1)  Viad’s Payments Services subsidiaries invest substantial amounts in tax-exempt securities. On a taxable equivalent basis using a combined 
tax rate of approximately 39% (declining to 35% as of July 1, 2002), revenues and operating income would be higher by the taxable 
equivalent adjustments shown above. 

  
(2)  Represents revenues less costs of services and costs of products sold. 
  
(3)  In the second quarter of 2002, Viad recorded a charge of $2.5 million for legal, investment banking and other costs incurred in connection 

with a contemplated initial public offering of Travelers Express. The third and fourth quarters of 2001 include a reversal of expense 
provisions associated with certain of Viad’s incentive plans because aggressive targets were not achieved. 

  
(4)  In the fourth quarter of 2002, Viad recorded restructuring charges totaling $19.3 million associated with the closure and consolidation of 

certain facilities, severance and other employee benefits. Viad had recorded restructuring charges totaling $62.4 million in the third quarter 
of 2001, of which $413,000 was reversed in the third quarter of 2002 as certain actual costs incurred were less than original estimates. 

  
(5)  Effective in the first quarter 2002, upon adoption of SFAS No. 142, Viad recorded an impairment charge of $40.0 million ($37.7 million 

after-tax) related to the Exhibitgroup/ Giltspur reporting unit of the Convention and Event Services segment. This charge was recorded as a 
change in accounting principle. 

  
(6)  In the second quarter of 2001, Viad recorded a charge totaling $29.3 million representing primarily the write-off of net receivables and 

prepayments made to Key3Media. 
  
(7)  In the third quarter of 2001, Viad’s Payment Service subsidiary recorded a charge totaling $5.0 million resulting from the bankruptcy of a 

large money order agent. 
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT  

      The management of Viad Corp has the responsibility for preparing and assuring the integrity and objectivity of the accompanying financial 
statements and other financial information in this report. The financial statements were developed using accounting principles generally 
accepted in the United States of America and appropriate policies, consistently applied. They reflect, where applicable, management’s best 
estimates and judgments and include relevant disclosures and explanations.  

      Viad’s financial statements have been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP. Their audit was conducted in accordance with auditing standards 
generally accepted in the United States of America. The Independent Auditors’ Report appears below.  

      Management has established and maintains a system of internal control that it believes provides reasonable assurance as to the integrity and 
reliability of the financial statements, the protection of assets, and the prevention and detection of fraudulent financial reporting. The system of 
internal control is believed to provide for appropriate division of responsibilities and is documented by written policies and procedures that are 
utilized by employees involved in the financial reporting process. Viad also maintains a comprehensive internal auditing function which 
independently monitors compliance and assesses the effectiveness of the internal controls and recommends potential improvements thereto.  

      In addition, as part of their audit of Viad’s financial statements, the independent auditors review and evaluate selected internal accounting 
and other controls to establish a basis for reliance thereon in determining the audit tests to be applied. There is close coordination of audit 
planning and coverage between Viad’s internal auditing function and the independent auditors. Management has considered the 
recommendations of both internal auditing and the independent auditors concerning Viad’s system of internal control and has taken actions 
believed to be cost-effective in the circumstances to implement appropriate recommendations and otherwise enhance controls. Management 
believes that Viad’s system of internal control accomplishes the objectives discussed herein.  

      The Board of Directors oversees Viad’s financial reporting through its Audit Committee. The Audit Committee regularly meets with 
management and, jointly and separately, with the independent auditors and internal auditing management to review interest rate swap activity, 
accounting, auditing, financial reporting and internal control matters and the effectiveness of Viad’s Corporate Compliance Program.  
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/s/ ROBERT H. BOHANNON  

Robert H. Bohannon  
Chairman, President and  
Chief Executive Officer 

  

/s/ ELLEN M. INGERSOLL  

Ellen M. Ingersoll  
Chief Financial Officer 

  

/s/ G. MICHAEL LATTA  

G. Michael Latta  
Vice President — Controller 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT  

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of Viad Corp:  

      We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Viad Corp and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the 
related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, cash flows, and common stock and other equity for each of the three years 
in the period ended December 31, 2002. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is 
to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.  

      We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require 
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An 
audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

      In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the companies as of 
December 31, 2002 and 2001, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2002 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.  

      As discussed in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the Company changed its method of accounting for goodwill and 
other intangible assets to conform to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142.  

Phoenix, Arizona  
February 7, 2003  
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  /s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 

  _______________________________________  
Deloitte & Touche LLP 
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EXHIBIT INDEX  
          

EXHIBITS. # 

  
3.A 

    
Copy of Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Viad Corp, as amended through August 15, 1996, filed as 
Exhibit 3.A to Viad Corp’s 1996 Form 10-K, is hereby incorporated by reference. 

  3.B     Copy of Bylaws of Viad Corp, as amended through November 19, 1998, filed as Exhibit 3.B to Viad Corp’s 1998 
Form 10-K, is hereby incorporated by reference. 

  

4.A 

    

Instruments with respect to issues of long-term debt have not been filed as exhibits to this annual report on Form 10-
K if the authorized principal amount of any one of such issues does not exceed 10% of total assets of the 
Corporation and its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. The Corporation agrees to furnish a copy of each such 
instrument to the Securities and Exchange Commission upon request. 

  
4.B 

    
Copy of Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (Long-Term Revolving Credit Facility) dated as of August 31, 
2001, filed as Exhibit 4.A to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2001, is hereby 
incorporated by reference. 

  
4.B1 

    
Copy of Credit Agreement (Short-Term Revolving Credit Facility) dated as of August 31, 2001, filed as Exhibit 4.B 
to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2001, is hereby incorporated by reference. 

  
4.B2 

    
Copy of First Amendment dated October 3, 2001 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (Long Term 
Revolving Credit Facility) dated as of August 31, 2001, filed as Exhibit 4.B2 to Viad Corp’s Form 10-K for the 
period ended December 31, 2001, is hereby incorporated by reference. 

  
4.B3 

    
Copy of U.S. $168,000,000 First Amendment to Credit Agreement (Short-Term Revolving Credit Facility) dated as 
of August 30, 2002, filed as Exhibit 4 to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ended September 30, 2002, is hereby 
incorporated by reference. 

  10.A     Copy of Viad Corp 1992 Stock Incentive Plan as amended August 15, 1996, filed as Exhibit 4.3 to Viad Corp’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-8 (Registration No. 333-63397), is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  10.B     Copy of 1997 Viad Corp Omnibus Incentive Plan, as amended through May 14, 2002, filed as Exhibit 10.A to Viad 
Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2002,is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  
10.C1 

    
Copy of Performance Driven Restricted Stock Agreement, as amended March 26, 2002, pursuant to the 1997 Viad 
Corp Omnibus Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.B to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2002, 
is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  
10.C2 

    
Copy of Restricted Stock Agreement (periodic vesting) pursuant to the 1997 Viad Corp Omnibus Incentive Plan, 
filed as Exhibit 10.C to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2001, is hereby incorporated by 
reference.+ 

  
10.C3 

    
Copy of Restricted Stock Agreement (three year cliff vesting) as amended March 26, 2002, pursuant to the 1997 
Viad Corp Omnibus Incentive Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.B to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 
2002, is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  10.D     Copy of Viad Corp Management Incentive Plan, as amended November 21, 2002.+* 

  10.E     Copy of Viad Corp Performance Unit Incentive Plan, as amended August 15, 2001, filed as Exhibit 10.E to Viad 
Corp’s Form 10-K for the period ended December 31, 2001, is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  10.F     Copy of Viad Corp Performance-Based Stock Plan, as amended and restated effective May 1998, filed as 
Exhibit 10.D to Viad Corp’s Second Quarter 1998 Form 10-Q, is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  10.G     Copy of Viad Corp Deferred Compensation Plan, Amended and Restated as of November 21, 2002.+* 

  
10.H1 

    
Copy of form of Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement effective as of March 15, 2001, between 
Viad Corp and Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, filed as Exhibit 10.F(i) to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q 
for the period ended March 31, 2001, is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 
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10.H2 

    
Copy of forms of Viad Corp Amended and Restated Executive Severance Plans covering certain executive officers, 
filed as Exhibit 10.F(ii) to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ended March 31, 2001, is hereby incorporated by 
reference.+ 

  10.I     Copy of Employment Agreement between Viad Corp and Robert H. Bohannon dated April 1, 1998, filed as 
Exhibit 10 to Viad Corp’s First Quarter 1998 Form 10-Q, is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  10.J     Copy of Viad Corp Supplemental TRIM Plan, filed as Exhibit 10.M to Viad Corp’s 1994 Form 10-K, is hereby 
incorporated by reference.+ 

  10.J1     Copy of First Amendment, dated as of May 8, 2001, to the Viad Corp Supplemental TRIM Plan, filed as 
Exhibit 10.A to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2001, is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  10.K     Copy of Viad Corp Supplemental Pension Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2001, filed as 
Exhibit 10.B to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ending June 30, 2001, is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  
10.L 

    
Copy of Travelers Express Company, Inc. Supplemental Pension Plan, restated as of January 1, 2001, filed as 
Exhibit 10.A to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2001, is hereby incorporated by 
reference.+ 

  
10.M 

    
Copy of GES Exposition Services, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, restated as of January 1, 2001, 
filed as Exhibit 10.B to Viad Corp’s Form 10-Q for the period ending September 30, 2001, is hereby incorporated 
by reference.+ 

  10.N     Copy of Deferred Compensation Plan for Directors of Viad Corp, as Amended and Restated November 21, 2002.+* 

  10.O     Copy of Viad Corp Director’s Charitable Award Program as amended through March 15, 1996, filed as Exhibit 10.T 
to Viad Corp’s 1995 Form 10-K, is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  10.P     Description of Viad Corp Director’s Matching Gift Program, filed as Exhibit 10.Q to Viad Corp’s 1999 Form 10-K, 
is hereby incorporated by reference.+ 

  21     List of Subsidiaries of Viad Corp.* 

  23     Independent Auditors’ Consent to the incorporation by reference into specified registration statements on Form S-3 
or on Form S-8 of their report contained in this report.* 

  24     Power of Attorney signed by Directors of Viad Corp.* 

 *  Filed herewith. 
  
 +  Management contract or compensation plan or arrangement. 



EXHIBIT 10.D  

VIAD CORP  

MANAGEMENT INCENTIVE PLAN  

PURSUANT TO THE 1997 VIAD CORP OMNIBUS INCENTIVE PL AN  

AS AMENDED NOVEMBER 21, 2002  

I. PURPOSE:  

The purpose of the Viad Corp Management Incentive Plan (Plan) is to provide key executives of Viad Corp (Viad) and its subsidiaries with an 
incentive to achieve goals as set forth under this Plan for each calendar year (Plan Year) for their respective companies and to provide effective 
management and leadership to that end.  

II. PHILOSOPHY:  

The Plan will provide key executives incentive bonuses based upon appropriately weighted pre-defined income and other performance 
measurements.  

III. SUBSIDIARIES, SUBSIDIARY GROUPS AND DIVISIONS:  

A. Each subsidiary, subsidiary group, line of business or division listed below is a "Company" for the purposes of this Plan:  

Name of Company  

Brewster Transport Company Limited/Brewster Tours group Exhibitgroup/Giltspur group  
GES Exposition Services, Inc. group Glacier Park, Inc.  
Travelers Express Company, Inc. group  

Viad may, by action of its Board of Directors or its Human Resources Committee, add or remove business units on the list of participant 
companies from time to time.  

B. FUNDING LIMIT:  

A "funding limit" shall be established annually for each Company participant who has been designated an Executive Officer as defined under 
Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act. The funding limit shall be an amount determined by multiplying the actual net income of the 
Company for the Plan Year by the percent of such income approved by the Human Resources Committee of the Viad Corp Board  
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of Directors (Committee) for such funding limit. The subsidiary executive cannot be paid a larger bonus than the funding limit provided by this 
clause, but may be paid less in the discretion of the Committee based on the Performance Goals set forth below and other such factors which 
the Committee may consider.  

C. PERFORMANCE GOALS:  

1. OPERATING OR PRE-TAX INCOME (as calculated for external reporting purposes):  

An appropriate "operating income" or "pre-tax income" target for the plan year for each Company will be recommended by the Chief Executive 
Officer of Viad to the Committee for approval taking into account overall corporate objectives, historical income and Plan Year financial plan 
income (on the same basis as determined below) and, if appropriate, other circumstances.  

Operating or pre-tax income to be used in calculating the bonus pool of each Company shall mean operating income before minority interest, 
interest expense and taxes, after deduction of corporate overhead, or pre-tax income after minority interest, in each case adjusted to 
appropriately exclude the effects of gains and losses from the sale or other disposition of capital assets other than vehicles. In addition, an 
adjustment to actual operating or pre-tax income will be made for any increase or decrease in cost to a subsidiary in connection with a change 
in the actual formula allocation of corporate overhead over amounts included in the Plan for the year.  

Special treatment of any other significant unusual or non-recurring items (for purposes of determining actual or target operating or pre-tax 
income) arising after a Company's targets are set may be recommended by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad to the Committee for approval, 
including, for example, appropriate adjustment of operating or pre-tax income target or actuals to reflect planned effects of an acquisition 
approved after target has been set. Other examples include unusual items or effects of a change in accounting principle.  

Incentives to be paid under this Plan must be deducted from the subsidiary corporation's earnings by the end of the year. Goals must be 
achieved after deducting from actual results all incentive compensation applicable to the year, including those incentives earned under this 
Plan.  
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2. VALUE ADDED MEASUREMENT:  

An appropriate "Value Added" target for the plan year for certain companies will be recommended by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad 
Corp to the Committee for approval. This measurement is intended to place increased emphasis on securing an adequate return to Viad on all 
capital employed in the business. Viad Value Added (VVA) compares net operating income to the return required on capital invested in the 
business.  

In calculating the bonus pool of each applicable Company, VVA shall mean Net Operating Profit After Taxes (NOPAT is defined as sales 
minus operating expenses minus taxes) minus a Capital Charge calculated by multiplying a Cost of Capital times the actual Capital (Capital is 
defined as total assets less current and other liabilities exclusive of debt). Certain adjustments are necessary to determine NOPAT and Capital.  

3. CASH FLOW:  

An appropriate "Cash Flow" target for the plan year for certain companies will be recommended by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp 
to the Committee for approval. This measurement is intended to place increased emphasis on delivering available cash to Viad.  

Free Cash Flow is defined as net income plus depreciation and amortization less capital expenditures, plus the change in working capital plus 
minority interest income/loss plus the change in other operating activities (i.e., change in long-term assets/liabilities, settlement of lawsuits, 
etc.).  

4. OTHER PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENTS:  

An appropriate number of performance measurements other than operating or pre-tax income, VVA, and cash flow will be established for each 
Company, to place increased emphasis on areas of importance to achieving overall corporate objectives, with the Chief Executive Officer of 
Viad to recommend to the Committee the measures to be used and, at the end of the year, the level of achievement against each.  

5. REVENUE:  

The bonus pool earned will be subject to a further calculation whereby the total bonus pool otherwise accruable will be adjusted by 95% 
(threshold) up to 105% (maximum), depending on the achievement against the revenue target.  
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6. ESTABLISHING TARGETS:  

The targets for revenue, operating or pre-tax income, VVA, cash flow and for the categories of discretionary performance measurements to be 
employed will be established by the Committee no later than 90 days after the beginning of the Plan Year after receiving the recommendations 
of the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp.  

D. PARTICIPANT ELIGIBILITY:  

The Committee will select the Executive Officers as defined under  
Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act eligible for participation no later than 90 days after the beginning of the Plan Year. Other 
personnel will be eligible for participation as designated by each Company President or Chief Executive Officer and recommended to the Chief 
Executive Officer of Viad Corp for approval, limited only to those executives who occupy a position in which they can significantly affect 
operating results as pre-defined by appropriate and consistent criteria, i.e., base salary not less than $49,000 per year, or base salary not less 
than 50% of the Company's Chief Executive Officer, or position not more than the third organizational level below the Company Chief 
Executive Officer or another applicable criteria.  

NOTE: Individuals not qualifying under the criteria established for the Plan Year who were included in the previous year will be grandfathered 
(continue as qualified participants until retirement, reassignment, or termination of employment) if designated by the Company President or 
Chief Executive Officer, and approved by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp.  

E. TARGET BONUSES:  

Target bonuses will be approved by the Committee for each Executive Officer in writing within the following parameters no later than 90 days 
after the beginning of the Plan Year and will be expressed as a percentage of salary paid during the year. Target bonuses for other eligible 
personnel will be established in writing within the following parameters subject to approval by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp.  

Actual bonus awards will be dependent on Company performance versus the targets established. A threshold performance will be required 
before any bonus award is earned under the net income goal. Awards will also be capped when stretch performance levels are achieved.  

4  



 

* Target Bonus, as determined by the Committee, is dependent upon organization reporting relationships.  

** Reflects minimum achievement of all performance targets. Threshold could be lower if minimum achievement of only one performance 
target is met.  

F. BONUS POOL TARGET:  

1. The "Bonus Pool Target" will be initially established no later than 90 days after the beginning of the Plan Year and will be adjusted to equal 
the sum of the target bonuses of all designated participants in each Company based upon actual Plan Year salaries, as outlined in paragraph D 
above, plus 15% for Special Achievement Awards.  

2. The bonus pool will accrue in accordance with the Bonus Pool Accrual Formula recommended by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp 
and approved by the Committee.  

3. Bonus pool accruals not paid out shall not be carried forward to any succeeding year.  

G. INDIVIDUAL BONUS AWARDS:  

1. Indicated bonus awards will be equal to the product of the target bonus percentage times the weighted average percentage of bonus pool 
accrued as determined in paragraph F above times the individual's actual base salary earnings during the Plan Year, subject to adjustments as 
follows:  

a) discretionary upwards or downward adjustment of formula bonus awards by the Committee after considering the recommendation of the 
Company President or Chief Executive Officer with the approval of the  
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                                                         As a Percentage of Salary 
                                                  --------------------------------------- 
 
             Subsidiary Positions*                Threshold**     Target          Cap 
-----------------------------------------------   -----------   -----------   ----------- 
 
Chief Executive Officer/President                        25.0%           50%          100% 
                                                         22.5%           45%           90% 
                                                         20.0%           40%           80% 
 
Executive Vice President-Senior Vice President,          20.0%           40%           80% 
and Other Operating Executives 
 
Vice Presidents                                          17.5%           35%           70% 
                                                         15.0%           30%           60% 
 
Key Management Reporting to Officers                     12.5%           25%           50% 
                                                         10.0%           20%           40% 
 
Staff Professionals                                       7.5%           15%           30% 
                                                          5.0%           10%           20% 



Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp for those executives not affected by Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, and  

b) discretionary downward adjustment of awards by the Committee for those Executive Officers affected by  
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, and  

c) no individual award may exceed the individual's capped target award or the funding limit with respect to Executive Officers, and the 
aggregate recommended bonuses may not exceed the bonus pool accrued for other than Special Achievement Awards.  

2. Bonuses awarded to the participating management staff of subsidiary groups may be paid from funds accrued based upon the target bonus 
for such participant(s) times the weighted average performance of the Companies in the subsidiary group, subject to adjustments as above.  

IV. VIAD CORP CORPORATE STAFF:  

A. FUNDING LIMIT:  

A "funding limit" shall be established annually for each Corporate participant who has been designated an Executive Officer as defined under 
Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act. The funding limit will be an amount determined by multiplying the actual net income from 
continuing operations of Viad (as used in the income per share calculation described herein) for the Plan Year by the percent of such income 
approved by the Committee for such funding limit. The executive cannot be paid a larger bonus than the funding limit provided by this clause, 
but may be paid less in the discretion of the Committee based on the Performance Goals set forth below and such other factors which the 
Committee may consider.  

B. PERFORMANCE GOALS:  

1. INCOME PER SHARE:  

An appropriate "income per share" from continuing operations target for Viad Corp will be recommended by the Chief Executive Officer of 
Viad Corp to the Committee for approval after considering historical income per share from continuing operations, Plan Year financial plan 
income, overall corporate objectives, and, if appropriate, other circumstances.  

Income per share from continuing operations is determined before unusual or extraordinary items, effects of changes in accounting principles 
or a change in federal income tax rates after the target has been set. Reclassification of a major business unit to discontinued operations status 
after targets have been set would also require adjustment because of the effect on continuing operations results. While gains on disposition of a  
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business would normally not be included in determining actual Plan Year net income or income per share, in the event of the sale of a 
subsidiary or major business unit, a portion of gain would be included equal to the difference between the sold unit's planned net income for the 
year and actual results to date of sale plus calculated interest savings on proceeds for the balance of the year, so that actual results are not 
penalized for selling a business.  

Incentives to be paid under this Plan must be deducted from Viad's earnings by the end of the year. Goals must be achieved after deducting 
from actual results all incentive compensation applicable to the year, including those incentives earned under this Plan.  

2. VALUE ADDED MEASUREMENT:  

An appropriate "Value Added" target for the plan year for Corporate will be recommended by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad for approval 
by the Human Resources Committee. This measurement is intended to place increased emphasis on securing an adequate return to Viad on all 
capital employed in the business. Viad Value Added (VVA) compares operating income to the return required on capital invested in the 
business.  

In calculating the bonus pool for Corporate, VVA shall mean Net Operating Profit After Taxes (NOPAT is defined as sales minus operating 
expenses minus taxes) minus a Capital Charge calculated by multiplying a Cost of Capital times the actual Capital (Capital is defined as total 
assets less current and other liabilities exclusive of debt). Certain adjustments are necessary to determine NOPAT and Capital.  

3. OTHER PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENTS:  

An appropriate number of performance measurements other than income per share will be established for Corporate, with the Chief Executive 
Officer of Viad to recommend to the Committee the level of achievement against each of the measures.  

4. REVENUE:  

The bonus pool earned will be subject to a further calculation whereby the total bonus pool otherwise accruable will be adjusted by 95% 
(threshold) up to 105% (maximum) depending on the achievement against the revenue target.  

5. ESTABLISHING TARGETS:  

The actual targets for revenue, income per share, VVA and for the performance measurements to be used will be established by the Committee 
no later than 90 days after the beginning of the Plan Year after  
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receiving the recommendations of the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp.  

C. PARTICIPANT ELIGIBILITY:  

The Committee will select the Executive Officers as defined under  
Section 16(b) of the Securities Exchange Act eligible for participation no later than 90 days after the beginning of the Plan Year. Other 
personnel will be eligible for participation as recommended by the appropriate staff Vice President and as approved by the Chief Executive 
Officer of Viad Corp, limited only to those executives who occupy a position in which they can significantly affect operating results as defined 
by the following criteria:  

a) Salary grade 25 and above; and  

b) Not more than Organizational Level Four below the Chief Executive Officer.  

NOTE: Individuals not qualifying under the criteria established for the Plan Year who were included in the previous year will be grandfathered 
(continue as qualified participants until retirement, reassignment, or termination of employment) if designated by the appropriate Vice 
President and approved by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp.  

D. TARGET BONUSES:  

Target bonuses will be approved by the Committee for each Executive Officer in writing within the following parameters no later than 90 days 
after the beginning of the Plan Year and will be expressed as a percentage of salary. Target bonuses for other eligible personnel will be 
established in writing within the following parameters subject to approval by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp.  

Actual bonus awards will be dependent on Company performance versus the targets established. A threshold performance will be required 
before any bonus award is earned under the income per share goal. Awards also will be capped when stretch performance levels are achieved.  
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* Target Bonus, as determined by the Committee, is dependent upon organization reporting relationships.  

** Reflects minimum of achievement of all performance targets. Threshold could be lower if minimum achievement of only one performance 
target is met.  

E. BONUS POOL TARGET:  

1. The "Bonus Pool Target" will be established no later than 90 days after the beginning of the Plan Year and will be adjusted to equal the sum 
of the target bonuses of all qualified participants based upon actual Plan Year base salaries, as outlined in paragraph C above, plus 15% for 
Special Achievement Awards.  

2. The bonus pool will accrue in accordance with the Bonus Pool Accrual Formula recommended by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp 
and approved by the Committee.  

3. Bonus pool accruals not paid out shall not be carried forward to any succeeding year.  

F. INDIVIDUAL BONUS AWARDS:  

Indicated bonus awards will be equal to the product of the target bonus percentage times the weighted average percentage of bonus pool 
accrued as determined in paragraph D above times the individual's actual Plan Year base salary earnings, subject to adjustments as follows:  

a) discretionary upward or downward adjustment of formula awards by the Committee after considering the recommendations of the Chief 
Executive Officer of Viad Corp for those executives not affected by Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code,  
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                                                         As a Percentage of Salary 
                                                  --------------------------------------- 
 
              Corporate Positions                 Threshold**     Target          Cap 
-----------------------------------------------   -----------   -----------   ----------- 
 
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer            37.5%           75%          150% 
 
 
Senior Advisory Group                                    25.0%           50%          100% 
                                                         22.5%           45%           90% 
 
Corporate Staff Officers                                 20.0%           40%           80% 
 
Staff Directors*                                         17.5%           35%           70% 
                                                         15.0%           30%           60% 
                                                         12.5%           25%           50% 
                                                         10.0%           20%           40% 
 
Staff Professionals*                                      7.5%           15%           30% 
                                                          5.0%           10%           20% 



b) discretionary downward adjustment of awards by the Committee for those Executive Officers affected by  
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, and  

c) no individual award may exceed the individual's capped target award or the funding limit with respect to Executive Officers and the 
aggregate recommended bonuses may not exceed the bonus pool for other than Special Achievement Awards.  

V. SPECIAL ACHIEVEMENT AWARDS:  

Special bonuses of up to 15% of base salary for exceptional performance to employees (primarily exempt employees) who are not participants 
in this Plan, including newly hired employees, may be recommended at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer to the Committee from the 
separate funds for discretionary awards provided for under paragraphs III F and IV E.  

VI. APPROVAL AND DISTRIBUTION:  

The individual incentive bonus amounts and the terms of payment thereof will be fixed following the close of the Plan Year by the Committee. 
Any award made under this Plan is subject to the approval of this Plan by the stockholders of Viad Corp.  

VII. COMPENSATION ADVISORY COMMITTEE:  

The Compensation Advisory Committee is appointed by the Chief Executive Officer of Viad Corp to assist the Committee in the 
implementation and administration of this Plan. The Compensation Advisory Committee shall propose administrative guidelines to the 
Committee to govern interpretations of this Plan and to resolve ambiguities, if any, but the Compensation Advisory Committee will not have 
the power to terminate, alter, amend, or modify this Plan or any actions hereunder in any way at any time.  

VIII. SPECIAL COMPENSATION STATUS:  

All bonuses paid under this Plan shall be deemed to be special compensation and, therefore, unless otherwise provided for in another plan or 
agreement, will not be included in determining the earnings of the recipients for the purposes of any pension, group insurance or other plan or 
agreement of a Company or of Viad Corp. Participants in this Plan shall not be eligible for any contractual or other short-term (sales, 
productivity, etc.) incentive plan except in those cases where participation is weighted between this Plan and any such other short-term 
incentive plan.  

IX. DEFERRALS:  

Participants subject to taxation of income by the United States may submit to the Committee, prior to November 15 of the year in which the 
bonus is being earned a written request that all or a portion, but not less than a specified minimum, of their  
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bonus awards to be determined, if any, be irrevocably deferred substantially in accordance with the terms and conditions of a deferred 
compensation plan approved by the Board of Directors of Viad Corp or, if applicable, one of its subsidiaries. Participants subject to taxation of 
income by other jurisdictions may submit to the Committee a written request that all or a portion of their bonus awards be deferred in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of a plan which is adopted by the Board of Directors of a participant's Company. Upon the receipt of 
any such request, the Committee thereunder shall determine whether such request should be honored in whole or part and shall forthwith advise 
each participant of its determination on such request.  

X. PLAN TERMINATION:  

This Plan shall continue in effect until such time as it may be canceled or otherwise terminated by action of the Board of Directors of Viad 
Corp and will not become effective with respect to any Company unless and until its Board of Directors adopts a specific plan for such 
Company. While it is contemplated that incentive awards from the Plan will be made, the Board of Directors of Viad Corp, or any other 
Company hereunder, may terminate, amend, alter, or modify this Plan at any time and from time to time. Participation in the Plan shall create 
no right to participate in any future year's Plan.  

XI. EMPLOYEE RIGHTS:  

No participant in this Plan shall be deemed to have a right to any part or share of this Plan, except as provided in Paragraph XII. This Plan does 
not create for any employee or participant any right to be retained in service by any Company, nor affect the right of any such Company to 
discharge any employee or participant from employment. Except as provided for in administrative guidelines, a participant who is not an 
employee of Viad Corp or one of its subsidiaries on the date bonuses are paid will not receive a bonus payment.  

XII. EFFECT OF CHANGE OF CONTROL:  

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Plan, in the event of a Change of Control (as defined in the 1997 Viad Corp Omnibus 
Incentive Plan) each participant in the Plan shall be entitled to a prorata bonus award calculated on the basis of achievement of performance 
goals through the date of the Change of Control.  

XIII. EFFECTIVE DATE:  

The Plan shall be effective January 1, 1997, provided however, that any award made under this Plan is subject to the approval of the 1997 Viad 
Corp Omnibus Incentive Plan by the stockholders of Viad Corp.  
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EXHIBIT 10.G  

VIAD CORP  
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  

AMENDED AND RESTATED AS OF NOVEMBER 21, 2002  

1. PURPOSE OF THE PLAN.  

The purpose of the Deferred Compensation Plan (the Plan) is to provide a select group of management or highly compensated employees of 
Viad Corp (the Corporation) and its subsidiaries with an opportunity to defer the receipt of incentive compensation awarded to them under the 
Management Incentive Plan, the Performance Unit Incentive Plan and certain other incentive plans of Viad Corp and its subsidiaries (the 
Incentive Plans) and thereby enhance the long-range benefits and purposes of the incentive awards. Each plan year shall extend from January 1 
through December 31 of each calendar year.  

2. ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN.  

The Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Advisory Committee (the Committee). Subject to the express provisions of the Plan, and 
the Incentive Plans, the Committee shall have the authority to adopt, amend and rescind such rules and regulations, and to make such 
determinations and interpretations relating to the Plan, which it deems necessary or advisable for the administration of the Plan, but it shall not 
have the power to amend, suspend or terminate the Plan. All such rules, regulations, determinations and interpretations shall be conclusive and 
binding on all parties.  

3. PARTICIPATION IN THE PLAN.  

(a) Participation in the Plan shall be restricted to a select group of management or highly compensated employees of the Corporation or one of 
its subsidiaries who are participants in certain Incentive Plans, including the Management Incentive Plan, Viad Corp Performance Unit 
Incentive Plan, and any other bonus or bonuses or similar or successor plans, who have been selected in writing by the Chief Executive Officer 
of the Corporation to participate in the Plan, and whose timely written requests to defer the receipt of all or a portion of any incentive 
compensation which may be awarded to them, are honored in whole or in part by the Committee. Any individual whose request for deferral is 
not accepted or honored by the Committee, whether for failure of timely submission or for any other reason, shall not become a participant in 
the Plan, and the Committee's determination in this regard shall be conclusive and binding.  

(b) Participants may defer incentive compensation into a cash account and, if designated by the Committee, into a stock unit account.  



(c) If a participant in the Plan shall 1) sever, voluntarily or involuntarily, his employment with the Corporation or one of its subsidiaries other 
than as a result of disability or retirement, 2) engage in any activity in competition with the Corporation or any of its subsidiaries during or 
following such employment, or 3) remain in the employ of a corporation which for any reason ceases to be a subsidiary of the Corporation, the 
Committee may at any time thereafter direct, in its sole and exclusive discretion, that his participation in the Plan shall terminate, and that he be 
paid in a lump sum the aggregate amount credited to his deferred incentive cash account as of the date such participation is terminated and that 
he be paid shares of the Corporation's Common Stock equal to the aggregate number of stock units credited to his deferred stock unit account 
as of the date such participation is terminated (with any fractional unit being settled by cash payment). The Committee is authorized to 
establish and implement a policy and procedures for administration of this paragraph, including, but not limited to, a policy regarding small 
account balance cash-outs.  

(d) The Corporation and each participating subsidiary shall be solely liable for payment of any benefits and, except as may be otherwise 
determined by the Committee, for maintenance of deferred incentive accounts pursuant to paragraph 7, with respect to its own employees who 
participate in the Plan. In the event a participant leaves the employ of the Corporation or a participating subsidiary ("former employer") and is 
subsequently employed by another employer, the Corporation or another subsidiary of the Corporation ("new employer"), the former employer 
may agree to transfer and the new employer may agree to assume the benefit liability reflected in such participant's deferred incentive account, 
without the consent of such participant and subject to the approval of the Committee, in its sole discretion. In the event of such a transfer and 
assumption of liability, the former employer shall have no further liability for any benefit under the Plan to its former employee or otherwise 
with respect to such transferred account.  

4. REQUESTS FOR DEFERRAL.  

All requests for deferral of incentive awards must be made in writing prior to November 15 of the year in which the bonus is being earned and 
shall be in such form and shall contain such terms and conditions as the Committee may determine. Each such request shall specify the dollar 
amount or the percentage to be deferred of incentive award which would otherwise be received in the following calendar year, but the deferral 
amount must be in an amount equal to or greater than the lesser of $10,000 or 25% of the incentive award. Each such request shall also specify 
1) the date (no later than the employee's actual retirement date) when payment of the aggregate amount credited to the deferred incentive 
account is to commence, 2) whether such payment is then to be made in a lump sum or in quarterly or annual installments, 3) if payment is to 
be made in installments, the period of time (not in excess of ten years) over which the installments are to be paid, and 4) if the participant is 
permitted to defer incentive compensation into a stock unit account, the portion of the  
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deferred incentive compensation which shall be treated as a cash account under paragraph 7(b) and the portion which shall be treated as a stock 
unit account under paragraph 7(c). If the participant has requested that a portion of the deferred incentive compensation be placed in a stock 
unit account, such request shall also include acknowledgment that such stock unit account will be settled in Common Stock of the Corporation, 
and that such stock unit account cannot be converted to a cash account in the future. The Committee shall, under no circumstances, accept any 
request for deferral of less than $1,000 of an incentive award or any request which is not in writing or which is not timely submitted.  

5. DEFERRAL AND PAYMENT OF INCENTIVE AWARDS.  

The Committee shall, prior to December 15 of the year in which the bonus is being earned, notify each individual who has submitted a request 
for deferral of an incentive award whether or not such request has been accepted and honored. If the request has been honored in whole or in 
part, the Committee shall advise the participant of the dollar amount or percentage of his incentive compensation which the Committee has 
determined to be deferred. The Committee shall further advise the participant of its determination as to the date when payment of the aggregate 
amount credited to the participant's deferred incentive account is to commence, whether payment of the amount so credited as of that date will 
then be made in a lump sum or in quarterly or annual installments, if payment is to be made in installments, the period of time over which the 
installments will be paid, and if the participant is permitted to defer incentive compensation into a stock unit account, whether the deferred 
incentive account shall be treated as a cash account or a stock unit account or split between cash and stock units. Upon subsequently being 
advised of the existence of special circumstances which are beyond the participant's control and which impose an unforeseen severe financial 
hardship on the participant or his beneficiary, the Committee may, in its sole and exclusive discretion, modify the deferral arrangement 
established for that participant to the extent necessary to remedy such financial hardship.  

If the participant has elected to defer incentive compensation in the form of cash, the Corporation shall distribute a sum in cash to such 
participant, pursuant to his or her election provided for in paragraph 4. If the participant has elected to defer incentive compensation in the form 
of stock units, the Corporation shall distribute to such participant, pursuant to his or her election provided for in paragraph 4, shares of 
Common Stock of the Corporation equal to the number of stock units being settled in such installment (with any fractional unit being settled by 
cash payment).  

6. CONVERSION OF CASH ACCOUNT BALANCE.  

Each participant who is permitted to defer incentive compensation into a stock unit account may, not more than once a year or such other 
period as is determined by the Committee, by written notice delivered to the Committee, convert the aggregate  
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balance or any portion thereof in his or her deferred compensation cash account (either before or after installment payments from the account 
may have commenced) from an account in the form of cash to an account in the form of stock units in an amount equal to the cash balance or 
specified portion thereof divided by the closing price of the Common Stock of the Corporation (as reported for the New York Stock Exchange-
Composite Transactions) on the last trading day of the quarter in which such notice is given, said account to then accrue dividend equivalents 
as set forth in paragraph 7(c) below; provided however, that no such notice of conversion ("Conversion Notice") (a) may be given within six 
months following the date of an election by such participant, if an Executive Officer of the Corporation, with respect to any plan of the 
Corporation, that effected a Discretionary Transaction (as defined in Rule 16b-3(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that was a 
disposition or  
(b) may be given after an individual ceases to be an employee of the Corporation. The stock unit account will be settled in Common Stock of 
the Corporation and such stock unit account cannot be converted to a cash account in the future.  

7. DEFERRED INCENTIVE ACCOUNT.  

(a) A deferred incentive account shall be maintained by his employer for each participant in the Plan, and there shall be credited to each 
participant's account, on the date incentive compensation is paid, the incentive award, or portion thereof, which would have been paid to such 
participant on said date if the receipt thereof had not been deferred. If the account is to be a stock unit account, the incentive compensation 
award shall be converted into stock units by dividing the closing price of the Corporation=s Common Stock (as reported for the New York 
Stock Exchange Composite Transactions) on the day such incentive award is payable into such incentive award.  

(b) If the participant has elected to defer incentive compensation in the form of cash, there shall be credited on the last day of the quarter to 
each participant's account, an interest credit on his deferred incentive award at the interest rates determined by the Committee to be payable 
during each calendar year, or portion thereof, prior to the termination of such participant's deferral period or, if the amount then credited to his 
deferred incentive account is to be paid in installments, prior to the termination of such installment period. Interest will be paid on a prorated 
basis for amounts withdrawn from the account during the quarter, with the remaining balance accruing interest for the duration of the quarter. 
The interest credit for the following quarter shall be a rate equal to the yield as of March 31, June 30, September 30, and December 31 on 
Merrill Lynch Taxable Bond Index - Long Term Medium Quality (A3) Industrial Bonds, unless and until otherwise determined.  

(c) If a participant has elected to defer incentive compensation in the form of stock units, then, in the event of a dividend paid in cash, stock of 
the Corporation (other than Common Stock) or property, additional credits (dividend equivalents) shall be  
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made to the participant's stock unit account consisting of a number of stock units equal to the amount of such dividend per share (or the fair 
market value, on the date of payment, of dividends paid in stock or property), multiplied by the aggregate number of stock units credited to 
such participant's deferred compensation account on the record date for the payment of such dividend, divided by the last closing price of the 
Corporation's Common Stock (as reported for the New York State Exchange-Composite transactions) prior to the date such dividend is payable 
to stockholders. After payment of deferred compensation commences, dividend equivalents shall accrue on the unpaid balance thereof in the 
same manner until all such deferred compensation has been paid.  

(d) In the event of a dividend of Common Stock declared and paid by the Corporation, an additional credit shall be made to the participant's 
stock unit account of a number of stock units equal to the number of shares of the Corporation's Common Stock which the participant would 
have received as a stock dividend had he or she been the owner on the record date for the payment of such stock dividend of the number of 
shares of Common Stock equal to the number of units in such stock unit account on such date. After payment of deferred compensation 
commences, additional credits for stock dividends shall accrue on the unpaid balance thereof in the same manner until all such deferred 
compensation has been paid.  

(e) The Plan shall at all times be unfunded. The Corporation shall not be required to segregate physically any amounts of money or otherwise 
provide funding or security for any amounts credited to the deferred incentive accounts of participants in the Plan.  

8. CHANGE OF CONTROL OR CHANGE IN CAPITALIZATION.  

(a) If a tender offer or exchange offer for shares of Common Stock of the Corporation (other than such an offer by the Corporation) is 
commenced, or if the stockholders of the Corporation shall approve an agreement providing either for a transaction in which the Corporation 
will cease to be an independent publicly owned corporation or for a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all the assets of the 
Corporation (Change of Control), a lump sum cash payment shall be made to each participant participating in the Plan of the aggregate current 
balance of his or her deferred compensation cash account accrued on the date of the Change of Control, notwithstanding any other provision 
herein. If the participant has elected to defer compensation in the form of stock units, the Corporation shall distribute to such participant shares 
of Common Stock of the Corporation equal to the number of stock units in such participant's stock unit account on the day preceding the date 
of the Change of Control (with any fractional unit being settled by cash payment). Any notice by a participant to change or terminate his or her 
election to defer Compensation on or before the date of the Change of Control shall be effective as of the date of the Change of Control, 
notwithstanding any other provision herein.  
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(b) Any recapitalization, reclassification, split-up, spin-off, sale of assets, combination or merger not otherwise provided for herein which 
affects the outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Corporation or any other relevant change in the capitalization of the Corporation shall 
be appropriately adjusted for by the Board of Directors of this Corporation, and any such adjustments shall be final, conclusive and binding.  

9. DESIGNATION OF BENEFICIARY.  

Each participant in the Plan shall deliver to the Committee a written instrument, in the form provided by the Committee, designating one or 
more beneficiaries to whom payment of the amount credited to his deferred incentive account shall be made in the event of his death. Unless 
the Committee shall otherwise determine, such payments shall be made in such amounts and at such times as they would otherwise have been 
paid to the participant if he had survived.  

10. NONASSIGNABILITY OF PARTICIPATION RIGHTS.  

No right, interest or benefit under the Plan shall be assignable or transferable under any circumstances other than to a participant's designated 
beneficiary in the event of his death, nor shall any such right, interest or benefit be subject to or liable for any debt, obligation, liability or 
default of any participant. The payments, benefits or rights arising by reason of this Plan shall not in any way be subject to a participant's debts, 
contracts or engagements, and shall not be subject to attachment, garnishment, levy, execution or other legal or equitable process.  

11. RIGHTS OF PARTICIPANTS.  

A participant in the Plan shall have only those rights, interests or benefits as are expressly provided in the Plan and in the Incentive Plans. The 
Plan shall be deemed to be ancillary to the Incentive Plans and the rights of participants in the Plan shall be limited as provided in the Incentive 
Plans.  

12. CLAIMS FOR BENEFITS.  

Claims for benefits under the Plan shall be filed with the Committee. Written notice of the disposition of a claim shall be furnished the claimant 
within 60 days after the application therefor is filed. In the event the claim is denied, the reasons for the denial shall be specifically set forth. 
Pertinent provisions of this Plan shall be cited. In addition, the written notice shall describe any additional material or information necessary for 
the claimant to perfect the claim (along with an explanation of why such material or information is needed), and the written notice will fully 
describe the claim review procedures of paragraph 13 below.  

13. CLAIM REVIEW.  
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Any claimant who has been denied a benefit shall be entitled, upon request to the Committee, to receive a written notice of such action, 
together with a full and clear statement of the reasons for the action. The claimant may also review this Plan if he chooses. If the claimant 
wishes further consideration of his position, he may request a hearing. The request, together with a written statement of the claimant's position, 
shall be filed with a Committee member no later than 60 days after receipt of the written notification provided for above. The Committee shall 
schedule an opportunity for a full and fair hearing of the issue within the next 60 days. The decision following the hearing shall be made within 
60 days and shall be communicated in writing to the claimant. If the claimant requests, the hearing may be waived, in which case the 
Committee's decision shall be made within 60 days from the date on which the hearing is waived and shall be communicated in writing to the 
claimant.  

14. AMENDMENT, SUSPENSION OR TERMINATION OF THE PLAN.  

The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the Board) may from time to time amend, suspend or terminate the Plan, in whole or in part, and if 
the Plan is suspended or terminated, the Board may reinstate any or all provisions of the Plan, except that no amendment, suspension or 
termination of the Plan shall, without the consent of a participant, adversely affect such participant's right to receive payment of the entire 
amount credited to his deferred incentive account on the date of such Board action. In the event the Plan is suspended or terminated, the Board 
may, in its discretion, direct the Committee to pay to each participant the amount credited to his account either in a lump sum or in accordance 
with the Committee's prior determination regarding the method of payment.  

15. EFFECTIVE DATE.  

The Plan shall become effective on the date of its approval by the Human Resources Committee of the Viad Corp Board of Directors or on 
such other date as the Human Resources Committee may direct, but the Plan shall become operative with respect to a select group of 
management or highly compensated employees of each subsidiary only upon the adoption of the Plan by that subsidiary's Board of Directors.  
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EXHIBIT 10.N  

DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN  
FOR DIRECTORS OF  

VIAD CORP  

AS AMENDED AND RESTATED  
NOVEMBER 21, 2002  

1. ESTABLISHMENT AND CONTINUATION OF PLAN.  

There was heretofore established, in recognition of the valuable services provided to Greyhound Dial Corporation by the individuals who serve 
as members of its Board of Directors, an unfunded plan of voluntary deferred compensation known as the "Directors Deferred Compensation 
Plan" (Plan). The Dial Corp, a Delaware corporation and successor by operation of law to Greyhound Dial Corporation, intends to distribute to 
its stockholders (the Spin-Off) one share of common stock, $0.01 par value, of The Dial Corporation, its wholly-owned subsidiary (Consumer 
Products) which will own and operate its consumer products business (Consumer Products Common Stock). Following the Spin-Off, The Dial 
Corp will change its name to "Viad Corp". All references herein to the "Corporation" mean The Dial Corp, prior to the Spin-Off, and Viad 
Corp, following the Spin-Off. All Directors of the Corporation, except Directors receiving a regular salary as an employee of the Corporation 
or one of its subsidiaries, are eligible to participate in this Plan. All Directors who become directors of Consumer Products and cease to be 
directors of the Corporation in connection with the Spin-Off will no longer be eligible to participate in this Plan, and all obligations accrued 
prior to the date of the Spin-Off under this Plan with respect to such individuals will be assumed by Consumer Products. A Director may elect 
to defer under this Plan any retainer or meeting attendance fee otherwise payable to him or her (Compensation) by the Corporation or by 
domestic subsidiaries of this Corporation (subsidiaries).  

2. EFFECTIVE DATE.  

This Plan became effective on January 1, 1981.  

3. ELECTION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE PLAN.  

A. (i) A Director of this Corporation may elect to defer the receipt of all or a specified part of the Compensation otherwise payable to him or 
her during a calendar year by the Corporation or its subsidiaries. Any person who shall become a Director during any calendar year, and who 
was not a Director of  
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the Corporation or its subsidiaries on the preceding December 31, may elect before the Director's term begins to defer such Compensation. 
Such election shall also specify whether the account shall be treated as a cash account under Section 4A or a stock unit account under Section 
4B; provided that an election to defer Compensation into a stock unit account must be specifically approved by the Board of Directors of the 
Corporation. If the account is to be a cash account, the Compensation, if it is a meeting attendance fee, shall be payable on the date of each 
applicable meeting, and, if it is a retainer, shall be payable on the last trading day of each applicable quarter. If the account is to be a stock unit 
account, the Compensation shall be converted into stock units by dividing the closing price of the Corporation's Common Stock (as reported for 
the New York Stock Exchange-Composite Transactions) on the day such Compensation is payable into such Compensation, which, in the case 
of a meeting attendance fee or a retainer, is the last trading day of each applicable quarter.  

(ii) In connection with the Spin-Off, the Dial Director's Retirement Plan (the "Retirement Plan") will be terminated. As of the Distribution 
Date, the Corporation will credit, to an existing or newly-established, stock unit account for each Director eligible to participate in this Plan 
who is a participant under the Retirement Plan (and who does not elect to continue to receive cash payments under the Retirement Plan) a 
number of stock units equal to (A) the present value of such Director's vested accrued benefits under the Retirement Plan divided by (B) the 
closing price of the Corporation's Common Stock (as reported for the New York Stock Exchange-Composite Transactions) as of the first 
trading day following the Distribution Date. Such stock unit account shall thereafter be maintained in accordance with this Plan.  

B. Any election under this Plan, unless otherwise provided therein, shall be made by delivering a signed request to the Secretary of the 
Corporation on or before December 31 with respect to the following calendar year, or, for a new Director, on or before his or her term begins. 
An election shall continue from year to year, unless specifically limited, until terminated by a signed request in the same manner in which an 
election is made. However, any such termination shall not become effective until the end of the calendar year in which notice of termination is 
given.  

C. Each Director may, by notice delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation, convert: (i) the aggregate balance in his or her deferred 
compensation account (either before or after payments from the account may have commenced) from an account in the form of stock units to 
an account in the form of cash in an amount equal to such stock units balance multiplied by the closing price of the Common Stock of the 
Corporation (as reported for the New York Stock Exchange-Composite Transactions) on the last trading day of the quarter in which such notice 
is given, said account to accrue interest as set forth  
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in Section 4 below, or (ii) convert the aggregate balance in his or her deferred compensation account (either before or after installment 
payments from the account may have commenced) from an account in the form of cash to an account in the form of stock units in an amount 
equal to cash balance divided by the closing price of the Common Stock of the Corporation (as reported for the New York Stock Exchange-
Composite Transactions) on the last trading day of the quarter in which such notice is given, said account to accrue dividend equivalents as set 
forth in  
Section 4 below; provided however, that no such notice of conversion ("Conversion Notice") (a) may be given within six months following the 
date of an election by such Director, with respect to any plan of the Corporation, that effected a Discretionary Transaction (as defined in Rule 
16b-3(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that was an acquisition (if the Conversion Notice is pursuant to clause (i)) or a disposition 
(if the Conversion Notice is pursuant to clause (ii)) or (b) may be given after an individual ceases to be a Director.  

4. ACCRUAL OF INTEREST OR DIVIDEND EQUIVALENTS.  

A. If a Director has elected to defer Compensation in the form of cash, then interest on the unpaid balance of such Director's deferred 
compensation account, consisting of both accumulated Compensation and interest, if any, will be credited on the last day of each quarter based 
upon the yield on Merrill Lynch Taxable Bond Index-Long Term Medium Quality (A3) Industrial Bonds in effect at the beginning of such 
quarter, said interest to commence with the date such compensation was otherwise payable. After payment of deferred Compensation 
commences, interest shall accrue on the unpaid balance thereof in the same manner until all such deferred Compensation has been paid.  

B. If a Director has elected to defer Compensation in the form of stock units, then, in the event of a dividend paid in cash, stock of the 
Corporation (other than Common Stock) or property, additional credits (dividend equivalents) shall be made to the Director's stock unit account 
consisting of a number of stock units equal to the amount of such dividend per share (or the fair market value, on the date of payment, of 
dividends paid in stock or property), multiplied by the aggregate number of stock units credited to such Director's deferred compensation 
account on the record date for the payment of such dividend, divided by the last closing price of the Corporation's Common Stock (as reported 
for the New York State Exchange-Composite transactions) prior to the date such dividend is payable to stockholders. Furthermore, additional 
credits (dividend equivalents) shall be made to the Director's stock unit account consisting of a number of stock units equal to the amount of 
such dividend per share (or the fair market value, on the date of payment, of dividends paid in stock or property), multiplied by the incremental 
number of stock units credited to such Director's deferred compensation account, on the last business day prior to the date such  
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dividend is payable to stockholders, attributable to meeting attendance fee(s), divided by the last closing price of the Corporation's Common 
Stock (as reported for the New York State Exchange-Composite transactions) prior to the date such dividend is payable to stockholders. After 
payment of deferred Compensation commences, dividend equivalents shall accrue on the unpaid balance thereof in the same manner until all 
such deferred Compensation has been paid.  

C. In the event of a dividend of Common Stock declared and paid by the Corporation, an additional credit shall be made to the Director's stock 
unit account of a number of stock units equal to the number of shares of the Corporation's Common Stock which the Director would have 
received as a stock dividend had he or she been the owner on the record date for the payment of such stock dividend of the number of shares of 
Common Stock equal to the number of units in such stock unit account on such date. After payment of deferred Compensation commences, 
additional credits for stock dividends shall accrue on the unpaid balance thereof in the same manner until all such deferred Compensation has 
been paid.  

D. Notwithstanding and in lieu of the foregoing, in the case of the dividend distribution by the Corporation of the Consumer Products Common 
Stock in the Spin-Off, a new stock unit and cash account (the Special Account) will be established for each Director (in addition to any existing 
stock unit account) which will be credited with a number of units representing Consumer Products Common Stock equal to the number of stock 
units in such Director's account immediately prior to the Spin-Off. From and after the Spin-Off, the Corporation will credit the Special Account 
with amount(s) denominated in cash, representing all dividends paid by Consumer Products on the Consumer Products Common Stock, 
whether paid in cash, Consumer Products Common Stock, other stock or property, in an amount equal to the amount of such dividend per share 
of Consumer Products Common Stock (or the fair market value on the date of payment of dividends paid in stock or property) multiplied by the 
aggregate number of stock units credited to such Director's Special Account on the record date for payment of such dividend. The amount 
credited as cash shall thereafter accrue interest in accordance with Section 4A. A Director may convert the stock unit portion of the Special 
Account into an account in the form of cash by using the notice procedures in Section 3C without regard to the six months restriction set forth 
in the proviso thereto (it being understood that the closing price of the Consumer Products Common Stock, instead of Corporation Common 
Stock, will be used for such conversion).  
Section 3C may not, however, be used to convert a cash account into additional units of Consumer Products Common Stock in the Special 
Account.  
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5. ACCOUNTING.  

No fund or escrow deposit shall be established by any deferred Compensation payable pursuant to this Plan, and the obligation to pay deferred 
Compensation hereunder shall be a general unsecured obligation of the Corporation, payable out of its general account, and deferred 
Compensation shall accrue to the general account of the Corporation. However, the Controller of the Corporation shall maintain an account and 
properly credit Compensation to each such account, and keep a record of all sums which each participating Director has elected to have paid as 
deferred Compensation and of interest or dividend equivalents accrued thereon. Within sixty (60) days after the close of each calendar year the 
Controller shall furnish each Director who has participated in the Plan a statement of all sums and stock units, including interest and dividend 
equivalents, which have accrued to the account of such Director as of the end of such calendar year.  

6. PAYMENT FROM DIRECTORS' ACCOUNTS.  

A. After a Director ceases to be a director of the Corporation, the aggregate amount of deferred compensation credited to a Director's account, 
either in the form of cash or stock units, together with interest or dividend equivalents accrued thereon, shall be paid in a lump sum or, if the 
Director elects, in substantially equal quarterly, semi-annual, or annual installments over a period of years, not greater than ten (10), specified 
by the Director. Such election must be made by written notice delivered to the Secretary of the Corporation prior to December 31 of the year 
preceding the year in which, and at least six months prior to the date on which, the Director ceases to be a director. The first installment (or the 
lump sum payment) shall be made promptly following the date on which the Director ceases to be a Director of the Corporation, and any 
subsequent installments shall be paid promptly at the beginning of each succeeding specified period until the entire amount credited to the 
Director's account shall have been paid. To the extent installment payments are elected, and the Director's account consists of cash as well as 
stock units, a pro rata portion of the cash, and the cash equivalent of a pro rata portion of the stock units, shall be paid with each installment. If 
the participating Director dies before receiving the balance of his or her deferred compensation account, then payment shall be made in a lump 
sum to any beneficiary or beneficiaries which may be designated, as provided in paragraph B of this Section 6, or in the absence of such 
designation, or, in the event that the beneficiary designated by such Director shall have predeceased such Director, to such Director's estate.  

B. Each Director who elects to participate in this Plan may file with the Secretary of the Corporation a notice in writing designating one or 
more beneficiaries to whom payment shall be made in the event of such Director's  
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death prior to receiving payment of any or all of the deferred Compensation hereunder.  

C. If the Director has elected to defer Compensation in the form of cash, the Corporation shall distribute a sum in cash to such Director, 
pursuant to his or her election provided for in paragraph A of this  
Section 6. If the Director has elected to defer Compensation in the form of stock units, the Corporation shall distribute to such Director, 
pursuant to his or her election provided for in paragraph A of this  
Section 6, the cash equivalent of the portion of the stock units being distributed in such installment which will be calculated by multiplying  
(i) the average of the month-end closing prices of the Corporation's Common Stock (or Consumer Products Common Stock, in the case of stock 
units in the Special Account) for the last 12 months preceding the date of each distribution, as reported for the New York Stock Exchange-
Composite Transactions, by (ii) the number of stock units being distributed in such installment.  

7. CHANGE OF CONTROL OR CHANGE IN CAPITALIZATION.  

A. If a tender offer or exchange offer for shares of Common Stock of the Corporation (other than such an offer by the Corporation) is 
commenced, or if the stockholders of the Corporation shall approve an agreement providing either for a transaction in which the Corporation 
will cease to be an independent publicly owned corporation or for a sale or other disposition of all or substantially all the assets of the 
Corporation (Change of Control), a lump sum cash payment shall be made to each Director participating in the Plan of the aggregate current 
balance of his or her deferred compensation account accrued to the Director's deferred compensation account on the date of the Change of 
Control, notwithstanding any other provision herein. If the Director has elected to defer Compensation in the form of stock units, the 
Corporation shall distribute to such Director the sum in cash equal to the closing price of the Corporation's Common Stock on the day 
preceding the date of the Change of Control (as reported for the New York Stock Exchange-Composite Transactions) multiplied by the number 
of stock units in such account. Any notice by a Director to change or terminate his or her election to defer Compensation or before the date of 
the Change of Control shall be effective as of the date of the Change of Control, notwithstanding any other provision herein.  

B. Any recapitalization, reclassification, split up, sale of assets, combination or merger not otherwise provided for herein which affects the 
outstanding shares of Common Stock of the Corporation (or the stock subject to the Special Account) or any other relevant change in the 
capitalization of the Corporation (or, in the case of the Special Account, Consumer Products) shall be appropriately adjusted for by the Board 
of Directors of this Corporation, and any such adjustments shall be final, conclusive and binding.  
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8. NONALIENATION OF BENEFITS.  

No right or benefit under this Plan shall be subject to anticipation, alienation, sale, assignment, pledge, encumbrance or charge, and any attempt 
to alienate, sell, assign, pledge, encumber or charge the same shall be void. To the extent permitted by law, no right or benefit hereunder shall 
in any manner be attachable for or otherwise available to satisfy the debts, contracts, liabilities or torts of the person entitled to such right or 
benefit.  

9. APPLICABLE LAW.  

The Plan will be construed and enforced according to the laws of the State of Delaware; provided that the obligations of the Corporation shall 
be subject to any applicable law relating to the property interests of the survivors of a deceased person and to any limitations on the power of 
the person to dispose of his or her interest in the deferred Compensation.  

10. AMENDMENT OR TERMINATION OF PLAN.  

The Board of Directors of the Corporation may amend or terminate this Plan at any time, provided, however, any amendment or termination of 
this Plan shall not affect the rights of participating Directors or beneficiaries to payments, in accordance with Section 6 or 7, of amounts 
accrued to the credit of such Directors or beneficiaries at the time of such amendment or termination.  
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EXHIBIT 21  

VIAD CORP  
(DELAWARE)  

 
Active Subsidiaries and Affiliates as of February 1, 2003  

CONVENTION AND EVENT SERVICES GROUP  

EXG, Inc. (Delaware)  
Giltspur Exhibits of Canada, Inc. (Ontario) GES Exposition Services (Canada) Limited (Canada) Exposervice Standard Inc. (Canada)  
Clarkson-Conway Inc. (Canada)  
Stampede Display and Convention Services Ltd. (Alberta)  
GES EXPOSITION SERVICES, INC. (Nevada)  
ESR Exposition Service, Inc. (New Jersey) Expo Accessories, Inc. (New York)  
Expo Display & Design, Inc. (New Jersey) Shows Unlimited, Inc. (Nevada)  
Tradeshow Convention Services Inc. (Washington) David H. Gibson Company, Inc. (Texas)  
Viad Holding GmbH (Germany)  
Exhibitgroup/Giltspur France S.A.R.L. (France) Voblo Verwaltungs GmbH (Germany) (80%)  

CORPORATE AND OTHER  

Viad Service Companies Limited (United Kingdom) VREC, Inc. (Delaware)  

PAYMENT SERVICES GROUP  

TRAVELERS EXPRESS COMPANY, INC. (Minnesota)  
CAG Inc. (Nevada)  
Hematite Trust (Delaware)  
Monazite Trust (Delaware)  
Rhyolite Trust (Delaware)  
FSMC, Inc. (Minnesota)  
Game Financial Corporation (Minnesota) GameCash, Inc. (Minnesota)  
Game Financial Corporation of Wisconsin (Wisconsin) MLE, Inc. (Wisconsin)  
MoneyGram Payment Systems, Inc. (Delaware) Mid-America Money Order Company (Kentucky) MoneyGram International Holdings Limited 
(United Kingdom) MoneyGram International Limited (United Kingdom) MoneyGram of New York LLC (Delaware)  
MoneyGram Payment Systems Canada, Inc. (Ontario) Travelers Express Co. (P.R.) Inc. (Puerto Rico)  

TRAVEL AND RECREATION SERVICES GROUP  

Glacier Park, Inc. (Arizona) (80%)  
Waterton Transport Company, Limited (Alberta) Greyhound Canada Holdings, Inc. (Alberta)~~ Brewster Tours Inc. (Canada)  
BREWSTER TRANSPORT COMPANY LIMITED (Alberta)  
859371 Alberta Ltd. (Alberta)  
Brewster Inc. (Alberta)  
CANFINCO LLC (Delaware)  

~~ Indicates a Corporate and Other Subsidiary  

*Parent-subsidiary or affiliate relationships are shown by marginal indentation. State, province or country of incorporation and ownership 
percentage are shown in parentheses following name, except that no ownership percentage appears for subsidiaries owned 100% (in the 
aggregate) by Viad Corp.  



EXHIBIT 23  

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' CONSENT  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos.33-54465, and 33-55360 on Form S-3 and Nos. 333-63397, 333-
35231, and 333-99239 on Form S-8 of Viad Corp, of our report dated February 7, 2003 (which expresses an unqualified opinion and includes 
an explanatory paragraph relating to the adoption of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 described in Note 7), appearing in 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Viad Corp for the year ended December 31, 2002.  

 

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP 
 
Phoenix, Arizona 
 
February 27, 2003 



EXHIBIT 24  

POWER OF ATTORNEY  

KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each director whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Robert H. Bohannon 
and Ellen M. Ingersoll, and each of them severally, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full power of substitution and 
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign the Form 10-K Annual Report of Viad 
Corp for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, and any and all amendments thereto, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other 
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents, and each of 
them, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the premises, as 
fully to all intents and purposes as he or she might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and 
agents or either of them, or their or his or her substitutes or substitute, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.  

 

     /s/ Jess Hay                                        February 20, 2003 
---------------------------------- 
Jess Hay 
 
     /s/ Judith K. Hofer                                 February 20, 2003 
---------------------------------- 
Judith K. Hofer 
 
     /s/ Donald E. Kiernan                               February 20, 2003 
---------------------------------- 
Donald E. Kiernan 
 
     /s/ Robert C. Krueger                               February 20, 2003 
---------------------------------- 
Robert C. Krueger 
 
     /s/ Jack F. Reichert                                February 20, 2003 
---------------------------------- 
Jack F. Reichert 
 
     /s/ Linda Johnson Rice                              February 20, 2003 
---------------------------------- 
Linda Johnson Rice 
 
     /s/ Douglas L. Rock                                 February 20, 2003 
---------------------------------- 
Douglas L. Rock 
 
     /s/ Timothy R. Wallace                              February 20, 2003 
---------------------------------- 
Timothy R. Wallace 


